Evaluation of metabolic and cardiovascular actions of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus

by

Petra Sulentic

St Catharine's College

Experimental Medicine and Immunotherapeutics

Research supervisor: Prof. Anthony P. Davenport

June 2022

This dissertation is submitted for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy



Declaration

I declare that this dissertation is the result of my own work and includes nothing which is the outcome of work done in collaboration except where specifically indicated in the text.

The work described here has not been submitted previously for any degree, diploma or other qualification at the University of Cambridge or any other University or similar institution.

The length of this dissertation does not exceed 60,000 words.

Abstract

Name: Dr Petra Sulentic

Thesis title: Evaluation of metabolic and cardiovascular actions of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is common, long term metabolic disorder characterised by hyperglycaemia (high blood glucose) resulting from insulin resistance (IR) and insulin insufficiency. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and related complications present a significant cause of morbidity and mortality and there is an urgent need to identify novel pathways that may ultimately lead to the development of new therapies to improve blood glucose control and prevent development of diabetic complications. Apelin is a naturally occurring peptide investigated in animal models and humans showing beneficial cardiovascular and metabolic properties. Apelin reduces peripheral vascular resistance (PVR) and increases cardiac index (CI) in healthy volunteers and heart failure patients, and also increases insulin sensitivity in overweight participants. Besides health risks connected to hyperglycaemia, T2DM patients have increased cardiovascular risk, therefore modulation of the apelin signalling pathway may provide a novel cardiometabolic therapeutic approach. Systemic studies were planned to investigate the effects of prolonged intravenous apelin infusions on CI, blood glucose and IR for the first time in patients with T2DM, following hypothesis that apelin would induce beneficial cardiovascular and metabolic effects in that patient group. Firstly, the tolerability and safety of apelin in increasing doses were tested in a pilot study including healthy volunteers. Subsequently, eighteen participants with increased body mass index (BMI) 25-34.9 kg/m² who served as a model of IR and nine T2DM patients underwent a series of randomised, double blind, saline controlled, prolonged infusion studies. [Pyr1]apelin-13 was infused systemically for two hours with measurements of cardiovascular and metabolic parameters. Results showed that in participants with increased BMI, compared to saline control, [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in dose 30 nmol/min caused a significant rise in CI and stroke volume index (SVI), whilst reducing peripheral vascular resistance (PVR) and mean arterial pressure (MAP). After a mixed meal, [Pyr1]apelin-13 also significantly reduced plasma C peptide without inducing significant changes in glucose or insulin plasma level. In patients with T2DM, [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in the equivalent [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose of 30 nmol/min and compared to saline control, also increased SVI and CI and reduced PVR without affecting MAP and levels of insulin, glucose or C-peptide. In T2DM group a possible delay in gastric emptying was observed, representing a novel finding in this condition and requiring further investigations. In summary, following these pilot studies results, there is a reason to believe that patients with T2DM have the potential to benefit from apelin mediated vasodilation, increased CI and better glucose homeostasis combined with possible delay in gastric emptying. Therefore, targeting apelin signalling represents novel pathways yet to be explored and developed therapeutically with further studies required to investigate those effects.

Table of Contents

I. Acknowledgements	XI
II. Publications	XII
III. Presentations	XII
IV. Abbreviations	XIII
V. List of Figures and Tables	XVI
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Background	2
1.2 Type 2 diabetes mellitus	3
1.2.1 Insulin and insulin resistance	4
1.2.1.1 Clinical evaluation of insulin resistance	4
1.2.1.2 Pathophysiology of IR and T2DM	4
1.2.2 T2DM – complications and outcomes	6
1.3 Study peptide – [Pyr1]apelin-13	6
1.3.1 Biology of the apelinergic system	6
1.3.1.1 Apelin receptor	6
1.3.1.2 Apelin	7
1.3.1.3 Proteolytic apelin peptide degradation	8
1.3.1.3.1 Endogenous proteases	8
1.3.1.3.2 Apelin half-life	8
1.3.1.4 Tissue distribution of the apelinergic system	9
1.3.1.5 Physiological functions of apelin	9
1.3.1.6 Signalling in the apelinergic system	11
1.3.2 Apelin studies in cardiometabolic disease	13
1.3.2.1 Apelin studies in cardiovascular disease	13
1.3.2.1.1 Preclinical cardiovascular apelin studies	13

1.3.2.1.2 Clinical cardiovascular apelin studies14
1.3.2.2 Apelin studies in metabolic disease14
1.3.2.2.1 Preclinical metabolic apelin studies14
1.3.2.2.2 Clinical metabolic apelin studies16
1.3.2.2.2.1 Interventional metabolic apelin studies
1.3.2.2.2 Non-Interventional metabolic apelin studies18
1.3.2.2.2.1 Apelin as diabetes prediction biomarker in molecular studies
1.3.2.2.2.2 Observational studies – Apelin serum levels in T2DM and obesity
1.3.3 Role of apelin in diabetes complications22
1.3.3.1 Diabetic cardiomyopathy23
1.3.3.2 Diabetic retinopathy25
1.3.3.3 Diabetic nephropathy
1.3.3.4 Diabetic neuropathy
1.4 Clinical use of apelin agonists and antagonists
1.5 ELA – second endogenous ligand activating APLNR
1.6 Rationale and overarching study hypotheses and aims
1.6.1 Rationale for studies
1.6.2 General study hypotheses
1.6.3 General study aims
Chapter 2: Methods40
2.1 Study design41
2.1.1 Ethical and regulatory considerations41
2.1.2 Outline of study design41
2.1.2.1 DEFINE Study 1 – Dose ranging, open label pilot study to investigate [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 safety and tolerability in healthy participants41
2.1.2.2 DEFINE Studies 2 and 3 – Systemic, randomized, double blind studies in participants with increased body mass index (BMI) and Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM)42
2.1.3 Methods of blinding and emergency unblinding43

2.1.4 Study stopping criteria	43
2.2. Study participants	43
2.2.1 Participants recruitment	43
2.2.2 Inclusion, exclusion criteria and participants study restrictions	43
2.2.2.1 Inclusion Criteria	43
2.2.2.2 Exclusion Criteria	44
2.2.3 Participant study duration	44
2.2.4 Participant withdrawal criteria and completion of the study	44
2.3 Study treatment	45
2.3.1 Route of study treatment administration	45
2.3.2 [Pyr1]apelin-13	45
2.3.3 Normal saline	46
2.4 Study procedures and assessments	46
2.4.1 Participant identification, information sheet and consent form	46
2.4.2 Schedule of assessments	47
2.4.2.1 Screening visit assessments	47
2.4.2.2 Dosing visits assessments	47
2.4.3 Description of study related procedures and assessments	49
2.4.3.1 Anthropometric measurements	49
2.4.3.2 Venous samples for blood analysis	50
2.4.3.3 Point of care (POC) capillary blood glucose monitoring	50
2.4.3.4 Urine pregnancy test	50
2.4.3.5 Mixed Meal Tolerance Test (MMTT)	51
2.4.3.6 Infusion	51
2.4.3.7 Cardiovascular measurements and recordings	52
2.4.3.7.1 ECG measurements	52
2.4.3.7.2 Cardiac telemetry	52
2.4.3.7.3 Vital signs (blood pressure and heart rate)	52

2.4.3.7.4 Non-invasive measurement of cardiac output (CO)	53
2.4.3.7.4.1 Gas rebreathing method – Innocor [®]	54
2.4.3.7.4.2 Bioreactance-based noninvasive CO measurement	55
2.5 Assessment of safety	57
2.6 Data handling	57
2.7 Statistical analyses	57
2.7.1 Sample size	57
2.7.1.1 Study 1	57
2.7.1.2 Study 2	57
2.7.1.3 Study 3	58
2.7.2 Data analysis	58
2.8 Supervision and collaboration	58
Chapter 3: Study 1 – Pilot, open label, dose ranging study	to
investigate safety and tolerability of increasing	
doses of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers	59
doses of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers	59
doses of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers 3.1 Background 3.1.1 Safety and tolerability of infused apelin peptide in clinical studies	59 60 60
doses of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers 3.1 Background 3.1.1 Safety and tolerability of infused apelin peptide in clinical studies 3.1.2 Study 1 dose testing approach	59 60 60 60
doses of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers 3.1 Background 3.1.1 Safety and tolerability of infused apelin peptide in clinical studies 3.1.2 Study 1 dose testing approach 3.2 Study aims, objectives and endpoints	59 60 60 60 61
doses of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers 3.1 Background 3.1.1 Safety and tolerability of infused apelin peptide in clinical studies 3.1.2 Study 1 dose testing approach 3.2 Study aims, objectives and endpoints 3.2.1 Study aims	
doses of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers 3.1 Background 3.1.1 Safety and tolerability of infused apelin peptide in clinical studies 3.1.2 Study 1 dose testing approach 3.2 Study aims, objectives and endpoints 3.2.1 Study aims 3.2.2 Study objectives	
doses of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers 3.1 Background 3.1.1 Safety and tolerability of infused apelin peptide in clinical studies 3.1.2 Study 1 dose testing approach 3.2 Study aims, objectives and endpoints 3.2.1 Study aims 3.2.2 Study objectives 3.2.3 Study endpoints	
doses of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers 3.1 Background 3.1.1 Safety and tolerability of infused apelin peptide in clinical studies 3.1.2 Study 1 dose testing approach 3.2 Study aims, objectives and endpoints 3.2.1 Study aims 3.2.2 Study objectives	
doses of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers 3.1 Background 3.1.1 Safety and tolerability of infused apelin peptide in clinical studies 3.1.2 Study 1 dose testing approach 3.2 Study aims, objectives and endpoints 3.2.1 Study aims 3.2.2 Study objectives 3.2.3 Study endpoints 3.3 Study hypothesis 3.4 Methods	
doses of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers 3.1 Background 3.1.1 Safety and tolerability of infused apelin peptide in clinical studies 3.1.2 Study 1 dose testing approach 3.2 Study aims, objectives and endpoints 3.2.1 Study aims 3.2.2 Study objectives 3.2.3 Study endpoints 3.3 Study hypothesis 3.4 Methods 3.5 Data Analysis	
doses of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers 3.1 Background 3.1.1 Safety and tolerability of infused apelin peptide in clinical studies 3.1.2 Study 1 dose testing approach 3.2 Study aims, objectives and endpoints 3.2.1 Study aims 3.2.2 Study objectives 3.2.3 Study endpoints 3.3 Study endpoints 3.4 Methods 3.5 Data Analysis 3.6 Study 1 results	
doses of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers 3.1 Background 3.1.1 Safety and tolerability of infused apelin peptide in clinical studies 3.1.2 Study 1 dose testing approach 3.2 Study aims, objectives and endpoints 3.2.1 Study aims 3.2.2 Study objectives 3.2.3 Study endpoints 3.3 Study hypothesis 3.4 Methods 3.5 Data Analysis 3.6 Study 1 results 3.6.1 Subjects characteristics	

3.6.2.1 Tolerability of [Pyr1]apelin-13 infusions in increasing doses
3.6.2.2 Safety of [Pyr1]apelin-13 infusions in increasing doses
3.6.3 Cardiovascular and metabolic measurements results
3.7 Study limitations
3.8 Discussion73
Chapter 4: Study 2 – In vivo cardiovascular and metabolic
assessment of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 prolonged
infusions in participants with increased BMI76
4.1 Background
4.2 Study aims, objectives and endpoints
4.2.1 Study aims
4.2.2 Study objectives
4.2.3 Study endpoints
4.3 Study hypothesis79
4.4 Methods79
4.5 Data analysis82
4.6 Study 2 results
4.6.1 Subjects characteristics
4.6.2 Cardiovascular and metabolic study results85
4.6.2.1 Cardiovascular effects of 2-hour [Pyr1]apelin-13 infusion in participants with increased BMI
4.6.2.1.1 Changes in cardiovascular parameters after two hours of 30 nmol/min [Pyr ¹]apelin- 13 infusion in participants with increased BMI (group A)85
4.6.2.1.2 Changes in cardiovascular parameters after two hours of 135 nmol/min [Pyr1]apelin-13 infusion in participants with increased BMI (Group B)
4.6.2.2 Metabolic effects of 2-hour [Pyr1]apelin-13 infusion in increased BMI participants .101
4.6.2.2.1 Changes in metabolic parameters after two hours of 30 nmol/min [Pyr1]apelin-13 infusion in participants with increased BMI (group A)

4.6.2.2.2 Changes in metabolic parameters after two hours of 135 nmol/min [Pyr1]	apelin-13
infusion in participants with increased BMI (Group B).	106
4.6.3 Safety and tolerability study results	111
4.7 Discussion	112
4.7.1 Safety and tolerability at [Pyr1]apelin-13 dose 30 and 135 nmol/min	112
4.7.2 Cardiovascular and metabolic effects of [Pyr1]apelin at dose 30 nmol/min	112
4.7.3 Cardiovascular and metabolic effects of [Pyr1]apelin at dose 135 nmol/min	114
4.8 Study limitations	115
4.9 Study conclusion	115
Chapter 5: Study 3 – First in man study investigating	
cardiovascular and metabolic effects of	
prolonged infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in	
patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus	116
5.1 Background	117
5.2 Study aims, objectives and endpoints	118
5.2.1 Study aims	118
5.2.2 Study objectives	118
5.2.3 Study endpoints	118
5.3 Study hypothesis	119
5.4 Methods	119
5.5 Data analyses	120
5.6 Study 3 results	121
5.6.1 Subjects characteristics	121
5.6.2 Cardiovascular effects of 2-hour [Pyr1]apelin-13 infusion in T2DM patients	125
5.6.3 Metabolic effects of 2-hour [Pyr1]apelin-13 infusion in T2DM patients	133
5.6.4 Safety and tolerability study results	138
5.7 Discussion	139
5.7.1 Safety/Tolerability of [Pyr1]apelin-13 in T2DM patients	139

5.7.2 Cardiovascular effects of [Pyr1]apelin-13 at dose 30 nmol/min in T2DM patients	.139
5.7.3 Metabolic effects of [Pyr1]apelin-13 at dose 30 nmol/min in T2DM patients	.140
5.8 Study limitation	.142
5.9 Study conclusion	.142
Chapter 6: Thesis conclusions and future directions	143
6.1 Thesis conclusions	.144
6.2 Future directions towards establishing apelin/APLNR therapeutic potential in T2DM	
patients	.146
References	149
Appendices	174
Appendix 1 – Abstracts	.174
Appendix 2 – Meetings attended	.174
Appendix 3 – Posters	.175
Appendix 4 – Courses attended	.175

I. Acknowledgements

There are many people I would like to say a special thanks to for their help and support, without whom the work presented in this thesis would not have been possible.

Firstly, I would like to thank Professor Anthony Davenport for supervising me. It has not always been easy, but we made it. Thanks to Professor Ian Wilkinson and Dr Joseph Cheriyan for their guidance and knowledge. There were many fun times which made all the study work more enjoyable. Special thanks go to my AstraZeneca industrial supervisor Dr Philip Ambery, to whom I am very grateful for helping me finding a path towards my next career step.

I would also like to thank Dr Janet Maguire and Dr Carmel McEniery or their advice and technical assistance in the many practical challenges faced during the studies.

I am extremely grateful to my dear colleague and a friend Dr Kaisa Mäki-Petäjä who helped me with her consistent and reliable advice and support throughout and to Mrs Annette Hubsch for her invaluable support, calmness and company during our lengthy studies. I would also like to thank my fellow PhD students Duuamene Nyimanu and Nicola Owen who honestly shared their experiences whilst on a path of their own PhD work.

Many thanks to the nurses in the EMI department Evangelia Vamvaka and Fotini Kaloyirou who often stayed on longer than expected so that the studies would be completed. Very special thanks are extended to my volunteers for their valuable contribution to these studies and to all the kind nursing staff employed at CCRC Unit. In addition, without Mrs Lutchmee Appanah none of this would have been possible, as these studies required lots of time and space which required careful planning. Finally, I am enormously grateful to Dr Fraser Allen and Mrs Jane Kennet for their help in recruiting Type 2 Diabetes patients, which was proven to be a challenging task.

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my loving husband Jon and to my son Borna, who had a little bit less of me, but I will make it up to them. My Mother and Father as always provided their unconditional support and love, especially during these unprecedented Covid-19 times. Thanks to Nina, Branko, Brankica, Jaksa, Gabi and Ana. I never have any doubts in your genuine support.

This study was supported by the British Heart Foundation and AstraZeneca.

II. Publications

Jia, R., Sulentic, P., Xu, J.-M., & Grossman, A. B. (2017). Thymic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: Biological Behaviour and Therapy. Neuroendocrinology, 105(2), 105–114. https://doi.org/10.1159/000472255

Nyimanu, D., Kay, R. G., Sulentic, P., Kuc, R. E., Ambery, P., Jermutus, L., Reimann, F., Gribble, F. M., Cheriyan, J., Maguire, J. J., & Davenport, A. P. (2019). Development and validation of an LC-MS/MS method for detection and quantification of in vivo derived metabolites of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in humans. Scientific Reports, 9(1), 19934. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-56157-9

Read, C., Nyimanu, D., Williams, T. L., Huggins, D. J., Sulentic, P., Macrae, R. G. C., Yang, P., Glen, R. C., Maguire, J. J., & Davenport, A. P. (2019). International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. CVII. Structure and Pharmacology of the Apelin Receptor with a Recommendation that Elabela/Toddler Is a Second Endogenous Peptide Ligand. Pharmacological Reviews, 71(4), 467–502. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.119.017533

III. Presentations

Vascular research clinics (VRC) seminar	March 2017
VRC Research day	March 2018
Cambridge MedImmune PhD Programme in Biomedical Research	July 2018
AstraZeneca & University of Cambridge symposium	November 2020

IV. Abbreviations

AT	Adipose Tissue
AE	Adverse Event
α -cells	Alpha Cells
AMPK	AMP-Activated Protein Kinase
ACE2	Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2
Ang II	Angiotensin II
APLNR	Apelin Receptor
APLN	Apelin Gene
β -cells	Beta Cells
BP	Blood Pressure
BMI	Body Mass Index
BSA	Body Surface Area
BPS	British Pharmacology Society
CUH	Cambridge University Hospital
CI	Cardiac Index
СО	Cardiac Output
CV	Cardiovascular
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
CNS	Central Nervous System
CKD	Chronic Kidney Disease
CAD	Coronary Artery Disease
cAMP	Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate
DNL	De Novo Lypogenesis
DCM	Diabetic Cardiomyopathy
DN	Diabetic Nephropathy
DPN	Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy

DBP	Diastolic Blood Pressure
ECG	Electrocardiogram
eNOS	Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase
ERK1/2	Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase 1/2
ET-1	Endothelin 1
FBF	Forearm Blood Flow
FFAs	Free Fatty Acids
FBC	Full Blood Count
GI	Gastrointestinal
GFAP	Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein
GFB	Glomerular Filtration Barrier
GLP-1	Glucagon-like Peptide 1
GPCR	G-Protein-Coupled Receptor
GCP	Good Clinical Practice
HF	Heart Failure
HR	Heart Rate
ICF	Informed Consent Form
IGT	Impaired Glucose Tolerance
IVGTT	Intravenous Glucose Tolerance Test
IR	Insulin Resistance
KD	Knockdown
LV	Left Ventricle
MAP	Mean Arterial Pressure
mmol/L	Millimoles Per Litre
mins	Minutes
MM	Mixed Meal
MMTT	Mixed Meal Tolerance Test
NO	Nitric Oxide

PDR	Proliferative Diabetic Retinopathy
PIS	Participant Information Sheet
PVR	Peripheral Vascular Resistance
PI3	Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase
POC	Point Of Care
RPE	Retinal Pigment Epithelial
SAE	Serious Adverse Event
SAR	Severe Adverse Reaction
SE	Side Effects
SV	Stroke Volume
SVI	Stroke Volume Index
SF_6	Sulphur Hexafluoride
SBP	Systolic Blood Pressure
TG	Triglycerides
T1DM	Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus
T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
VRC	Vascular Research Clinics
V1	Screening Visit
V2–V5	Dosing Visit 2–5
V6	Phone Call Follow Up Visit
WHO	World Health Organisation

V. List of Figures and Tables

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Figure 1.1 Pathophysiology of T2DM; triad of β -cell dysfunction, tissue insulin	
resistance and hepatic gluconeogenesis leading to hyperglycaemia	5
Figure 1.2 Apelin	7
Figure 1.3 Physiological actions of the apelinergic system in various organs	10
Figure 1.4 Apelin receptor activation is producing metabolic and cardiovascular effects mediated by different signalling canonical pathway	12
Figure 1.5 Summary of the beneficial cardio-metabolic effects of apelin in preclinical research	15
Figure 1.6 The role of apelin in the pathophysiology of diabetic cardiomyopathy	23
Figure 1.7 Changes of the kidney function in diabetic nephropathy	29
Table 1.1 Summary of clinical apelin effects in range of doses in forearm blood flow and systemic studies in distinctive participants groups	17
Table 1.2 Molecular and observational research studying the role of apelin asa potential biomarker under various clinical circumstances (diabetes,obesity, response to pharmacological and life-style measures)	20
Table 1.3 Observational studies measuring baseline apelin levels in Type 1 andType 2 diabetes patients	21
Table 1.4 Overview of some preclinical studies demonstrating protective apelin effects in DCM pathophysiology	25
Table 1.5 Angiogenic and profibrotic apelin effects contributing to the development of proliferative diabetic retinopathy	27
Table 1.6 Clinical studies investigating serum levels of apelin and VEGF inT2DM patients with or without DR	28
Table 1.7 Clinical research in T2DM patients studying connection between apelinergic system and kidney function	31
Table 1.8 Preclinical studies in T2DM mice model and cultured podocytes suggesting the role of apelin in promoting diabetic nephropathy and albuminuria	33
Table 1.9 Preclinical studies in T1DM and T2DM mice model suggesting Apelin-13 to be protective of diabetic nephropathy development	34

Table 1.10 Overview of human studies investigating connection of apelin and	
diabetic peripheral neuropathy	35
Chapter 2: Methods	. 40
Figure 2.1 Schematic representation of Studies 2 and 3 involving participants with increased BMI and T2DM	42
Figure 2.2 Alaris GH syringe pump was used in all studies for intravenous infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 peptide or placebo	45
Figure 2.3 Summary of study screening and dosing visit assessments	48
Figure 2.4 Demonstration of the study setting	48
Figure 2.5 Tanita scale	49
Figure 2.6 Fortisip compact used as a mixed meal challenge in Studies 2 and 3	51
Figure 2.7 Figure shows automated heart pressure and heart rate Omron device	52
Figure 2.8 Figure shows methods used for non-invasive measurements of cardiac output.	55
Chapter 3: Study 1 – Pilot, open label, dose ranging study to investigate	
safety and tolerability of increasing doses of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in	
safety and tolerability of increasing doses of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers	. 59
safety and tolerability of increasing doses of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers Figure 3.1 Study 1 protocol	. 59 63
 safety and tolerability of increasing doses of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers Figure 3.1 Study 1 protocol. Figure 3.2 Schedule of assessments in dosing visits for Study 1. 	. 59 63 64
 safety and tolerability of increasing doses of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers Figure 3.1 Study 1 protocol. Figure 3.2 Schedule of assessments in dosing visits for Study 1. Table 3.1 Baseline demographic, cardiovascular and metabolic characteristics of Study 1 participants 	. 59 63 64 66
 safety and tolerability of increasing doses of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers Figure 3.1 Study 1 protocol. Figure 3.2 Schedule of assessments in dosing visits for Study 1. Table 3.1 Baseline demographic, cardiovascular and metabolic characteristics of Study 1 participants Table 3.2 Reported adverse events (AEs) in Study 1. 	. 59 63 64 66 67
 safety and tolerability of increasing doses of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers Figure 3.1 Study 1 protocol. Figure 3.2 Schedule of assessments in dosing visits for Study 1. Table 3.1 Baseline demographic, cardiovascular and metabolic characteristics of Study 1 participants Table 3.2 Reported adverse events (AEs) in Study 1. Table 3.3 Study 1 dosing visit safety evaluation parameters (V2–5). 	63 64 66 67 68
 safety and tolerability of increasing doses of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers Figure 3.1 Study 1 protocol Figure 3.2 Schedule of assessments in dosing visits for Study 1 Table 3.1 Baseline demographic, cardiovascular and metabolic characteristics of Study 1 participants Table 3.2 Reported adverse events (AEs) in Study 1 Table 3.3 Study 1 dosing visit safety evaluation parameters (V2–5) Table 3.4 Study 1 dosing visit (V2-V5) cardiovascular parameters 	63 64 66 67 68 70
 safety and tolerability of increasing doses of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers Figure 3.1 Study 1 protocol. Figure 3.2 Schedule of assessments in dosing visits for Study 1. Table 3.1 Baseline demographic, cardiovascular and metabolic characteristics of Study 1 participants Table 3.2 Reported adverse events (AEs) in Study 1. Table 3.3 Study 1 dosing visit safety evaluation parameters (V2–5). Table 3.4 Study 1 dosing visit (V2-V5) cardiovascular parameters	63 64 66 67 68 70 71
 safety and tolerability of increasing doses of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers Figure 3.1 Study 1 protocol. Figure 3.2 Schedule of assessments in dosing visits for Study 1 Table 3.1 Baseline demographic, cardiovascular and metabolic characteristics of Study 1 participants Table 3.2 Reported adverse events (AEs) in Study 1 Table 3.3 Study 1 dosing visit safety evaluation parameters (V2–5) Table 3.4 Study 1 dosing visit (V2-V5) cardiovascular parameters Table 3.5 Study 1 dosing visit (V2-V5) metabolic parameters Table 3.6 Cardiovascular and metabolic effects of two-hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusions in Study 1 participants 	63 64 66 67 68 70 71
 safety and tolerability of increasing doses of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers Figure 3.1 Study 1 protocol. Figure 3.2 Schedule of assessments in dosing visits for Study 1 Table 3.1 Baseline demographic, cardiovascular and metabolic characteristics of Study 1 participants Table 3.2 Reported adverse events (AEs) in Study 1 Table 3.3 Study 1 dosing visit safety evaluation parameters (V2–5) Table 3.4 Study 1 dosing visit (V2-V5) cardiovascular parameters Table 3.5 Study 1 dosing visit (V2-V5) metabolic parameters Table 3.6 Cardiovascular and metabolic effects of two-hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusions in Study 1 participants Chapter 4: Study 2 – <i>In vivo</i> cardiovascular and metabolic assessment 	63 64 66 67 68 70 71
 safety and tolerability of increasing doses of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers Figure 3.1 Study 1 protocol. Figure 3.2 Schedule of assessments in dosing visits for Study 1 Table 3.1 Baseline demographic, cardiovascular and metabolic characteristics of Study 1 participants Table 3.2 Reported adverse events (AEs) in Study 1 Table 3.3 Study 1 dosing visit safety evaluation parameters (V2–5) Table 3.4 Study 1 dosing visit (V2-V5) cardiovascular parameters Table 3.5 Study 1 dosing visit (V2-V5) metabolic parameters Table 3.6 Cardiovascular and metabolic effects of two-hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusions in Study 1 participants Chapter 4: Study 2 – <i>In vivo</i> cardiovascular and metabolic assessment of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 prolonged infusions in participants with 	63 64 66 67 68 70 71

Figure 4.1 Protocol for Study 280
Figure 4.2 Schedule of assessments in dosing visits for Studies 2 and 3
Figure 4.3 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on stroke volume index (SVI) in participants with increased BMI
Figure 4.4 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on cardiac index (CI) in participants with increased BMI
Figure 4.5 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on heart rate (HR) in participants with increased BMI88
Figure 4.6 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on mean arterial pressure (MAP) in participants with increased BMI
Figure 4.7 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on systolic blood pressure (SBP) in participants with increased BMI
Figure 4.8 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on diastolic blood pressure (DBP) in participants with increased BMI
Figure 4.9 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on peripheral vascular resistance (PVR) in participants with increased BMI92
Figure 4.10 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on stroke volume index (SVI) in participants with increased BMI
Figure 4.11 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on cardiac index (CI) in participants with increased BMI95
Figure 4.12 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on heart rate (HR) in participants with increased BMI
Figure 4.13 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on mean arterial pressure (MAP) in participants with increased BMI

Figure 4.14 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr1]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared	
with 0.9 % saline control on systolic blood pressure (SBP) in participants	
with increased BMI	98
Figure 4.15 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr1]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared	
with 0.9 % saline control on diastolic blood pressure (DBP) in participants	
with increased BMI	99
Figure 4.16 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pvr1]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared	
with 0.9 % saline control on peripheral vascular resistance (PVR) in	
participants with increased BMI	100
Figure 4.17 Effect of two-bour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared	
with 0.9 % saline control on glucose in participants with increased BMI	102
Figure 4.19 Effect of two hour infusion of [Dyr1]anglin 12 (20 pmg]/min) compared	
with 0.0 % coline control on inculin in participants with increased RMI	102
with 0.9 % same control on insum in participants with increased bivit	103
Figure 4.19 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared	
with 0.9 % saline control on C peptide in participants with increased BMI	104
Figure 4.20 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr1]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared	
with 0.9 % saline control on glucose in participants with increased BMI	107
Figure 4.21 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr1]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared	
with 0.9 % saline control on insulin in participants with increased BMI	108
Figure 4.22 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr1]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared	
with 0.9 % saline control on C peptide in participants with increased BMI	109
Table 4.1 Inter-group comparison of demographic, biochemical and baseline	
cardiovascular variables in group A and B participants with increased BMI	83
Table 4.2 Comparison and concomitant mediactions in both groups of	
Study 2 participante	94
Study z participants	04
Table 4.3 Study 4 dosing visit (V4–5) metabolic parameters at [Pyr1]apelin-13	
dose 30 nmol/min and normal saline	105
Table 4.4 Study 4 dosing visit (V4-5) metabolic parameters at [Pyr1]apelin-13	
dose 135 nmol/min and normal saline	110
Table 4.5 Tolerability of [Pyr1]apelin-13 infusions at doses 30 and 135 nmol/min in	
participants with increased BMI	111

Chapter 5: Study 3 – First in man study investigating cardiovascular	
and metabolic effects of prolonged infusion of [Pyr1]apelin-13 in	
patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus	. 116
Figure 5.1 Protocol for Study 3	120
Figure 5.2 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr1]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with	
0.9 % saline control on stroke volume index (SVI) in T2DM patients	126
Figure 5.3 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr1]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with	
0.9 % saline control on cardiac index (CI) in T2DM patients	127
Figure 5.4 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on heart rate (HR) in T2DM patients	128
Figure 5.5 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on mean arterial pressure (MAP) in T2DM patients	129
Figure 5.6 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on systolic blood pressure (SBP) in T2DM patients	130
Figure 5.7 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on diastolic blood pressure (DBP) in T2DM patients	131
Figure 5.8 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on peripheral vascular resistance (PVR) in T2DM patients	132
Figure 5.9 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on glucose in T2DM patients	134
Figure 5.10 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on insulin in T2DM patients	135
Figure 5.11 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr ¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on C peptide in T2DM patients	136
Table 5.1 Inter-group comparison of demographic, biochemical and baselinecardiovascular variables in T2DM patients and Group A Study 2 participantsinfused with 30 nmol/min [Pyr1]apelin-13 dose	123
Table 5.2 Study 5 dosing visit (V4-5) metabolic parameters at [Pyr1]apelin-13 dose 30 nmol/min and normal saline	137
Table 5.3 Tolerability of [Pyr1]apelin-13 infusions in participants with Type 2 diabetes mellitus	138

Chapter 1:

Introduction

1.1 Background

Type 2 *diabetes mellitus* (T2DM) is a common, long term metabolic disorder characterised by hyperglycaemia (high blood glucose) resulting from insulin resistance (IR) and relative insulin insufficiency. The risk of developing IR and subsequently T2DM is increased by having excess body weight and also through a sedentary lifestyle. Uncontrolled diabetes can lead to the development of microvascular (diabetic nephropathy, neuropathy, and retinopathy), and macrovascular complications (coronary artery disease, peripheral arterial disease, stroke). As the onset of T2DM can be gradual, physical damage may have occurred prior to diagnosis (Harris *et al.*, 1992; Stolar 2010). While there are many treatments available for T2DM, diabetes related complications may still arise, leading to significant morbidity and mortality (Zheng *et al.*, 2017).

There is therefore an urgent need to identify novel signalling pathways that may contribute to the development of diabetes and related complications. The identification of these pathways may ultimately lead to the development of new therapies targeting better blood glucose control and subsequently preventing these complications.

Blood glucose concentration is closely regulated by the hormones glucagon and insulin secreted in pancreatic alpha (α) and beta (β) cells respectively. After a meal, insulin stimulates glucose uptake in muscle and adipose tissue (AT), as well as glucose storage in the liver (as a form of glycogen). In the fasted state, glucagon stimulates glucose release from stored liver glycogen via glycogenolysis. IR describes the condition at which more than the normal amount of insulin is required for a normal physiological response to glucose increase. In addition to IR being the main underlying disorder in T2DM pathophysiology, it has been independently recognized as a well-established risk factor for cardiovascular (CV) diseases; ranging from atherosclerosis to heart failure, and has therefore been the focus of therapeutic intervention (Patel *et al.*, 2016; Balkau *et al.*, 1999). Under normal metabolic conditions insulin stimulates microvascular perfusion of skeletal muscle and subcutaneous AT and thus increases blood flow, mainly after a meal or physical exercise. That helps not only the delivery of insulin itself, but also of nutrient substrates to multiple tissues beds. This effect is impaired in IR and T2DM (Lambadiari *et al.*, 2015).

Historically, insulin was considered the most important peptide hormone in the pathogenesis (development) of diabetes, but today the role of other peptide hormones, such as glucagonlike peptide 1 (GLP-1) and glucagon is becoming well recognised not only in maintaining euglycemia, but also in maintaining blood flow and tissue perfusion (Lim DM *et al.*, 2017; Asmar *et al.*, 2017). This highlights the potential of targeting novel pathways in the treatment of T2DM and its associated CV complications. The vascular system controls the delivery of nutrients and hormones to muscle, and evidence is mounting which links poor blood flow in T2DM and the development of CV disease.

Apelin has been highlighted in animal and human studies as a naturally occurring peptide which inhibits insulin secretion, increases insulin sensitivity, decreases glucose levels and has a role in the pathogenesis of diabetes complications. In addition, apelin increases heart contractility by strengthening the force of heartbeat (positive inotropic actions) and causes widening of blood vessels (act as vasodilator) in the human CV system, which could have beneficial effects in the states of IR and T2DM (Maguire *et al.*, 2009; Lambadiari *et al.*, 2015).

Therefore, due to the dual beneficial CV and metabolic apelin actions, diabetic patients could benefit from apelin based treatment. The aim was to carry out experimental medicine studies to test this hypothesis in healthy volunteers and in volunteers with increased insulin resistance (overweight/obese and volunteers with T2DM).

This introduction will present the pathogenesis of T2DM and the apelin receptor signalling pathway before summarising the metabolic and cardiovascular apelin effects in preclinical and clinical studies. In addition, the role of apelin in T2DM related complications will be discussed in the context of potential therapeutic targeting of apelin system which could benefit T2DM patients.

1.2 Type 2 diabetes mellitus

T2DM is defined by the World Health Organisation (WHO) as a chronic, metabolic disease characterised by elevated levels of blood sugar (glucose), which over time leads to serious damage to the heart, blood vessels (vasculature), eyes, kidneys and nerves (WHO, 2022).

According to 2019 International Diabetes Federation data, T2DM is a worryingly unrecognised condition as 1 in 2 diabetic patients is undiagnosed. It is known that approximately 463 million adults are already living with diabetes and the number is expected almost to double by the year 2045 (Bhattamisra *et al.*, 2021). The rise in diabetes incidence is highly affected by decrease of socio-economic status and increase in old age. Moreover, lifestyle changes including sedentary habits, high-calorie food and increased life expectancy have led to the global rise in obesity. Obesity, defined as a body mass index (BMI) \geq 30 kg/m², is predisposing individuals to IR, which is considered to be major T2DM risk factor and is predating T2DM for approximately 10–15 years (Bellou *et al.*, 2018). T2DM patients are having altogether higher percentage of body fat, mostly distributed in the abdominal region (centripetal obesity). T2DM is caused by a combination of IR and relative insulin deficiency. As IR progresses individuals proceed to develop impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) and finally overt hyperglycaemia, clinically diagnosed as *diabetes mellitus* (Solis-Herrera *et al.*, 2021) (Figure 1.1). Glycated

haemoglobin (HbA1c) of 48 mmol/mol (6.5 %) is recommended as the diagnostic diabetes criteria (WHO, 2022).

1.2.1 Insulin and insulin resistance

Insulin is a peptide hormone secreted by pancreatic Langerhans islets β -cells and maintains normal blood glucose (euglycemia) by facilitating cellular glucose uptake of primary target tissues; liver, muscle and AT and regulating carbohydrate, lipid and protein metabolism. In IR normal or elevated insulin level produces attenuated biological response and this classically refers to impaired sensitivity to insulin stimulation (Freeman and Pennings, 2021; Wilcox *et al.*, 2005)

1.2.1.1 Clinical evaluation of insulin resistance

The gold standard IR measurement is hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic glucose clamp technique (DeFronzo *et al.,* 1979). However, this complex technique is primarily used in research and is not in everyday clinical use. Instead, diagnosis of IR is mainly led by clinical presentation and supported by various clinical measurements of IR indexes (HOMA index for example).

IR can progress to non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, T2DM, metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease (CVD) (Freeman and Pennings, 2021).

1.2.1.2 Pathophysiology of IR and T2DM

There are three primary sites of IR; muscle, liver and AT. Muscle is normally accountable for 70 percent of glucose uptake. When calorie load exceeds muscle glucose uptake, glucose is transported to the liver where it triggers *de novo lypogenesis* (DNL) and increases level of circulating triglycerides (TG) and free fatty acids (FFAs), which is causing ectopic fat deposition (adiposity) and inflammation in the muscles, liver and AT. Following fat deposition and inflammation, IR is believed to start in the muscle. IR induced impaired glucose muscle uptake triggers increased delivery of glucose to the liver and DNL, with further increase of circulating FFAs, additionally contributing to adiposity, inflammation and the aggravation of IR. Moreover, failure of insulin due to IR in AT to supress lipolysis additionally increases circulating FFAs levels and muscle tissue steatosis, further contributing to the vicious circle of IR. In the postprandial (after meal) state insulin inhibits liver glycogenolysis and is limiting postprandial glucose rise. However, in the state of IR this mechanism is blunted and hepatic glucose continues to rise. In summary, glucotoxicity resulting from hyperglycaemia alongside lipotoxicity and inflammation contributes to the pathogenesis of IR (Freeman and Pennings, 2021).

Pathophysiology of T2DM is characterised by insufficient insulin secretion due to β -cells dysfunction, tissue IR and increased hepatic gluconeogenesis (Stumwoll *et al.*, 2005; Weyer *et al.*, 1999) as presented in Figure 1.1. In the state of IR there is an attenuated insulin tissue response causing compensatory hyperinsulinemia. In the beginning of IR, β -cells start with a compensatory increase of insulin production in response to the glucose. However, in time that becomes insufficient and is leading to progressive β -cell dysfunction, insulin deficit and relative excess of the hormone glucagon. Glucagon is a peptide hormone stimulating gluconeogenesis, a metabolic pathway that results in the generation of glucose. Gluconeogenesis is additionally contributing to hyperglycaemia, meeting the criteria first for the impaired glucose tolerance (IGT), later followed by T2DM.

Figure 1.1 Pathophysiology of T2DM; triad of β -cell dysfunction, tissue insulin resistance and hepatic gluconeogenesis leading to hyperglycaemia



Glucotoxicity, lipotoxicity and inflammation are causing IR leading to decreased glucose uptake in insulin sensitive tissues (AT and muscle). β -cell is initially compensating IR by increasing β -cell Langerhans islet pancreatic insulin release (\uparrow insulin). That is gradually causing β -cell loss and absolute insulin deficit (\downarrow insulin). In addition, β -cell loss is leading to relative excess in hormone glucagon secreted by the α pancreatic Langerhans islets cells and induction of hepatic gluconeogenesis, which is additionally aggravating hyperglycaemia. Hyperglycaemia is caused by the overall decrease in the insulin plasma level due to the β -cell decompensation, decreased glucose uptake in the insulin sensitive tissues due to the IR and to the increase in glucagon stimulating hepatic gluconeogenesis.

1.2.2 T2DM – complications and outcomes

Over time T2DM leads to the development of complications which can be divided into vascular and nonvascular. Microvascular complications are retinopathy, neuropathy, and nephropathy. Macrovascular complications include increased risk of stroke, CVD, and peripheral vascular diseases. T2DM patients have 15 percent increased risk for all-cause mortality compared to people without diabetes, with CVD representing the greatest cause of T2DM associated mortality and morbidity. Meta-analysis confirmed increased risk of coronary heart disease (hazard ratio 2.00: 95 % confidence interval 1.83–2.19), ischaemic stroke (hazard ratio 2.27: 1.95–2.65) and other vascular disease related deaths (hazard ratio 1.73; 1.51–1.98) (Gaede *et al.*, 2003; Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration *et al.*, 2010). In 2019 diabetes caused 4.2 million deaths in a wide range of related complications and co-morbidities which in addition presents great financial burden to global healthcare, highlighting the need for novel treatments. (Bhattamisra *et al.*, 2021).

1.3 Study peptide – [Pyr¹]apelin-13

1.3.1 Biology of the apelinergic system

The apelinergic system consists of the Apelin receptor (APJ receptor, APLNR) and the two endogenous peptide ligands; Apelin and Elabela/Toddler. Apelin was considered to be the sole ligand for the activation of the APLNR receptor until the recent discovery of the Elabela/Toddler peptide (Section 1.5), identified by two independent research groups (Chng *et al.*, 2013; Pauli *et al.*, 2014).

1.3.1.1 Apelin receptor

Apelin receptor (APJ receptor, APLNR) is a G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) (Rosenbaum *et al.*, 2009) encoded by the APJ gene, localised on chromosome 11 (11q12) and encoding 380 amino-acid protein (O'Dowd *et al.*, 1993). The receptor was identified in 1993 through sequence homology with the gene encoding human angiotensin (Ang) receptor II, type AT1a (O'Dowd *et al.*, 1993). However, despite this homology angiotensin does not bind APLNR to exert physiological effects (De Mota *et al.*, 2000). The receptor remained an orphan receptor until Tatemoto and colleagues in 1998 identified apelin-36 as the APJ ligand; **APJ E**ndogenous **Ligand** (Tatemoto *et al.*, 1998). The APLNR sequence is conserved across species with more than 90 % homology between humans and rodents (O'Dowd *et al.*, 1993; Read *et al.*, 2019).

1.3.1.2 Apelin

The human apelin gene (known as APLN) is X chromosome linked; Xq25-26.1 and encodes a 77-amino acid pre-pro-peptide (pre-pro-apelin) (O'Dowd *et al.*, 1993).

Pre-pro-apelin is cleaved to shorter, biologically active isoforms of various lengths including the main apelin fragments; apelin-36, apelin-17, apelin-13 and the [Pyr¹]apelin-13); pyroglutamate form of apelin-13 (O'Dowd *et al.*, 1993; Pitkin *et al.*, 2010; Read *et al.*, 2019). (Figure 1.2).

The origin of apelin in human plasma is not completely clear as the endothelial cells, adipose tissue, heart and skeletal muscle secrete apelin (Kleinz *et al.*, 2005; Boucher *et al.*, 2005.; Ronkainen *et al.*, 2007; Vinel *et al.*, 2018). [Pyr¹]apelin-13 is the pyroglutamate form of apelin-13 which results from spontaneous cyclization of the N-terminal glutamine, as shown in Figure 1.2. It is the most stable isoform to endopeptidase metabolism and due to higher anti-degradation properties, it has been broadly used for *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments. Next to apelin-17, it is also the most abundant apelin isoform in the cardiovascular system and human plasma (Pitkin *et al.*, 2010; Zhen *et al.*, 2013, Azizi *et al.*, 2008; De Mota *et al.*, 2004; Maguire *et al.*, 2009).

Figure 1.2 Apelin



The amino acid sequences of cleaved apelin fragments; Apelin-36; Apelin-17; Apelin-13 and [Pyr¹]apelin-13 which is shown in red with the pyroglutamate residue in pink. [Pyr¹]apelin-13 is the most abundant isoform in the human cardiovascular system. Highlighted are RPRL motif critical for the apelin receptor binding and the smallest active fragment [Pyr¹]apelin-13₍₂₋₁₁₎ (Figure from Read *et al.*, 2019 with modifications).

1.3.1.3 Proteolytic apelin peptide degradation

1.3.1.3.1 Endogenous proteases

Apelin peptide metabolism is not fully understood as several metabolic enzymes were shown to be involved in the cleavage of apelin isoforms. To date it is known that angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 (ACE2) (Murza et al., 2014), metalloprotease neprylisin (McKinnie et al., 2016), furin (also known as PCSK3) (Shin et al., 2013) and plasma kallikrein (Fischer et al, 2019) cleave apelin peptides. Previously, it was suggested that shorter isoforms result from the proteolysis of longer isoforms with the sequential cleavage of pro-apelin 55 first to apelin-36, followed by apelin-17 and apelin-13 (Kleinz and Davenport, 2005). However, despite those opinions, *in vitro* experiments showed that the enzyme furin can cleave pro-apelin-55 directly into apelin-13 without producing longer isoforms (Shin et al., 2013). ACE2 has been demonstrated to degrade apelin isoforms both in vitro and in vivo, resulting in the removal of the common C-terminal phenylalanine of apelin-36, apelin-17 and [Pyr1]apelin-13 (Vickers et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2017). It is very interesting that some even shorter fragments retain biological activity. In healthy participants infused with [Pyr1]apelin-13 infusions, the major metabolite generated in the plasma was $[Pyr^1]$ apelin-13(1-12), proven to retain biological activity in vitro and in vivo (Wang et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2017; Nymanu et al., 2019). It appears that biological activity is preserved to [Pyr¹]apelin-13₍₁₋₁₁₎, and that the N-terminal glutamine is not essential for receptor binding as [Pyr1]apelin-13(2-11) presents the smallest active fragment, retaining RPRL motif required for binding to the receptor (Zhang et al., 2014) For other identified degradation products [Pyr¹]apelin-13₍₁₋₁₀₎ and [Pyr¹]apelin-13₍₁₋₁₀₎ ₆₎ it is not known whether they are biologically active but they retain the RPRL motif enabling binding to the receptor (Nymanu et al., 2019). A metalloprotease neprylisin (target for heart failure drug Entresto) fully degrades and inactivates apelin peptide (McKinnie et al., 2016), whilst new apelin synthetic analogues with modified neprilysin degradation site (RPRL region) are showing improved proteolytic stability with maintained full cardiovascular actions in mice (McKinnie et al., 2017).

1.3.1.3.2 Apelin half-life

Apelin in both human and rodents has a short half-life of less than 5 minutes (Japp *et al.*, 2010; Brame *et al.*, 2015), before further degraded by endogenous proteases as was discussed in Section 1.3.1.3.1.

1.3.1.4 Tissue distribution of the apelinergic system

In the human central nervous system (CNS) both apelin and APLNR have been identified in the brain and in the spinal cord (De Mota *et al.*, 2004; De Mota *et al.*, 2000; Lee *et al.*, 2000; O'Carrol *et al.*, 2003). Apelin is highly expressed in breast tissue and in the lungs (Kawamata *et al.*, 2001) and moderately in the heart, liver, gastrointestinal (GI) tract, kidney, gonads and adipose tissue (Edinger *et al.*, 1998; Lee *et al.*, 2000; Kawamata *et al.*, 2001; Medhurst *et al.*, 2003; Kleinz and Davenport 2005). Human APLNR has widespread CNS localisation (O'Carrol *et al.*, 2013). In peripheral tissues, APLNR is similarly distributed to apelin with the highest expression in the spleen and placenta and lower expression in the heart, kidney, lung, GI system and liver (O'Carrol *et al.*, 2000). APLNR and apelin are similarly distributed with apelin having lower serum than tissue concentrations, indicating possible autocrine and paracrine actions (Maguire *et al.*, 2009; Chapman *et al.*, 2021).

1.3.1.5 Physiological functions of apelin

The apelin/APJ system is ubiquitously expressed in the cardiovascular and CNS, adipocytes and various other organs playing diverse functions as hormone, adipokine and neurotransmitter (Chapman *et al.*, 2014). The principal physiological functions of apelin isoforms are in fluid homeostasis, modulation of the cardiovascular system and more recently discovered, glucose regulation, which will be the focus of this thesis (Read *et al.*, 2019; Chapman *et al.*, 2014).





In the cardiovascular system apelin mediates vasodilatation and regulates blood pressure. In the heart, it acts as an inotrope; it is increasing conduction velocity and myocardial sensitivity. Subsequently it is involved in preload and afterload regulation. It promotes angiogenesis and has anti-thrombotic, -fibrotic and -arrhythmic effects. By affecting the hypothalamus and the kidney it is involved in body water regulation; it is inhibiting release of the hormone vasopressin, reducing water intake and increasing renal blood flow and diuresis. It shows kidney protective anti-inflammation and anti-fibrotic properties in preclinical models. In skeletal muscle, it is increasing glucose uptake and insulin sensitivity. Apelin is promoting brown AT adipogenesis and white AT mitochondrial biogenesis. (Figure from Chapman *et al., 2021.)*

1.3.1.6 Signalling in the apelinergic system

Apelin ligand engages with APLNR and associated G proteins which results in the activation of several signalling canonical cascades. Physiological cardiovascular and metabolic effects vary depending on the apelin isoform and type of activated cell, as is shown in Figure 1.4.

All apelin isoforms (apelin-36, apelin 17, apelin-13 and [Pyr¹]apelin-13) block biological effects generated by protein-kinase A (PKA) pathway by coupling G α i and inhibiting forskolin induced cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) production. Apelin-12 and -13 stimulate endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) through activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/protein kinase B (PI3K/Akt) signalling pathway, also known as the protein-kinase B (PKB) pathway. Apelin-13 promotes metabolic functions through PI3K/Akt signalling AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) pathway. Apelin-13 or -36 activations of the extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2) is mediated through the protein-kinase C (PKC) pathway by coupling G α i or G α q/11. Apelin-13 and [Pyr¹]apelin-13 through PI3K/Akt and ERK1/2 activates phosphorylation of ribosomal protein S kinase (p70S6). (Hu *et al.*, 2021)

In addition, apelin activates APLNR and mediates receptor desensitisation and endocytosis through β -arrestin-dependant signalling pathway as is shown in Figure 1.4 *In vitro* experiments suggest isoform specific kinetics of apelin/APJ internalisation. Apelin-36/APLNR complex stays localised together with β -arrestin to intracellular lysosome through Rab7 signalling pathway leading to persistent desensitisation of APLNR. In contrast, Apelin-13/APLNR complex is resulting in transient APLNR desensitisation as complex dissociates from β -arrestin rapidly recycling to the surface through the Rab4 signalling pathway (Masri *et al.*, 2006; Lee *et al.*, 2010; Hu *et al.*, 2021)

Figure 1.4 Apelin receptor activation is producing metabolic and cardiovascular effects mediated by different signalling canonical pathway



Apelin is leading to vasodilatation in vascular endothelial cells by G α i-mediated inhibition of cAMP production and activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3)-AKT signalling cascades (PKB). In cardiomyocytes apelin induces G α_q -mediated increase in cardiac (heart related) contractility through activation of the phospholipase C (PLC)-protein kinase C (PKC) pathway with enhanced activity of the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger (NCX), further on leading to a rise in intracellular calcium and increased myocardial contractility. The metabolic effects of apelin receptor activation are mediated via PKB or AMPK pathway. APLNR activation recruits β -arrestin required for endocytosis and desensitisation of the APLNR. Apelin/APLNR complex is either lysosome degraded or dissociated from β -arrestin and recycled to the surface. DAG, diacylglycerol; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; ERK1, extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1; GRK β , G protein coupled receptor kinase- β ; IP3, inositol tris-phosphate; MEK1, mitogen-activated protein kinase 1; NO, nitric oxide; pAKT, phosphorylated AKT; PIP₂, phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphonate; p70S6K, p70 ribosomal S6 kinase (Figure from Chapman *et al., 2021*. with modifications).

1.3.2 Apelin studies in cardiometabolic disease

A summary of the main preclinical and clinical apelin actions in the cardiovascular system and metabolism are presented in Figure 1.5 and Table 1.1 respectively.

1.3.2.1 Apelin studies in cardiovascular disease

Apelin functions as an endothelium-dependent vasodilator and a potent inotropic agent as summarised in the Sections 1.3.2.1.1 and 1.3.2.1.2. The vasodilation stands for the widening of the blood vessels leading to enhanced blood flow, whilst positive inotropic actions mean an increase in heart contractility.

1.3.2.1.1 Preclinical cardiovascular apelin studies

In vitro human tissues studies conducted by Maguire *et al.* reported apelin peptides to be among the most potent endogenous positive inotropic agents and the endothelium-dependent vasodilators, acting via prostanoid-dependent mechanism. Those experiments additionally revealed direct vasoconstrictor actions in both the artery and the vein upon endothelium removal (Maguire *et al.,* 2009).

In vivo rodent studies showed that acute apelin administration has the nitric-oxide (NO) dependent short-lasting arterial and venous vasodilation effect and is lowering mean arterial pressure (MAP) (Lee *et al.*, 2000; Tatemoto *et al.*, 2001; Cheng *et al.*, 2003). Unlike experiments in anesthetised rats (Lee *et al.*, 2000; Tatemoto *et al.*, 2001), experiments in conscious rats (Cheng *et al.*, 2003) showed an increase in heart rate (HR). That effect that can be abolished by ganglion blockade and is suggested to be an indirect reaction due to hypotension (Cheng *et al.*, 2003). The discrepancy in the HR response between conscious and non-conscious animals is likely due to the conscious animals having a more active baroreflex system. On chronic apelin administration over the two weeks in rats, the changes in BP and HR did not occur. Nevertheless, the sustained increase in cardiac output (CO) without signs of cardiac hypertrophy has been noted in rats (Ahley *et al.*, 2005). That CO increase is in agreement with the previously conducted experiments confirming apelin inducing positive inotropic effects in normal and failing rat hearts (Szokodi *et al.*, 2002; Berry *et al.*, 2004).

In addition, apelin is reducing cardiac fibrosis, apoptosis, increasing angiogenesis, myocyte glucose uptake and insulin sensitivity, all of which is further explained in Section 1.3.3.1, Table 1.4 and Figure 1.6.

1.3.2.1.2 Clinical cardiovascular apelin studies

The effects of apelin on the cardiovascular system have been investigated in healthy volunteers, patients with central obesity and heart failure (HF), proving apelin to have vasodilatation effects. In 2008 Japp *et al.* investigated for the first time direct vascular effects of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and Apelin-36 in healthy participants showing apelin to be NO-dependant arterial vasodilator without the apparent effect on venous tone (Japp *et al.*, 2008). Further research by Japp *et al.*, has demonstrated that acute apelin administration in healthy volunteers and patients with heart disease causes peripheral and coronary vasodilatation and increases CO (Japp *et al* 2010). Additionally, in 2013 it has been proven that APJ agonism has sustained cardiovascular effects that are preserved in the presence of renin-angiotensin system activation or HF (Barnes *et al.*, 2013). Recently, apelin improved insulin stimulated endothelium-dependant and independent vasodilatation and reduced vasoconstriction mediated by angiotensin II (Ang II) and endothelin 1 (ET-1) (Shinzari *et al.*, 2017). Clinical cardiovascular studies are listed in Table 1.1 and will be further addressed in Chapters 3, 4 and 5.

1.3.2.2 Apelin studies in metabolic disease

Apelin inhibits insulin secretion, decreases glucose levels and increases insulin sensitivity, as is explained in the results of the preclinical and clinical studies in Sections 1.3.2.2.1 and 1.3.2.2.2). Increased apelin concentrations in T2DM and obesity are raising the possibility of apelin being a new risk prediction biomarker in the development of T2DM (Noori-Zadeh *et al.*, 2019; Ma *et al.*, 2014). In addition, apelin plays a role in the pathogenesis of diabetic complications, which will be addressed separately in Section 1.3.

1.3.2.2.1 Preclinical metabolic apelin studies

Both human and murine (rodent) *in vitro* studies showed that apelin is predominantly expressed in α - and β -pancreatic islet cells, while the APLNR is found in human and rodent islets cells and on the INS-1 clonal β -cells (Ringstrom *et al.*, 2010). Selective deletion of the APLNR in mice pancreatic islet β -cells resulted in a reduction of islet size, density and β -cell mass. These cells displayed a decreased insulin secretion *in vitro* and the mice showed decreased glucose tolerance (Han *et al.*, 2015). Boucher *et al.* demonstrated that in hyperinsulinemia associated obesities insulin exerted direct control on the apelin gene expression in human and rodent adipocytes, leading to plasma and fat cells apelin increase (Boucher *et al.*, 2005). In a murine model, apelin-13 injection decreased glycaemia (Dray *et al.*, 2008) and both [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and apelin-36 inhibited either GLP-1 or glucose stimulated insulin secretion (Sorhede Winzell *et al.*, 2005, Guo *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, apelin reduced IR

during a hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp in mice, by stimulating glucose uptake in soleus muscle (Dray *et al.*, 2008). The role of apelin in IR has also been studied in apelin deficient mice; these mice were insulin resistant and the resistance was reversed after exogenous [Pyr¹]apelin-13 treatment (Yue *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, chronic apelin-13 treatment in mice contributed to improved insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in muscle and to the overall increased insulin sensitivity. Those studies have shown that IR was reduced by increasing fatty acid oxidation and mitochondrial biogenesis in the soleus muscle (Attane *et al.*, 2012).

Finally, when apelin was administered in a diabetic rat model, it was found that [Pyr¹]apelin-13 could induce a reduction in plasma insulin and glucose levels with a simultaneous reduction in blood pressure (Akcilar *et al.*, 2015). Chronic treatment with acylated analogues of apelin-13 amide ameliorated diet induced obesity and diabetes in mice, together with concurrently improved lipid profile (O'Harte *et al.*, 2018a). Apelin-13 analogues with improved *in vitro* plasma stability, potently lowered glucose and insulin levels *in vitro* (isolated mouse pancreatic islet cells) and in vivo (O'Harte *et al.*, 2018b). These studies, therefore, indicate an important role for the apelinergic system in the glucose homeostasis and suggest it could potentially be used as a therapeutic intervention in diabetes patients (Read *et al.*, 2019).

Figure 1.5 Summary of the beneficial cardio-metabolic effects of apelin in preclinical research



Apelin is acting as a vasodilator and is improving cardiac performance. It is decreasing both cardiac fibrosis and left ventricular (LV) hypertrophy. Apelin is reducing fat content in adipose tissue, liver and plasma. Apelin is decreasing glycaemia and is improving energy utilisation (Figure from Castan-Laurell *et al.*, 2021 with modifications).

1.3.2.2.2 Clinical metabolic apelin studies

Apelin in humans was investigated in the role of a potential therapeutic agent and biomarker in states of impaired glucose homeostasis. A biomarker is a naturally occurring molecule found in the body that is a sign of a normal or abnormal process in disease. Apelin serum concentration was found to be increased in T2DM and obesity based on results of Noori-Zadeh *et al.*, metanalyses (2019), raising the possibility of its use as a new risk prediction biomarker in the development of T2DM (Ma *et al.*, 2014).

1.3.2.2.2.1 Interventional metabolic apelin studies

The metabolic effects of intravenously infused apelin in overweight men have been tested in a proof-of-concept study by Gourdy and colleagues who demonstrated that apelin infused over a 2-hour period during hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp improves insulin sensitivity (Gourdy *et al.*, 2018). This study is listed in Table 1.1 and will be addressed in more detail in Sections 3.1.1 and 4.7.2. Meanwhile, our research group unpublished data demonstrated a decrease in blood glucose in non-diabetic volunteers after 6-minute apelin intravenous infusion in the dose 100 nmol/min (Brame, 2015; Brame and Davenport, 2015)
Participants	Apelin isoform	Apelin dose	Study type	Apelin action	Reference
	[Pyr¹]apelin-13 Apelin-36	0.1–30 nmol/min	FBF	Vasodilatation in forearm circulation	Japp <i>et al.</i> ., 2008
Healthy	[Pyr ¹]apelin-13	1–100 nmol/min	FBF	Vasodilatation in forearm circulation	Brame <i>et al.</i> , 2015
	[Pyr ¹]apelin-13 ₍₁₋₁₂₎	1–100 nmol/min	FBF	Vasodilatation in forearm circulation	Yang <i>et al.</i> , 2017
Centrally obese	[Pyr¹]apelin-13	1.5 nmol/min	FBF	Increased insulin stimulated vasodilation reduced Ang II and ET-1-dependant vasocontraction	Schinzari <i>et al.</i> , 2018
Healthy HF patients	[Pyr¹]apelin-13	30–300 nmol/min	Systemic studies Intracoronary	Peripheral vasodilation Coronary vasodilation Increased CO Reduced cardiac pre- and after-load	Japp <i>et al.</i> , 2010
Chronic HF patients	[Pyr¹]apelin-13	30–300 nmol/min	Systemic studies	Peripheral vasodilation Increased CO Improved LV function	Barnes <i>et al.</i> , 2013
Healthy overweight	[Pyr¹]apelin-13	9 and 30 nmol/kg	Systemic studies	Increased insulin sensitivity	Gourdy <i>et al.,</i> 2018

Table 1.1 Summary of clinical apelin effects in range of doses in forearm blood flow and systemic studies in distinctive participants groups 17

FBF – Forearm Blood Flow; HF – Heart Failure; LV – Left Ventricular; Ang II – Angiotensin II; ET-1 – Endothelin; CO – Cardiac Output

1.3.2.2.2.2 Non-Interventional metabolic apelin studies

Non-interventional clinical studies examined the potential role of apelin as a biomarker in connection to early detection and prediction of T2DM and the evaluation of therapeutic success of diabetes treatment.

1.3.2.2.2.1 Apelin as diabetes prediction biomarker in molecular studies

A genetic study carried out in Chinese Hans (T2DM n=1892; healthy controls n=1808) and another smaller study in Iranian women (T2DM n=33; healthy controls n=33) described a connection between some apelin genetic variants, apelin levels and T2DM (Zhang *et al.,* 2009a; Ghafarian-Alipour *et al.,* 2018). However, those discoveries have not been confirmed in people of European descent (n=917) (Sentinelli *et al.,* 2016).

Two prospective studies examined weather apelin has a predictive role in diabetes development (Ma *et al.*, 2014; Castan Laurel *et al.*, 2020) with contradictory results. Ma *et al.*, after 3 years follow up found that baseline higher plasma apelin concentrations were associated with higher risk of developing diabetes in Taiwanese non-diabetic men (n=148) (Ma *et al*; 2014). That conclusion has not been confirmed in a more extensive DESIR study, which throughout 9 years follow up on general French population (n=3785) demonstrated that high apelin levels were associated with decreased risk of T2DM development (Castan Laurell *et al.*, 2020).

Serum apelin level among fasting blood glucose, Hba1c and visfatin (all *P*<0.05) was confirmed as part of a subset of significant features for early T2DM detection additionally confirming apelin playing a role in diabetes (Lofti *et al.*, 2020).

1.3.2.2.2.2 Observational studies – Apelin serum levels in T2DM and obesity

It was noted by several minute studies that basal plasma apelin levels in obese patients were significantly higher when compared to normal-weight control groups (Boucher *et al.*, 2005; Castan-Laurell *et al.*, 2008; Nam *et al.*, 2020; Arica *et al.*, 2018). The most likely explanation is that apelin, being an adipokine, is secreted more in obese individuals, due to the higher amount of adipose tissue (Bertrand *et al.*, 2015). In agreement to that, female subjects diagnosed with anorexia nervosa (an eating disorder associated with low body weight) had significantly lower apelin levels than healthy controls (Ostrowska *et al.*, 2014).

As obesity is a typical clinical feature of T2DM, then unsurprisingly apelin levels were confirmed to be increased in T2DM patients (Soriguer *et al.*, 2009; Fan *et al.*, 2015; Dray *et al.*, 2010; Al-Kuraishy *et al.*, 2018; Cavallo *et al.*, 2012; Yu *et al.*, 2012; Noori-Zadeh *et al.*, 2019). Cavallo *et al.* in a large cohort of Italian patients confirmed increased serum apelin only

in T2DM, but not in T1DM patients (Cavallo *et al.*, 2012). However, Habchi and colleagues showed apelin to be increased in both T1DM and T2DM with a rise even greater in T1DM (Habchi *et al.*, 2014). Increased serum apelin in T1DM patients was also confirmed by Alexiadou *et al.* (2012). It is known that insulin is upregulating apelin secretion (Boucher *et al.*, 2005). Hence, raised apelin levels in T1DM could be due to the exogenous insulin treatment rather than to the endogenous hyperinsulinemia as is the case in T2DM patients.

Apelin serum level stands in negative correlation with HbA1c, and decreases in unregulated diabetes (Habschi *et al.*, 2014). That could explain results coming from Erdem *et al.*, 2008, who showed that apelin serum levels were significantly lower in newly diagnosed and untreated T2DM patients (Erdem *et al.*, 2008). Studies that examined effects of antidiabetic drugs on serum apelin levels found that pharmacologically induced better glycaemic control, independently of the type of treatment was related to the significant increase in serum apelin levels (Kadoglou *et al.*, 2010; Al-Kuraishy *et al.*, 2018; Fan *et al.*, 2015). Some of the studies investigated in more detail effects of the various antidiabetic drugs. They found that the metformin alone, and even more or in combination with dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitor increased serum apelin whilst improving glycaemic control and reducing Hba1c (Kadoglou *et al.*, 2010; Fan *et al.*, 2015). However, not all studies are in agreement and Yu *et al.*, found raised serum apelin in newly discovered T2DM patients, followed by apelin reduction *post* metformin or pioglitazone treatment (Yu *et al.*, 2012).

Recently, Onalan *et al.* studied serum apelin level in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance (IGT), metabolic syndrome and T2DM. They found apelin levels to be significantly lower in all three groups compared to healthy controls, identifying apelin as an important indicator in individuals with IGT in the prediabetic period (Onalan *et al.*, 2020).

As apelin is strongly correlating with body fat mass, then unsurprisingly most of the studies testing effects of non-pharmacologic interventions associated with body weight reductions, such as hypocaloric diet, bariatric surgery and exercise showed decrease in serum apelin level in various diabetic and non-diabetic cohorts (Castan Laurell *et al.*, 2008; Arica *et al.*, 2018; Soriguer *et al.*, 2009; Krist *et al.*, 2013). Castan Laurell *et al.* showed weight and fat reduction in 20 obese women was not only accompanied with decreases in serum apelin levels, but also with decrease of mRNA expression of apelin and APLNR in the adipose tissue (Castan Laurell *et al.*, 2008). Krist *et al.*, in a big cross-sectional study (n=740) in obese and T2DM subjects showed that reduction in circulating apelin levels were associated with the reduction in fat mass following exercise, hypocaloric diet or bariatric surgery. That led to significantly improved insulin sensitivity, independently of changes in BMI (Krist *et al.*, 2013). As opposed to a majority of studies Hainonen *et al.*, did not record significant changes in plasma apelin after diet induced reductions in BMI and suggested that apelin may not be that

strongly correlated with the fat mass despite being an adipokine (Hainonen *et al.*, 2009). A series of studies by Kadoglou and colleagues reported every-day moderate physical activity or aerobic exercise up-regulated circulating apelin levels in T2DM patients, even in the absence of significant weight loss (Kadoglou *et al.*, 2012a; Kadoglou *et al.*, 2012b; Kadoglou *et al.*, 2013).

Table 1.2 Molecular and observational research studying the role of apelin as a potential biomarker under various clinical circumstances (diabetes, obesity, response to pharmacological and life-style measures)

Study analysing	Author / Year / Study
Apelin genetic variants in connection to	Zhang et al., 2009a; Sentinelli et al., 2016;
T2DM development	Ghafarian-Alipour <i>et al.</i> , 2018
Predictive role of serum apelin in diabetes	Ma et al., 2014, Castan Laurel et al., 2020
	Boucher et al., 2005; Castan-Laurell et al.,
Basal plasma apelin levels in relation to	2008; Soriguer <i>et al</i> ., 2009; Ostrowska <i>et</i>
the body weight	<i>al</i> ., 2014;
	Arica <i>et al.</i> , 2018; Nam <i>et al</i> ., 2020
	Erdem <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Dray <i>et al.</i> , 2010;
	Yu <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Cavallo <i>et al</i> ., 2012;
Basal plasma apelin levels in diabetes	Alexiadou et al., 2012; Habschi et al., 2014;
patients	Fan <i>et al</i> ., 2015; Al-Kuraishy <i>et al</i> ., 2018;
	Onalan et al., 2020; Noori-Zadeh et al.,
	2019 *
Effects of pharmacologic interventions	Kadaglau at al. 2010: Vu at al. 2012:
(antidiabetic drugs) on circulating apelin	Fon at al. 2015: Al Kursishy at al. 2018
levels in T2DM patients	Fail et al., 2013, Al-Autaisity et al., 2016
	Castan Laurell et al., 2008; Hainonen et al.,
Effects of non-pharmacologic	2009; Soriguer <i>et al</i> ., 2009; Kadoglou <i>et al</i> .,
interventions on circulating apelin levels	2012a; Kadoglou <i>et al</i> ., 2012b; Kadoglou <i>et</i>
in obese participants and T2DM patients	<i>al.</i> , 2013; Krist <i>et al.</i> , 2013; Arica <i>et al.,</i>
	2018

* Meta-analysis

Study / Author	Study population	Study finding
/ Year 		
Erdem <i>et al.</i> ,	T2DM n=40	apelin serum levels were significantly lower in newly diagnosed and untreated T2DM
2008	ND controls n=40	patients (P<0.001)
Soriguer et	MO n=54 (T2DM n=16)	serum apelin was not raised in the obese subjects unless they were diagnosed with
<i>al.</i> , 2009	ND controls n=12	T2DM P<0.005
Cavallo <i>et al.</i> ,	T1D n=131, T2D n=119	2001 (Development of the triangle of triangle
2012	ND controls n=137	seruin apenn levels were increased only in 1 ZDM, but not in 1 1 DM parterns (r <0.00 L)
Alexiadou et	T1DM n=9	(DOUD) 2000 (D. D. D
<i>al</i> ., 2012	ND controls n=9	
Yu et al.,	T2DM n=81	
2012	ND controls n=79	apeilit level was intcreased (P<0.001) int newly discovered 1 2014 partents
Zhang et al.,	T2D n=60	ocrum onolio woo oizenitionetty hichor is TODM these hoolthy controls (0,005)
2013	ND controls n=32	
Habchi <i>et al.</i> ,	T1DM n=98, T2DM n=162	Apelin levels were increased in diabetes (P<0.001); with even greater rise in T1DM than
2014	ND controls n=130	in T2DM (<i>P</i> <0.02)
Onalan e <i>t al.</i> ,	IGT n=18, MS n=18	in subjects with IGT, MS and T2DM compared with the ND group serum apelin levels
2020	T2DM n=18, ND controls n=16	were significantly lower (<i>P</i> =0.002, <i>P</i> =0.006, and <i>P</i> <0.001, respectively)
		Analyses of 16 studies with T2DM subjects (n=1102) and healthy controls (n=1078)
Noori-Zadeh		presents evidence that apelin circulatory levels are higher in T2DM patients (SMD=2.136
et al., 2019*		(95 % confidence interval, 1.580–2.693; <i>P</i> -value for the significance of the combined
		SMD examined by the z-test was 0.000)
T2DM – Type 2 E	Diabetes; T1DM – Type 1 Diabetes	;; ND controls – Non Diabetic Controls; IGT – Impaired Glucose Tolerance; MS – Metabolic
Syndrome; MO -	Morbidly Obese; * Meta-analysis	

Table 1.3 Observational studies measuring baseline apelin levels in Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes patients

21

1.3.3 Role of apelin in diabetes complications

Diabetic complications present a major cause of morbidity and mortality in diabetic patients and have previously been listed in Section 1.2.2. Apelin has been recognised to play important roles in the pathogenesis of diabetic complications, reviewed in detail by Hu and colleagues (2016). The majority of the published research has been conducted *in vitro* or in preclinical animal models reporting somewhat contradictory data. Overall, up to date evidence established that apelin may have protective properties in diabetic cardiomyopathy and nephropathy, however with negative impact on diabetic retinopathy as it seems to be promoting retinal neovascularisation. Therefore, before final conclusions weather apelin or apelin antagonists could in the future be therapeutically used for the treatment of diabetic complications, it will be crucial to obtain more human data. Until then, the role of the apelinergic system as a potential treatment of diabetic complications remains unclear.

1.3.3.1 Diabetic cardiomyopathy

Diabetic cardiomyopathy (DCM) is defined as the existence of abnormal heart (cardiac) structure and performance in the absence of other cardiac risk factors, such as coronary artery disease (CAD), hypertension, and significant valvular disease (Jia *et al.*, 2018). It is schematically presented in Figure 1.6 and reviewed in detail in Borghetti *et al.* (2018) and Jia *et al.* (2018).





Hyperglycaemia, hyperinsulinemia and IR start a series of metabolic effects ultimately causing heart cell death (myocyte apoptosis), heart scarring (cardiac fibrosis) and increase in the size of the left heart chamber (left ventricle [LV] hypertrophy). Those changes at first prevent the heart from completely filling with circulating blood (diastolic dysfunction), further progressing to impaired heart chamber contraction (systolic dysfunction) and ultimately leading to heart failure (HF). Apelin is reducing (–) myocyte apoptosis (programmed cell death), cardiac fibrosis and LV hypertrophy. Apelin is increasing (+) cardiac output, myocyte glucose uptake, insulin sensitivity and angiogenesis.

The apelinergic system is identified as a potential therapeutic target in DCM as apelin exerts cardiometabolic effects which can be used in the treatment or prevention of DCM as is presented in Figure 1.6 and Table 1.4.

In vitro and in vivo preclinical experiments have proven apelin to be very potent endogenous inotrope agent in both normal and failing hearts with the potential to reduce microvascular insufficiency through vasodilation as previously described in 1.3.2.1.1 (Maguire et al., 2009; Szokodi et al., 2002; Berry et al., 2004; Cheng et al., 2003). Several clinical studies have proven that apelin induces short lasting arterial vasodilation in healthy volunteers (Japp et al., 2008) and increases CO in both healthy volunteers and HF patients (Japp et al., 2010; Barnes et al., 2013). In addition, apelin increases angiogenesis and vascular density by upregulating the mitochondrial enzyme sirtuin 3, Angs/Tie-2 and VEGF/VEGFR2 expression (Hu et al., 2016). Apelin reduces myocyte apoptosis during myocardial injury in rodents subjected to glucose deprivation and ischaemia/reperfusion injury (Zhang et al., 2009b; Boal et al., 2016; Nazari et al., 2020; Li et al., 2013; An et al., 2020). Apelin protects against cardiac fibrosis and vascular remodelling by blocking Ang II-mediated PAI-1 gene expression in wild type mice (Siddiquee *et al.*, 2011), inhibiting TGF-β-stimulated activation of cardiac fibroblasts through a SphK1-dependent mechanism (Pchejetski et al., 2012), supressing TGF-β/Smad2/α-SMA pathway (Lv et al., 2020) and inhibiting the PI3K/Akt signalling pathway (Zhong et al., 2020). Apelin is reducing left ventricular hypertrophy (Ashley et al., 2005; Scimia et al., 2012; Parikh et al., 2018). Metabolically, it increases myocytes FFA oxidation (Ahn et al., 2008), reduces glucose intolerance in obese hyper-insulinemic rodents and increases glucose uptake in the heart (Dray et al., 2008).

Table 1.4 Overview of some preclinical studies demonstrating protective apelin effectsin DCM pathophysiology

Apelin effect	Author / Year / Study
Positive instrone	Szokodi et al., 2002; Berry et al., 2004;
i ositive motrope	Maguire <i>et al.,</i> 2009
Vasodilator	Lee et al., 2000; Tatemoto et al., 2001;
Vasoullator	Cheng et al., 2003; Maguire et al., 2009
	Zhang et al., 2009b; Li et al., 2013;
Reducing myocite apoptosis	Boal <i>et al</i> ., 2016; An <i>et al</i> ., 2020;
	Nazari <i>et al.,</i> 2020
	Li et al., 2012; Pchejetski et al., 2012;
Reducing cardiac fibrosis	Siddiquee et al., 2012; Lv et al., 2020;
	Zhong <i>et al.,</i> 2020
Increasing angiogenesis	Li <i>et al.,</i> 2012
Poducing I V hyportrophy	Ashley et al., 2005; Scimia et al., 2012;
Reducing LV hypertrophy	Parikh <i>et al</i> ., 2018
Increases myocytes glucose uptake and	Dray at al. 2008: Xu at al. 2012
insulin sensitivity	Diay et al., 2000, Au et al., 2012
Increases myocytes FFA oxidation	Ahn <i>et al.,</i> 2008

1.3.3.2 Diabetic retinopathy

Diabetic Retinopathy (DR) is a serious complication of T2DM presenting a worldwide leading cause of vision impairment and blindness with overall prevalence of 22.27 percent (Teo *et al.*, 2021) and the annual incidence ranging between 2.2 and 12.7 percent among T2DM patients (Sabanayagam *et al.*, 2019). In clinical medicine, cases of DR with retinal neovascularisation (new blood vessel growth from pre-existing vasculature) are called proliferative DR (PDR) and are distinguished from cases of non-proliferative DR (NPDR), where there is no new blood vessel growth. New retinal blood vessels with abnormal structure are causing leakage into jellylike substance (vitreous humor), which is forming the central part of the eye. Eventually, scarring (fibrotic) tissue from neovascularisation can cause the retinal detachment. In addition, new blood vessels and scarring tissue can obstruct normal flow of the eye fluid and build up pressure (glaucoma) in the eyeball, which can damage the optic nerve and cause blindness (Kinnunen and Yia-Herttuala, 2012)

Apelin may contribute to the PDR by promoting fibrovascular proliferation, as summarised in Table 1.5. *In vitro* experiments reported apelin to be colocalised with angiogenesis endothelial

marker CD31, glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in diabetic human and rat retinas (Kasai *et al.*, 2004; Liu *et al.*, 2010; Qian *et al.* in 2011; Tao *et al.*, 2010; Lu *et al.*, 2013). Additionally, fibrovascular role of apelin was confirmed in the experiments with exogenous recombinant apelin, which promoted proliferation, migration and collagen expression in human retinal cells (Qin *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, apelin knockdown (KD) experiments and use of the apelin receptor antagonist F13A confirmed apelin involvement in the PDR pathogenesis. Apelin KD by using interfering RNA approach in a model of ischaemic retinopathy suppressed pathological angiogenesis and increased pericyte coverage. Pericytes are cells that provide support to the endothelial cells. Their dropout leads to distorted blood vessel remodelling, potentially causing effects observed clinically as DR (Kasai *et al.*, 2013; Beltramo and Porta, 2013). Finally, F13A is reversing retinal gliosis and is suppressing both GFAP and VEGF expression, which may offer new perspectives in the early prevention and treatment of DR (Lu *et al.*, 2013).

In clinical research, apelin was found to be upregulated in the retinal pigment epithelial (RPE) cells and in the vitreous of diabetic patients (Tao *et al.*, 2010; Qin *et al.*, 2013) together with vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), which is known to have significant role in the pathogenesis of PDR (Kinnunen *et al.*, 2012). However, unlike serum raised VEGF in diabetic patients, data regarding serum apelin levels remain inconclusive, as presented in the Table 1.6 (Tao *et al.*, 2010; Du *et al.*, 2014).

In conclusion, it appears that apelin is promoting neovascularisation in DR, which could stand in the way of potential systemic therapeutic use of apelin in diabetes related indications. Due to the retinal adverse effects, more clinical research is needed to illuminate the role of the apelin receptor antagonist, which may become useful agent in the prevention of the retinal neovascularisation. Table 1.5 Angiogenic and profibrotic apelin effects contributing to the development of proliferative diabetic retinopathy

PDR feature	Apelin effect	Author / Year
angiogenesis	significantly enhanced migration, proliferation, and capillary-like tube formation of retinal endothelial RF/6A cells	Kasai <i>et al.,</i> 2004
angiogenesis	promoted VSMC proliferation through PI3K/Akt signalling transduction pathway.	Liu <i>et al.,</i> 2010
angiogenesis	Colocalization of apelin and well-established angiogenesis endothelial marker CD31 in PDR patients following vitrectomy	Qian <i>et al</i> . 2011 Tao <i>et al</i> ., 2010.
angiogenesis	apelin knockdown by using interfering RNA approach in a model of ischaemic retinopathy led not only to suppression in pathological angiogenesis but also to increased pericyte coverage	Kasai <i>et al.,</i> 2013
pro-fibrotic	recombinant apelin promoted proliferation, migration and collagen I expression in human RPE cells through the PI3/Akt and MEK/Erk signalling	Qin <i>et al</i> ., 2013
pro-fibrotic angiogenesis	 apelin, GFAP and VEGF were significantly increased and co-localised in diabetic rat retinas exogenous apelin promoted retinal glial Müller cells proliferation <i>in vivo</i> and induced GFAP and VEGF expression. Apelin receptor antagonist F13A markedly reduced retinal gliosis caused by diabetes and suppressed both GFAP and VEGF expression <i>in vivo</i>. 	Lu <i>et al.</i> , 2013

PDR – Proliferative Diabetic Retinopathy, VSMC – Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells; RPE – Retinal Pigment Epithelial; GFAP – Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein; VEGF – Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor; RNA – Ribonucleic Acid

Table 1.6 Clinical	studies investigating :	serum levels of apelin and VEGF in T2DM patients with or without DR
Author / Year	Number (n) of participants	Study finding
Tao <i>et al.</i> , 2010	T2DM PDR, n=55 NOD, n=34	vitreous apelin, vitreous and serum VEGF were significantly higher in PDR patients than non- diabetic ocular disease controls (<i>P</i> =0.005, <i>P</i> <0.001; <i>P</i> =0.03 respectively) without significant differences in plasma apelin concentration in-between groups
Du <i>et al.</i> , 2014	T2DM PDR, n=16 T2DM NPDR, n=23 T2DM non-DR, n=30	Plasma level of apelin-13 was significantly elevated in the PDR group (<i>P</i> =0.041), whereas no significant differences of apelin-13 were found between NPDR group and non-DR group. Serum levels of VEGF in the PDR group were found higher compared to the NPDR group and the non-DR group (<i>P</i> =0.007, <i>P</i> <0.001, respectively). VEGF levels in the NPDR group were found higher than non-DR group (<i>P</i> =0.007).
VEGF – Vascular Proliferative DR; T	Endothelial Growth Fac 2DM non-DR – T2DM P	ctor; T2DM PDR – T2DM Patients with Proliferative DR; T2DM NPDR – T2DM Patients with Non- atients without DR; NOD – Non-Diabetic Ocular Diseases Group

1.3.3.3 Diabetic nephropathy

Diabetic nephropathy (DN) presents the most common cause of end-stage renal diseases and is one of the major complications of T2DM. It is estimated 20–40 percent of T2DM patients are affected by DN. Hyperglycaemia changes the way blood flows in the kidney glomeruli (glomerular hemodynamic) and causes an increase in glomerular size (hypertrophy). That leads to changes in the glomerular filtration barrier (GFB) causing an increase in urine albumin (albuminuria). Albumin is a protein found in the blood which normally does not pass GFB (Bruno *et al.*, 2003). Chronic inflammation and pathological neovascularisation also play important parts in diabetes induced renal injury (Donate Correa *et al.*, 2015; Nakagawa *et al.*, 2009). These changes are clinically noted as a gradual decrease in renal (kidney) function (Maezawa *et al.*, 2015). Basic kidney structure and changes in the function between normal kidney and DN kidney are shown in Figure 1.7.



Figure 1.7 Changes of the kidney function in diabetic nephropathy

a) Nephron is a functional unit in the kidney, consisted of multiple glomeruli. Glomeruli are producing urine whilst removing waste from blood in the filtration process through the glomerular filtration membrane (GFB)

b) Diabetes is causing changes in kidney function (DN). GFB thickens and becomes more permeable. Proteins (albumins) leak from glomeruli blood vessels and can be detected in the urine (Figure modified from Diabetes UK, 2022).

Studies in human tissues suggested increased expression of the kidney apelinergic system in T2DM patients with DN (Guo *et al.*, 2015). It can be hypothesized that apelin, which is increased in the plasma of the T2DM patients plays a role in the development of DN, especially as clinical studies in T2DM patients have proven increased serum apelin to be positively correlating with the albuminuria as is shown in Table 1.7 (Zhang *et al.*, 2013; Guo *et al.*, 2015; Nagib *et al.*, 2015). In agreement to those data, experiments in T2DM mice model confirmed apelin induced albuminuria effect, which was later reversed by the use of the apelin antagonist F13A (Zhang *et al.*, 2013).

Another study by Silva *et al.*, suggested positive correlation between serum apelin level and the renal disease progression. However, they interestingly showed a statistically significant decrease in the risk of the hospitalization and CV mortality with higher apelin levels, indicating that apelin might have a clinical use as a marker/predictor of CV mortality and hospitalization (Silva *et al.*, 2013). In contrast, Coskun-Yavuz *et al.*, in their clinical evaluation of the relationship between the serum apelin-13 and 1-year progression of chronic kidney disease (CKD) of diabetic and non-diabetic aetiologies have not found correlation between apelin level and a decline in glomerular filtration rate, nor have determined any differences between diabetic and non-diabetic patients (Coskun-Yavuz *et al.*, 2015). A summary of the clinical studies examining function of apelin are presented in Table 1.7.

Some preclinical studies are suggesting apelin has a promoting role in DN pathogenesis as is presented in Table 1.8. These experiments suggest apelin induces podocyte dysfunction, increases thickness and permeability of the GFM and promotes pathological glomerular angiogenesis. Some of those effects can be reversed by F13A (Guo *et al.*, 2015; Zhang *et al.*, 2013; Liu *et al.*, 2017).

However, most of the preclinical studies are mostly advocating apelin is having protective effects on DN by exerting anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidative properties, as is shown in Table 1.9. Oxidative stress and state of chronic inflammation have been shown to play an important part in the DN development (Donate-Correa *et al.*, 2015). Day and colleagues observed the significant decrease in the albuminuria and the reduction in glomerular hypertrophy in T1DM Ove26 mice model after long-term administration of apelin-13 (Day *et al.*, 2013). Those discoveries were in agreement with Chen *et al.*, who found that apelin reduced proteinuria, glomerular hypertrophy and mesangial expansion (Chen *et al.*, 2014). Accompanied with those ameliorative changes in the kidney structure and function, Day and colleagues showed long-term apelin-13 treatment increases anti-oxidant enzyme catalase, which is known to be downregulated in diabetic rat kidney (Day *et. al.*, 2013; Hwang *et al.*, 2012). Apelin treatment inhibits diabetes induced renal inflammation in Ove26 and Akita T1DM mice models by inhibiting inflammation pathways and histone hyperacetylation (Chen *et al.*, 2014; Day *et al.*,

2013). In summary, these studies underline that kidney protective apelin properties could be due to the stimulation of anti-oxidative processes and suppression of the chronic inflammation.

In conclusion, most of the available preclinical data are in favour of the protective role of apelin in DN development, whilst studies involving human tissues or diabetic subjects suggest the opposite. Therefore, further clinical investigations should be undertaken to clarify these inconsistencies and to establish the role of apelin in the DN pathogenesis and to investigate therapeutic potential due to the high kidney expression of apelinergic system, clinical importance of DN and elevated serum apelin levels in diabetes (Section 1.3.2.2.2.2.2).

Table 1.7 Clinical research in T2DM patients studying connection between apelinergicsystem and kidney function

Author / Year	Number (n) of participants	Finding
Coskun-Yavuz <i>et al</i> ., 2015	T2DM CKD, n=99	no significant correlation between the serum apelin 13 levels and GFR loss (<i>P</i> =0.35).
Zhang <i>et al</i> ., 2013	T2DM, n=60 NC, n=32	serum apelin was significantly higher in T2DM patients compared to NC group (<i>P</i> <0.05) urinary albumin was positively correlated with serum apelin (<i>R</i> =0.78, <i>P</i> <0.05).
Yonem <i>et al</i> ., 2009	T2DM non-DR, n=41 T2DM-NPDR, n=23 T2DM-PDR, n=15	positive correlation between apelin levels and urinary albumin/creatinine ratio
Guo <i>et al.,</i> 2015	T2DM, n=20 NC, n=20	APLNR expression was increased in kidneys of T2DM patients with DN (<i>P</i> <0.05)

Author / Year	Number (n) of participants	Finding
		Patients' survival at 83 months in
	T2DM CKD 1	groups 1, 2, and 3 was 39 %,
	(apelin ≤ 98 pg/mL) n=50	40 %, and 71.2 %, respectively
		(<i>P</i> =0.046).
	T2DM CKD 2	
Silva <i>et al.,</i> 2013	(apelin 98–328 pg/mL), n=50	Apelin levels were negatively
		correlated with cardiovascular risk
	T2DM CKD 3	factors/CV
	(apelin ≥ 329 pg/mL), n=50	mortality/hospitalisation and
		positively correlated with eGFR
		Apelin levels in the new-onset
		diabetes after transplant group
		(NODAT) were significantly
		higher than those of the non-
	T2DM-NODAT (n=47)	diabetic group (NDAT)
Nagib <i>et al</i> ., 2015	T2DM-NDAT (n=40)	(<i>P</i> <0.001).
		Serum apelin correlated
		significantly with fasting blood
		sugar and proteinuria (<i>P</i> <.001,
		<i>P</i> =.001).

CKD – Chronic Kidney Disease; T2DM – Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus; NC – Normal Control; DR – Diabetic Retinopathy; T2DM-NDR – Patients with No DR; T2DM-NPDR – T2DM Patients with Non-Proliferative DR; T2DM-PDR – T2DM Patients with Proliferative DR; T2DM-1, T2DM-2, T2DM-3 – Three Groups of Patients with T2DM with mild to moderate Diabetic Nephropathy Divided Based On Baseline Apelin Levels; eGFR – Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate; T2DM-NODAT – New-Onset T2DM Patients after Kidney Transplant; NDCAT – Nondiabetic Control After Transplant

Table 1.8 Preclinical studies in T2DM mice model and cultured podocytes suggestingthe role of apelin in promoting diabetic nephropathy and albuminuria

Author / Year	Model	Apelin treatment effect
	KkAy mice	induces podocyte dysfunction by inhibiting proteasome activities which resulted in ER stress
Guo <i>et al.,</i> 2015	cultured podocytes	increases thickness of the GFM
		Effects were reversed by the APLNR antagonist F13A
		increases permeability in glomerular endothelial cells
Zhang <i>et al</i> ., 2013	KK mice (T2DM model)	stimulates migration, proliferation, and chemotaxis of glomerular endothelial cells
		promotes angiogenesis in glomeruli to form abnormal vessels by upregulating the expression of VEGFR2 and Tie2 in glomerular endothelial cells
Liu <i>et al</i> ., 2017	KkAy mice cultured podocytes	inhibits podocyte autophagy, leading to podocyte apoptosis and renal dysfunction
		Effects were reversed with APLNR antagonist F13A

Table 1.9 Preclinical studies in T1DM and T2DM mice model suggesting Apelin-13 to be protective of diabetic nephropathy development

Author / Year	Model	Apelin treatment effect
		inhibits diabetes induced renal inflammation
Day <i>et al.,</i> 2013	Ove26 mice (T1DM model)	exerts anti-oxidative properties by upregulating kidney catalase enzyme
		decreases glomerular hypertrophy
Chan et al. 2014	Akita mice	inhibits diabetes induced renal inflammation
Chen <i>et al.,</i> 2014	(T1DM model)	decreases glomerular hypertrophy, mesangial expansion
Muller <i>et al.,</i> 2018	db/db mice (T2DM model)	abolishes the proapoptotic effect of high glucose

1.3.3.4 Diabetic neuropathy

Diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) is one of the most common chronic complications of diabetes. DPN prevalence is positively correlated with diabetes duration and severity. While 40 % of patients had DPN by 10 years, 70 % of patients have been affected by 25 years (Knopp *et al.,* 2013). DPN pathogenesis studies focus on hypoxia and metabolic theories, but has not been fully elucidated yet (Bilir *et al.,* 2016).

To date only a limited number of human studies (presented in Table 1.10) addressed the role of apelin in DPN patients. Increased apelin levels were detected in all T2DM patients. However, they were significantly higher in patients with DPN than in patients free of peripheral nerve damage (Bilir *et al.*, 2016; Hosny *et al.*, 2019; Xu *et al.*, 2021). Xu *et al.* explored the clinical significance of the serum apelin levels in DPN patients in the context of therapeutic effectiveness. They found that following any treatment (insulin *vs.* insulin combined with nutritional neurotherapy) apelin serum levels reduced, especially in the group treated with nutritional neurotherapy (Xu *et al.*, 2021).

In summary, results of these studies confirm apelin serum levels could potentially be used as a biomarker in T2DM patients with or without DPN. However, further studies with larger sample size and multi-centre design are needed to confirm these results.

Authol/ Tear	Number (n) of participants	Study finding
	T2DM, n=99	Serum apelin levels were significantly higher in all T2DM patients than healthy
	- DPN, n=46	controls (DPN group and non-DPN <i>P</i> values <0.001 and <0.001 respectively).
DIIIL Et al., 2010	- non-DPN group, n=53	
	NC, n=53	DPN group had higher apelin levels than non-DPN group (P<0.001)
	T2DM. n=60	Serum Apelin levels were significantly increased in DPN group when compared to
Hocky of al 2010	- DPN, n=30	the control group ($P<0.001$).
110311y et al., 2013	- non-DPN group, n=30	Highly significant positive correlation between serum Apelin and age, duration of
		diabetes and BMI in all subjects was noted (P < 0.001, 0.001, 0.035 respectively)
		Serum levels of apelin were higher in T2DM than those in the NC group, as well as
	T2DM, n=129	in the DPN group as compared to the non-DPN group ($P < 0.001$)
	- non-DPN, n=44	
Xu <i>et al</i> ., 2021	- DPN – A group, n=41	Serum levels of apelin in the non-DPN, DPN-A, and DPN-B groups were lower
	- DPN – B group, n=44	after treatment than before treatment (P <0.05). After treatment, serum apelin level
	NC, n=40	in the DPN-B group decreased significantly more (P <0.01) and was significantly
		lower than that of the DPN-A group (P <0.05).

Table 1.10 Overview of human studies investigating connection of apelin and diabetic peripheral neuropathy

35

1.4 Clinical use of apelin agonists and antagonists

There is an emerging consensus that the apelin pathway may be a new important target in cardiometabolic conditions (Castan-Laurell *et al.* 2011, 2012, 2021; Hu *et al.*, 2016). However, the apelin short half-life of under 5 minutes (Japp *et al.*, 2010) and the receptor desensitisation (Pope *et al.*, 2016) present a challenge not only in conducting experimental medicine studies, but are also limiting apelin drug development potential. So far, three pharmacological approaches have been identified to overcome pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of endogenous apelin peptide; development of apelin analogues with enhanced biological activity, small molecule apelin agonists and apelin receptor peptidic antagonists. Metabolically stable apelin analogues have been developed through various apelin-modifying approaches with the final effect of significantly increased half-life and enhanced biological activity *in vivo* (for full review please see Huang *et al.*, 2018). Other non-peptidic agonists, small molecules do not effectively recruit β -arrestins and are therefore limiting apelin receptor desensitisation and downregulation. Apelin receptor antagonists bind to the apelin receptor and block apelin actions (Castan Laurell *et al.*, 2019; Chapman *et al.*, 2021).

1.5 ELA – second endogenous ligand activating APLNR

Two independent research groups using zebrafish model have identified new peptide Elabela/Toddler to be the second ligand activating APLNR receptor (Chng *et al.*, 2013; Pauli *et al.*, 2014). As the research group who reported the discovery first named the peptide Elabela (Chng *et al.*, 2013), then the name Elabela (or shortened ELA) has been assigned for future use by the International Union of Pharmacology, Human Genome Organisation and Gene Nomenclature Committee. Name APELA (**AP**elin receptor **E**arly endogenous **L**ig**A**nd) was assigned for the gene encoding this peptide (Read *et al.*, 2019).

Chromosome 4 located Apela gene is translated into a 54-amino acid peptide, further degraded by furin enzyme to mature 32 amino acid isoform ELA-32. ELA-32 is further cleaved by furin into ELA-21, ELA-11 (Chng *et al.*, 2013; Pauli *et al.*, 2014) and more recently discovered ELA-22 (Murza *et al.*, 2016). ELA-11 has been observed endogenously in embryos (Pauli *et al.*, 2014). The C-terminal sequence of ELA peptides is well conserved between species, suggesting its critical position for biological function.

Interestingly, despite binding the same APLNR receptor, ELA is less efficacious than apelin in inducing the β -arrestin recruitment, providing a biased functional aspect of ELA *versus* apelin at the receptor signaling level (Zhang *et al.*, 2022). Until recently, ELA half-life was considered to be very short, measuring few minutes (Murza *et al.*, 2016). However, Nymanu et al. (2021)

measured ELA-32 kidney and plasma half-life of 44.2±3 and 47.2±5.7 minutes respectively in mass spectroscopy analyses of plasma and human kidney homogenates (Nyimanu *et al.,* 2021).

ELA is mainly involved in embryonic development, but evidence is growing for Elabela to be involved in physiological and pathophysiological conditions in adulthood (Zheng *et al.*, 2021).

APLNR ligands ELA and apelin (described under Section 1.3.1.4) have different tissue distributions. ELA mRNA is downregulated upon embryonic differentiation and development, with highest expression in the blastocysts (Ho *et al.*, 2015). ELA is highly expressed in pluripotent embryonic stem cells and regulates endoderm differentiation and heart development in zebrafish embryos. Upon either ELA or APLNR deletion, similar cardiac embryogenesis defects (lack of hearts) were observed, which suggested ELA to be second APLNR endogenous ligand. These discoveries underlined role of ELA in the embryogenic development of the cardiovascular system (Chng *et al.*, 2013; Pauli *et al.*, 2014). *In vitro* experiments showed ELA-APLNR signalling pathway is functional in the mammalian system where ELA likely serves as a hormone regulating the circulation system in adulthood as well as in embryonic development (Wang *et al.*, 2015).

In adults, Elabela has beneficial physiological effects on body fluid homeostasis, cardiovascular health and renal insufficiency, as well as potential benefits for metabolism and diabetes (for full review please address Zhang *et al.*, 2018b). The adult tissues ELA has been identified in are human kidney, prostate (Chng *et al.*, 2013; Wang *et al.*, 2015), endothelium of arteries and veins, heart and lungs (Yang P. *et al.*, 2017b).

In preclinical healthy adult rat model ELA increases cardiac contractility and induces coronary artery vasodilation (Perjés *et al.* 2016; Yang *et al.* 2017b). *Ex vivo*, ELA stimulates angiogenesis and induces relaxation of mouse aortic vessels (*Wang et al.*, 2015). In isolated hearts and in anaesthetised rats, ELA induces positive inotropic effects and decreases MAP (Coquerel *et al.*, 2017; Murza *et al.*, 2016). In pressure-overload mice model of HF, chronic ELA infusion showed attenuatation in myocardial hypertrophy and fibrosis (Sato *et al.*, 2017).

In T1DM mice model ELA treatment was observed to induce cardio protective effects and showed SIRT3-mediated Foxo3a deacetylation reduction in oxidative stress, inflammation, fibrosis and apoptosis (Li *et al.*, 2021).

Even more than apelin, administration of ELA in rats increases diuresis and thirst without affecting food intake (Deng et al., 2015; Murza et al., 2016). Studies in T1DM mice model have shown that Elabela administration reduces renal inflammation and fibrosis and is leading to renal function improvement by promoting podocyte survival (Zhang *et al.*, 2019).

ELA is secreted at high levels in the adult human healthy kidney, where it is highly expressed in renal collecting ducts and loops. It functions to maintain water and sodium homeostasis and is playing an important role in the pathogenesis of kidney diseases (Zheng *et al.*, 2021). To date, only two observational studies evaluated the relationship between serum ELA levels and albuminuria in patients with T2DM and diabetic nephropathy (DN) (Zhang *et al.*, 2018a; Onalan et al., 2020). First Zhang et al. (2018a), showed in 80 T2DM patients that ELA serum levels stand in a negative correlation with urine albuminuria (P<0.001). Further research by Onalan *et al.* (2020), conducted in healthy (n=50) and in T2DM patients (n=100) showed that ELA levels gradually decreases through stages of microalbuminuria and macroalbuminuria in T2DM patients compared to healthy individuals. Those results are suggesting that ELA measurements level should be further investigated, as they could be monitored as clinical biomarker for progression and treatment of DN (Onalan *et al.*, 2020).

The effect of ELA in the context of adipose tissue remains unclear and requires further preclinical research (Kolodziejskij *et al.*, 2021).

1.6 Rationale and overarching study hypotheses and aims

1.6.1 Rationale for studies

Following encouraging results in preclinical animal work, there have been a small number of conducted metabolic and cardiovascular *in vivo* human research studies, which have highlighted apelin as a potential novel alternative therapeutic in the conditions of insulin resistance and heart failure (Sections 1.3.2.1.2 and 1.3.2.2.2.1).

Results of those experimental medicine studies suggested that targeting apelin signalling pathways can ultimately achieve the dual outcome of both improving glycaemic control and cardiovascular function. T2DM patients may benefit from improved glucose homeostasis, increased cardiac output and apelin mediated vasodilatation, ultimately leading to enhanced nutrient tissue delivery through improved vascular haemodynamics.

Apelin as a naturally occurring peptide hormone is considered safe for parenteral use due to the short plasma half-life (Section 1.3.1.3.2), without reported side-effects in previously conducted human clinical studies in both healthy volunteers and importantly patients with cardiovascular disease (Sections 1.3.2.1.2 and 1.3.2.2.2.1).

1.6.2 General study hypotheses

Apelin is a potent inotrope and vasodilator in the human cardiovascular system with insulin sensitising properties (Sections 1.3.2.1.2 and 1.3.2.2.2.1) and the apelin receptor represents a potential target for drug intervention in T2DM patients. That will be tested through the following hypotheses:

- intravenously infused [Pyr¹]apelin-13 will be safe and tolerable in increasing doses tested in healthy volunteers
- 2. intravenously infused [Pyr¹]apelin-13 will increase cardiac index (CI) in healthy volunteers, participants with increased BMI and T2DM patients
- 3. intravenously infused [Pyr¹]apelin-13 will increase insulin sensitivity in participants with increased BMI and T2DM patients

These hypothesis will be tested in proof-of-concept studies by systemic infusions of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 for two hours to test safety/tolerability and to detect potential cardiovascular and metabolic actions.

1.6.3 General study aims

Aims of the studies were to:

- 1. test proposed study methods in the pilot studies in healthy volunteers
- test safety and tolerability of increasing [Pyr¹]apelin-13 doses in healthy volunteers, participants with increased BMI and T2DM patients
- 3. determine [Pyr¹]apelin-13 doses likely to produce cardiometabolic effects in participants with increased BMI and T2DM patients
- investigate the systemic effects of intravenous [Pyr¹]apelin-13 on cardiac index, blood glucose levels and insulin sensitivity in healthy volunteers, participants with increased BMI and T2DM patients

Chapter 2:

Methods

2.1 Study design

2.1.1 Ethical and regulatory considerations

An application was made to the local Regional Ethics Committee (REC) for a number of studies (IRAS ID 230996) investigating safety, metabolic and cardiovascular effects of intravenously infused [Pyr¹]apelin-13. This research project did not constitute a Clinical Trial of Investigational Medicinal Product (CTIMP) as defined by the EU Directive 2001/20/EC and ethical and regulatory steps have been completed accordingly. The study was registered on Clinicaltrials.gov (NCT03449251) and performed in accordance with declaration of Helsinki and conditions and principles of Good Clinical practice (GCP).

2.1.2 Outline of study design

The project (DEFINE study) was designed as a single-center, saline controlled, randomized experimental medicine study. DEFINE study consisted of three consecutive sub-studies (in further text referred as Study 1, 2 and 3) conducted in three groups of participants; healthy participants, participants with increased BMI (in overweight and class I obese category; see 2.2.2.1) and participants diagnosed with Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). These studies were completed in full within 12 months and are described in Chapters 3, 4 and 5.

2.1.2.1 DEFINE Study 1 – Dose ranging, open label pilot study to investigate [Pyr¹]apelin-13 safety and tolerability in healthy participants

Study 1 was designed to examine safety and tolerability of intravenously infused [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in escalating doses in healthy participants, with the aim to define the highest dose threshold for Studies 2 and 3. Study 1 comprised a screening visit (Visit 1), four dosing visits (Visit 2–5) and a phone call follow up visit (Visit 6). On four separate dosing visits each participant was infused with increasing doses of [Pyr¹]apelin-13; 30, 90 and 135 nmol/min and normal saline (placebo) as shown in Figure 3.1 (Chapter 3). Selection of tested doses will be explained in Section 3.1.2. Study 1 results were used to decide on the [Pyr¹]apelin-13 doses (30, 90, 135 nmol/min) subsequently used in Studies 2 and 3.

2.1.2.2 DEFINE Studies 2 and 3 – Systemic, randomized, double blind studies in participants with increased body mass index (BMI) and Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM)

In Studies 2 and 3 we examined dose dependent cardiac and metabolic actions of intravenously infused [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in participants with increased BMI (Study 2) and T2DM patients (Study 3) as is shown in Figure 2.1 and explained in Sections 2.4.2.2 and 2.4.3.5.

Protocol for Studies 2 and 3 will be described in detail in Figures 4.1 and 5.1.

Figure 2.1 Schematic representation of Studies 2 and 3 involving participants with increased BMI and T2DM



All participants attended 4 randomized, double blind visits and received either [Pyr¹]apelin-13 or 0.9 % saline control (placebo) on Visit 2 and 3 (for measurement of cardiovascular parameters), followed by [Pyr¹]apelin-13 or 0.9 % saline control (placebo) after mixed meal tolerance test (MMTT) on Visit 4 and 5 (for measurement of metabolic parameters).

The results from Study 2 were used to decide which [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose was subsequently used in Study 3. Study 3 followed the same design of visits and randomization as for Study 2.

2.1.3 Methods of blinding and emergency unblinding

Study 1 was a safety study, therefore open-label and both participant and myself (study doctor) were aware whether [Pyr¹]apelin-13 or a placebo were infused on the visit.

In Studies 2 and 3 participants and myself (study doctor) were blinded to the infusion prepared by the trained nurse and [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the placebo appeared identical at the point of administration. In the case of an adverse event (AE) that required knowledge of the infusion, it was the responsibility of the principal investigator or myself to unblind the participant and to promptly document and explain the unblinding to the Sponsor and also to provide appropriate management of the participant.

2.1.4 Study stopping criteria

An individual visit was to be terminated early if the participant wished to do so for any reason. Also, I as the study doctor, could terminate the visit if there was evidence of significant clinical deterioration. The DEFINE study was to be terminated early in the event of a severe serious adverse effect (SAR) linked to the [Pyr¹]apelin-13.

2.2. Study participants

2.2.1 Participants recruitment

Participants were recruited on an outpatient basis and were identified by their treating clinicians in clinics, or from existing research databases where available. Advertisements were also used and placed in hospital waiting rooms, in public areas within the Cambridge University Hospital (CUH), Cambridge University and local community, nearby GP surgeries, radio, internal and external websites, and distributed via email. The study was also promoted through word of mouth.

2.2.2 Inclusion, exclusion criteria and participants study restrictions

2.2.2.1 Inclusion Criteria

Studies were conducted in three groups of participants; healthy (Study 1), overweight/class I obese (Study 2) and in those diagnosed with T2DM (Study 3).

The selection of study participants was defined according to the BMI, waist diameter, percentage of total body fat measurements and relevant medical history, all of which will be described in Sections 3.4, 4.4 and 5.4. All participants were current non-smokers, aged 18 to

70 years, male or female. Those female participants of child-bearing potential were asked to use adequate contraception and checked to have negative pregnancy test performed at the beginning of each visit.

Study 1 participants were required to have a BMI in range 18.0–27 kg/m² with either waist circumference lower than 88 centimetres (35 inches) for women and 102 cm (40 inches) for men, and/or body fat percentage less than 32 % for women and 25 % for men. Participants in Study 2 had increased BMI to match WHO criteria for overweight (BMI 25–29.9 kg/m²) and within the class 1 obesity category (BMI 30–34.9 kg/m²), but were otherwise healthy. The BMI was within the range of 25–34.9 kg/m² with either waist circumference higher than 88cm (35 inches) for women or 102 cm (40 inches) for men, and/or body fat levels in excess of 32 % for women and 25 % for men. Participants were invited to take part in Study 3 only if they had documented diagnosis of T2DM and were either diet controlled or treated with oral antihyperglycemic therapy, with BMI measured 18–34.9 kg/m².

2.2.2.2 Exclusion Criteria

The absence of significant abnormalities in clinical examination and blood results was systematically required in addition to normal baseline cardiovascular parameters.

Unless documented with T2DM in Study 3, all participants were free of known chronic diseases relevant to the studies.

2.2.3 Participant study duration

Participants were required to attend one screening visit (Visit 1 - V1), four dosing visits (Visit 2 - Visit 5) and to be contacted over telephone for follow up visit (Visit 6). Screening and dosing visits were organized at mutual convenience of the participant and study team in accordance with the availability of study facilities, either in consecutive days or up to 28 days after the previous visit. A final follow-up phone call (Visit 6) was made to the participants 24–48 hours after their last dosing visit to assess AEs. Each screening visit lasted 1 hour and dosing visit up to 4 hours.

2.2.4 Participant withdrawal criteria and completion of the study

It was within the remit of the study doctor to withdraw a participant for appropriate medical reasons, individual AEs or if new information was gained about the compound of interest or study related procedures. Study participants that had been withdrawn from the study received a follow-up telephone call within 24–48 hours of their last attendance. Participants were considered completed if they finished all study visits, including the follow-up visit.

2.3 Study treatment

2.3.1 Route of study treatment administration

[Pyr¹]apelin-13 or a placebo infusion was administered for two hours by means of venous cannula inserted in the antecubital or hand veins of either right or left arms, at a steady infusion rate 1 ml/min (Alaris GH syringe pump).

Figure 2.2 Alaris GH syringe pump was used in all studies for intravenous infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 peptide or placebo



2.3.2 [Pyr1]apelin-13

[Pyr¹]apelin-13 used for clinical studies was custom synthesized by Severn Biotech Ltd. (Kidderminster, UK).

Peptides were synthesized to Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) standard by Severn Biotech, Kidderminster, UK using Fmoc chemistry on a solid phase support matrix. They were over >95 % pure (confirmed with mass spectroscopy and reverse phase high pressure liquid chromatography; RP-HPLC), tested and confirmed to be sterile and pyrogen free by Wickham Laboratories Ltd., Gosport, UK. The peptides were supplied in sealed glass vials as white powder and stored at -40 °C. Each batch was tested to confirm biological activity by constructing a concentration response curve and EC₅₀ values calculated (Eurofins DiscoverX) in β -arrestin assay. On the study day, [Pyr¹]apelin-13 was allowed to warm to room temperature and was diluted as per protocol with normal saline to produce stock solutions,

which were then filtered using a 0.2 micron Portex flat filter (Portex, UK) before undergoing serial dilutions with normal saline to prepare infusion. Dilutions and infusion preparation were conducted by a delegated member of the study team (nurse) in an open label (Study 1) or double-blind randomized manner (Study 2 and Study 3) in accordance with the study protocol (see 2.1.2 and 2.1.3). Once prepared, [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion was stable at the room temperature.

2.3.3 Normal saline

On visits in which [Pyr¹]apelin-13 was not scheduled, participants received normal saline as a non-active placebo treatment.

2.4 Study procedures and assessments

All study related procedures and assessments were carried out by clinically and GCP trained staff on clinical research units; Addenbrooke's Centre for Clinical Investigation and Cambridge Clinical Research Centre of CUH.

2.4.1 Participant identification, information sheet and consent form

Prior to any study specific activity was performed, it was ensured that each participant had access to a Participant Information Sheet (PIS) for at least 24 hours and to read it carefully before signing the Informed Consent form (ICF). Both the ICF and PIS were in compliance with regulatory and legal requirements, approved by the REC and they ensured each participant was fully informed about the nature of peptide, objectives of the study and possible risks associated with their participation. After consenting, participants were allocated a unique participant identification number (Participant ID), which was used for their identification throughout the study. The voluntary nature of participation and the ability to withdraw an individual's consent at any time was reiterated at each visit and participants were provided with a contact number on the PIS to be enabled to ask any questions or to get in touch at any time. Participants communicated with the research team at study visits, over the telephone or mobile, e-mail or in writing. Communication with participants was clearly documented in the participant's notes.

2.4.2 Schedule of assessments

Summary of screening and dosing visit assessments is shown in Figure 2.3.

2.4.2.1 Screening visit assessments

The screening visit (Visit 1) included medical history review, physical examination, anthropometric measurements, blood analyses and ECG to determine eligibility.

Randomization in Studies 2 and 3 took place once eligibility was confirmed, prior to the first dosing visit.

2.4.2.2 Dosing visits assessments

Participants attended four dosing visits (Visit 2–5) on separate days in duration of 4 hours per visit, to receive intravenous infusions of either [Pyr¹]apelin-13 or a placebo, as shown in Figures 2.1 and 3.1. All study visits were organized in a quiet, temperature controlled (23–25 °C) room for the duration of the study. Twenty-four hours prior to dosing visits participants were asked not to take any anti-inflammatory medications, alcohol or caffeine. On the day of the study, they could have attended fasted or had a light breakfast at least 4 hours before the visit. Cardiovascular parameters (visits 2 and 3) and metabolic parameters (visit 4 and 5) in an individual, were measured at the same time of the day to reduce variability. Participants were instructed to withhold their regular medications on the study day.

Before the infusion was started, each participant's medical history, concomitant medications, and AEs were reviewed. After the participant was lying down and feeling comfortable in a supine position, the study doctor performed brief physical examination followed by 12 lead ECG recording and cannulation of both arms to establish venous access for blood sampling and infusion. Two venous cannulas (18–22 gauge) were inserted into bilateral large antecubital or hand veins for peptide infusion and sampling of venous blood in the opposite arm to the infusion site.

During a two-hour long infusion, venous blood samples, vital signs, point of care (POC) capillary glucose and cardiovascular hemodynamic measurements were taken at predefined times whilst cardiac telemetry recording was continuous. Details of the predefined time points for Studies 1, 2 and 3 dosing assessments are shown in Figures 3.2 and 4.2. Some of the visits in Studies 2 and 3 included MMTT, as was shown in Figure 2.1 and explained in Section 2.4.3.5.

Post infusion participants had their 12 lead ECG recorded before being offered lunch and regular medicines, if not taken on the study morning.





Figure 2.4 Demonstration of the study setting.



With permission of Dr James Goodman and Mrs Annette Hubsch (in the Figure)

2.4.3 Description of study related procedures and assessments

2.4.3.1 Anthropometric measurements

Each participant's weight, height, waist circumference and percentage of body fat was assessed on the screening visit (Visit 1) as part of the eligibility criteria assessment.

Body fat percentage and weight were measured by body composition weight scale (Tanita MC-780MA P; Amsterdam, Netherlands), whilst height was measured by standard tape and expressed in SI units.

The Tanita scale utilises bioelectrical impedance analysis to measure body composition. The scale sends an imperceptible electrical current through the body. Muscle, fat, bone and water conduct electricity at different resistance rates, which are then measured by the scale. The body composition scale processes this information combined with data such as gender, age and height. After calculations are made very quickly, it can tell a lot of details about the composition of the body as body fat percentage as well as BMI calculated as weight in kilograms divided by square of height in meters; BMI=kg/m².

Figure 2.5 Tanita scale



Participant is holding the handles and standing on Tanita scale. Following data input (gender and height) the scale calculates body weight, body fat percentage and BMI.

2.4.3.2 Venous samples for blood analysis

Venous blood samples were collected by venepuncture or through venous cannula per standard protocol before being processed at Clinical Biochemistry and Core Biochemical Assay Laboratory of CUH.

On screening visits (Visit 1), samples for full blood count (FBC), renal and liver function and glycosylated hemoglobin (Hba1c) were analysed as part of the inclusion criteria.

On dosing visits (Visits 2–5) participant blood samples were taken throughout the study at predefined times during the infusion (at baseline, 15, 30, 45, 60, 75, 90, 105 minutes and at the end of the infusion) (Figure 3.2 and 4.2). Blood samples for insulin, C peptide and apelin were drawn into lithium heparin tubes and kept on ice before centrifugation (7 minutes at 4–8 °C, 4000 revolutions per minute). Platelet-free plasma was decanted and stored at -70 °C before measurements of insulin, C peptide and apelin were made. Insulin and C peptide were measured by sandwich chemiluminescence immunoassay (DiaSorin Ltd, Saluggia, Italy), and apelin by competitive enzyme immunoassay (EIA) RedDot Biotech Human Apelin assay (Stratech Ltd). Glucose samples were drawn into serum separating tubes. Samples processed and analysed on the day of the study were FBC and glucose.

2.4.3.3 Point of care (POC) capillary blood glucose monitoring

Tests were performed for additional safety blood sugar (glucose) testing throughout dosing visit infusions at predefined times. The condition where blood glucose is lower than normal is called hypoglycaemia, defined usually at blood glucose level of less than 3.9 millimoles per litre (mmol/L). Hyperglycaemia, the state of blood glucose being higher than normal is usually defined as higher than 7mmol/L before eating and 8.5–9 mmol/L two hours after a meal. Samples were taken by standard finger prick testing and analysed with a standard blood glucose meter (Accu-Check glucose monitor, Roche, France).

2.4.3.4 Urine pregnancy test

Testing for pregnancy was performed in female participants if participant was of child bearing age (Invitech, Guangzhou Wondfo Biotech CO., Ltd) on the screening visit and before every dosing visit.

2.4.3.5 Mixed Meal Tolerance Test (MMTT)

A Mixed Meal Tolerance Test (MMTT) was used in Studies 2 and 3 as a dietary challenge (mixed meal [MM] challenge) to compare changes in postprandial secretion of glucose, insulin and C peptide in two treatment groups ([Pyr¹]apelin-13 or a placebo) on Visit 4 and 5. Volunteers were provided with a standardized 125ml shake drink (Fortisip Compact vanilla flavor; Nutricia Ltd.) which contains a mixture of 37.1 g carbohydrate, 11.6 g fat and 12 g of protein. The drink was consumed within a 5-minute period and blood samples for glucose, insulin and C peptide were collected at baseline before the drink was consumed and at predefined time intervals throughout infusion. The meal induces a raise in blood glucose, which leads to pancreatic beta cells insulin release, which subsequently causes a raise in the insulin degradation product C peptide. Analyses were made to detect postprandial changes in metabolic parameters and to obtain conclusions of changes in insulin sensitivity.

Figure 2.6 Fortisip compact used as a mixed meal challenge in Studies 2 and 3



2.4.3.6 Infusion

[Pyr¹]apelin-13 or normal saline (placebo) were administered as described under 2.3.1 and 2.1.3

2.4.3.7 Cardiovascular measurements and recordings

2.4.3.7.1 ECG measurements

Standard 12-lead electrocardiogram (ECG) recordings were taken at the screening visit, before the start and at the end of each dosing visit.

2.4.3.7.2 Cardiac telemetry

Cardiac telemetry is a portable device that continually monitors patient ECG while automatically transmitting information to a central monitor. Continuous ECG recording was performed throughout the whole 120-minute infusion period and reviewed after each dosing visit completion to ensure safety.

2.4.3.7.3 Vital signs (blood pressure and heart rate)

Blood pressure and heart rate were measured using a semi-automated oscillometric sphygmomanometer (Omron 705IT, Japan) shown below on Figure 2.7 at pre-defined times during the study. Measurements of systolic and diastolic blood pressure (SBP and DBP respectively) were used to calculate mean arterial pressure (MAP). MAP is the average pressure in the arteries during one cardiac cycle, with normal range 70–105 mmHg. It was calculated as the sum of doubled DBP and SBP divided by 3:

 $MAP = (SBP + 2 \times DSP) \div 3$

Figure 2.7 Figure shows automated heart pressure and heart rate Omron device


2.4.3.7.4 Non-invasive measurement of cardiac output (CO)

Measurements of cardiac parameters were obtained noninvasively by taking measurements with a gas rebreathing method – Innocor[®] and standard bioimpedance approach (Cheetah, NICOM). The cardiovascular parameters that were recorded or calculated were cardiac output (CO), stroke volume (SV), cardiac index (CI), stroke volume index (SVI), heart rate (HR) and peripheral vascular resistance (PVR).

Cardiac output is the volume of blood that the heart pumps per minute. It is calculated by multiplying the stroke volume (SV) and heart rate (HR). The normal range for CO is 4–8 L/min but this can vary from person to person. Stroke volume (SV) is the volume of blood pumped out of the heart in one beat usually ranging 60–100 ml/beat. It is determined by preload, cardiac contractility and afterload.

Preload is the amount of ventricular stretch at the end of diastole. Afterload is known as peripheral vascular resistance (PVR) which reflects the changes in arterioles and is the amount of resistance the heart must overcome to open the aortic valve and push the blood into systemic circulation. PVR was calculated as MAP divided by CO and multiplied by 80. Normal PVR is 700 to 1500 dynes/sec/cm⁻⁵.

Cardiac index (CI) is an assessment of the CO value based on participant's body surface area (BSA) and is calculated by dividing CO and BSA. Normal range is 2.5–4 L/min/m². Body surface area measures the total surface area of the body and is defined by the Mosteller formula which is a square root of multiplied weight measured in kilograms and height measured in centimetres and divided by 3600.

$$CI (L/min/m^2) = CO (L/min) \div BSA (m^2)$$

Stroke volume index (SVI) is the volume of blood in millilitres (mI) pumped by the heart with each beat divided by the BSA, usually 33–47 ml/m²/beat.

2.4.3.7.4.1 Gas rebreathing method – Innocor®

Innocor gas rebreathing method (Innovision A/S, Odense, Denmark) measures the levels of two inert gases in the participant's mouth over the course of about six breaths and by detecting changes in these gas concentrations calculates CO, CI and SV (Middlemiss *et al.*, 2019).

The rebreathing bag is prefilled with an O_2 enriched mixture typically containing 0.5 % nitrous oxide (N₂O) as inert blood soluble and 0.1 % sulphur hexafluoride (SF₆) as inert blood insoluble gas. Levels of these gases are measured continuously in the participant's mouth by a fast-responding infrared gas analyser inside Innocor[®].

The method relies on the principle that the concentration of the soluble gas (N₂O) falls during rebreathing due to solution of the gas in blood and lung tissue. Rate of its disappearance from the alveolar space is then proportional to the flow of blood perfusing the ventilated parts of the lungs (effective pulmonary blood flow). This is equal to the CO in the absence of a significant intrapulmonary shunt. The blood insoluble gas (SF₆) is measured to determine the lung volume from which the soluble gas disappears. Since the volume of the breathing bag is known, the total lung volume can be determined from the dilution of the insoluble gas.

Participants were lying supine with their head supported by pillows in a quiet, temperature controlled (23–25 °C) room for the duration of the study. A pulse oximeter probe was placed on the left index finger, nose clip on participant's nose and whilst measurements were taken a mouth piece was inserted (Figure 2.8 a). Participants were asked to take deep breaths at a normal respiratory rate (around 20 breaths/per minute) guided by the speed indicator shown on the screen. Once an adequate breathing rhythm was achieved, measurements were taken for the following six breaths ensuring that the bag was completely emptied by each breath.

The method was solely used in Study 1, the reasons for which will be explained under the Section 3.8. CO, CI and SV were measured at baseline and then every 30 minutes until the end of infusion.

Figure 2.8 Figure shows methods used for non-invasive measurements of cardiac output.



a) Participant using Innocor gas rebreathing method. Courtesy of Dr Carmel McEniery



b) Placement of Cheetah sensors and Starling SV monitor in bioreactance-based CO measurements. Pictures were selected from Cheetah manual provided with equipment

2.4.3.7.4.2 Bioreactance-based noninvasive CO measurement

The Cheetah NICOM Reliant System version 5.2 (Cheetah Medical Ltd, Tel Aviv, Israel) was used for all three Studies. It is a portable, non-invasive continuous hemodynamic monitoring device based on the principle of bioreactance. The system is comprised of Cheetah Sensors[™] (in further text sensors) and a Starling SV monitor (in further text monitor) as shown in Figure 2.8 b.

The sensors have double-electrodes, which carry out two simultaneous roles. At first, they deliver the low amplitude alternating current induced by the monitor. The second sensor role is to detect changes in voltages after the current passes through the thorax. The monitor detects the time delay between input and output using a phase detector.

This standard bioimpedance approach relies on detecting changes in electrical impedance to the passage of a low electrical current of known amplitude within the thorax to measure the change in voltage at the receiving electrodes. Both blood and body tissue impede electrical current, but the volume and impedance of the solid tissues remains constant during the cardiac cycle. The volume of thoracic fluid (mostly in the aorta and other intrathoracic large arteries), however, changes with each cardiac beat. Changes in intrathoracic fluid volume change both bioimpedance and bioreactance. Transthoracic impedance is the change in amplitude of applied voltage and bioreactance is the time delay (or phase shift) between applied signal relative to the received signal, which correlates with stroke volume and cardiac output (Keren *et al.,* 2007).

After these signals are analyzed, the computer measures HR and calculates SV and CO, whilst by using height and weight it calculates body surface area used for CI and SVI measurements.

As described in Section 2.4.2.2 volunteers were asked to lie supine with their head supported by pillows in a quiet, temperature controlled (23–25 °C). Four single use prewired sensors with symmetrical right-left placement were used in each study and placed following the manufacturer's guidance; two upper sensors were positioned above the heart, on the right and left supraclavicular, whilst two lower ones were positioned below the heart, on right and left costal margins (Figure 2.8 b). During automatic calibration subjects were asked to remain still and quiet. Following calibration, the NICOM recorded cardiac parameters at as an average 1-minute intervals–for the duration of the study. Each measurement was the mean of the preceding one-minute data.

The parameters recorded by Cheetah Nicom were CO, CI, SV, SVI and HR. Haemodynamic recordings in the resting state started 20 minutes prior to the infusion start and were taken at 10-minute intervals. In Study 1 recordings were done at baseline and 30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes into the infusion, whilst in Studies 2 and 3 after baseline, measurements were continued at 5 minutes intervals in the first hour and 15-minute intervals in the second hour.

2.5 Assessment of safety

An assessment of safety was done throughout the study based on clinical review and collected laboratory and hemodynamic parameters, from the point of participant signing the Informed Consent, regardless of whether a participant has yet received any treatment.

Adverse event (AE) and serious adverse events (SAE) were defined per standard GCP definitions and monitored and recorded throughout the study.

2.6 Data handling

All data were transferred into a Case Report Form which were anonymized and completed by myself (study doctor) and kept for the records together with original signed informed consent, medical records, 12 lead ECG, blood results (electronic or paper) and sample logs.

2.7 Statistical analyses

2.7.1 Sample size

Statistical power calculations were used to determine the sample sizes for Studies 2 and 3 in order to test the hypothesis in a sufficiently powered cohort.

2.7.1.1 Study 1

This was a series of dose ranging pilot studies to dissect tolerability and safety in three [Pyr¹]apelin-13 doses, therefore, no formal sample size calculation was performed. Sample size of 6 participants was guided by results and safety observations of previous research (Japp *et al.*, 2008; Japp *et al.*, 2010; Barnes *et al.*, 2013; Gourdy *et al.*, 2018).

2.7.1.2 Study 2

Sample size power calculations were based on previously published work (Japp, *et al.*, 2010). A sample size of 8 participants was calculated to enter this 2-treatment study with 92 percent probability that the study will detect 0.5 L/min/m² increase in CI with standard deviation of 0.25 L/min/m² at a two-sided 0.05 significance level. Study sample size was increased to a total of 9 participants in each dose group (18 in total) to ensure quantity of data are sufficient if a participant does not complete the study.

2.7.1.3 Study 3

Sample size of 9 participants was chosen to match sample size described under Study 2 (2.7.1.2).

2.7.2 Data analysis

Data were recorded in a blinded fashion for Studies 2 and 3 and unblinded for Study 1. An interim analysis of data was performed after Study 1 and Study 2 to assess the effects of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and to determine the doses to be used in subsequent studies. Student performed the data analysis under guidance of Dr Kaisa Maki Petaja. Analyses were done when each study was completed and unblinded (in Studies 2 and 3). Values were log transformed before statistical analyses if not normally distributed. Shapiro-Wilk test and normality plots (Q-Q) were used to determine the distribution of the data. N was the number of participants. Variables are reported as mean±SE and analysed with 2-way repeated measures ANOVA using SPSS version 26 (IBM, New York, USA) with *posthoc* Bonferroni corrections and independent 2-tailed Student's t-test to compare differences between groups of subjects. Statistical significance was taken at the 5 % level.

2.8 Supervision and collaboration

Study has been conducted in collaboration of AstraZeneca and EMI (Experimental medicine and immunotherapeutics) at Cambridge University Hospital. Student (Dr Petra Sulentic) designed clinical study protocol and has undertaken necessary regulatory submissions (Section 2.1.1) under supervison of Prof. Anthony Davenport (academic supervisor), Dr Joseph Cheryian (clinical research supervisor) and Dr Phil Ambery (industry supervisor). As Student had to be blinded to the treatment, she has been supported by nursing staff in the Unit, who prepared study treatment for each dosing visit. Dr Janet Maguire and Dr Kaisa Maki Petaja advised Student towards the choice of statistical methods so Student could perform the analyses (Sections 2.7.2, 4.5 and 5.5). Venous blood samples have been analysed by Clinical Pathology and Core Biochemical Assay Laboratory at Cambridge University Hospital (Section 2.4.3.2). Chapter 3:

Study 1 – Pilot, open label, dose ranging study to investigate safety and tolerability of increasing doses of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in healthy volunteers

3.1 Background

3.1.1 Safety and tolerability of infused apelin peptide in clinical studies

A number of pre-clinical animal studies and human *in vitro* research identified the potential therapeutic roles of naturally occurring apelin peptide in the human cardiovascular system and in glucose homeostasis (described in detail in Section 1.3.2). To date, only a limited number of human *in vivo* interventional studies have been conducted, as listed in Table 1.1.

Apelin has been used in both Forearm Blood Flow (FBF) and systemic studies by ourselves (Brame *et al.*, 2015; Yang *et al.*, 2017) and other research groups (Japp *et al.*, 2010; Barnes *et al.*, 2013) as previously shown in Table 1.1. These studies confirmed apelin has a short half-life of less than 5 minutes (Japp *et al.*, 2010; Barnes *et al.*, 2013) (Section 1.3.1.3.2). Apelin administration was reported to be safe, without adverse effects in either HF patients or healthy participants in both FBF and systemic short-term and long-term infusions (Japp *et al.*, 2008; Japp *et al.*, 2010; Barnes *et al.*, 2013; Brame *et al.*, 2015, Gourdy *et al.*, 2018).

Apelin dose ranges in previous FBF studies were 0.3–100 nmol/min infused over 6 minutes (Brame *et al.*, 2015; Japp *et al.*, 2010; Barnes *et al.*, 2013). Doses used in systemic cardiovascular human studies ranged from 30–300 nmol/min administered over 5 to 10 minutes for each dose, and 30 nmol/min over a prolonged 6-hours infusion (Japp *et al.*, 2010; Barnes *et al.*, 2013). [Pyr¹]apelin-13 doses used in hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp were 9 nmol/kg and 30 nmol/kg administered through intravenous continuous infusion at the constant rate of 75 and 250 pmol/kg/min respectively during 2 hours (Gourdy *et al.*, 2018).

3.1.2 Study 1 dose testing approach

We predicted that an infusion duration of 2 hours would be sufficient not only to detect changes in cardiovascular parameters, but also to produce changes in insulin sensitivity.

The proposed Study 1 dose testing approach was designed to use initial concentrations of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 at 30 nmol/min for the first dose. This falls within the range previously shown to exert cardiovascular effects and to be safe (Barnes *et al.*, 2013). The second [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose tested in Study 1 was planned at 90 nmol/min, representing equivalent to the cumulative dose of peptide administered in the Barnes studies with 30 nmol/min over 6 hours (Barnes *et al.*, 2013). If dosing remained within the safety protocol criteria, the [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose on the third dosing visit was planned to be increased by 50 % to 135 nmol/min.

This was the first in man study to examine safety and tolerability of prolonged 2 hour systemic [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion in the highest doses reported to date in healthy participants.

3.2 Study aims, objectives and endpoints

3.2.1 Study aims

Study 1 aim was to test the proposed study methods, estimate the safety and tolerability of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in three increasing doses in healthy volunteers and to determine the [Pyr¹]apelin-13 doses likely to produce cardiometabolic effects in Studies 2 and 3.

3.2.2 Study objectives

The Study objective was to define a range of safe and tolerable doses of intravenous [Pyr¹]apelin-13 which may have an effect on glucose homeostasis and cardiovascular physiology.

3.2.3 Study endpoints

The Study endpoints after infusion of [Pyr1]apelin-13 were to detect:

- 1. Changes in parameters evaluating safety and tolerability including BP, HR, POC glucose, ECG, cardiac telemetry
- 2. Changes in markers of glucose homeostasis including glucose, C-peptide, insulin
- 3. Changes in parameters of cardiovascular haemodynamics including cardiac index measured by gas rebreathing method and bioreactance

3.3 Study hypothesis

The hypotheses stated that:

- intravenously infused [Pyr¹]apelin-13 will be safe and tolerable in all three increasing doses tested in healthy volunteers
- 2. intravenously infused [Pyr1]apelin-13 will increase cardiac index (CI) in healthy volunteers

These hypotheses were tested with systemic intravenous infusions of [Pyr¹]apelin-13, blood sampling and non-invasive cardiovascular measurements (cardiac output measurements, cardiac telemetry, ECG, vital signs measurements)

3.4 Methods

Pilot Study 1 was an open label study in healthy volunteers. In total nine participants underwent screening and six met the study entry inclusion criteria.

Inclusion Criteria:

- BMI measured 18–27 kg/m² with either one of the criteria below
 - waist circumference less than 88cm (35 inches) for women or 102 cm (40 inches) for men
 - $\circ~$ and/or body fat levels less than of 32 % for women and 25 % for men
- current non-smoker
- age range 18–70 years

Exclusion criteria were previously listed in Chapter 2 (section 2.2.2.2).

The general methods for systemic studies and participants restrictions were outlined in detail in Chapter 2. Each participant attended four dosing visits on separate days as is shown in Figure 3.1 Adverse events (AE) were noted and cardiovascular and metabolic variables were measured at predefined times during infusion as outlined in Chapter 2 (Sections 2.4.3.7 and 2.4.3.2, 2.5) and is shown in Figure 3.2.

Figure 3.1 Study 1 protocol



Each of the 6 participants attended screening (V1) and four dosing visits (V2–V5). All participants were allocated to the same 2 hours [Pyr¹]apelin-13/normal saline dosing schedule with increasing doses of [Pyr¹]apelin-13; 30, 90 and 135 nmol/min on Visit 2, 3, and 4 respectively and placebo (normal saline) on Visit 5. They received a phone call as part of Visit 6.

			120 minutes [Pyr	']apelin-13 or norm	ial saline infusion		
Timepoint / min	0	15	30	45	09	06	120
Cardiac telemetry	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
ECG	×						×
ВР	×		×		×	×	×
光	×		×		×	×	×
POC glucose	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Bioreactance measurement	×		×		×	×	×
Gas rebreathing method	×		×		×	×	×
Venous samples	×	×	×	×	×	×	×

Figure 3.2 Schedule of assessments in dosing visits for Study 1

On each dosing visit participant underwent 120-minute infusion of [Pyr1]apelin-13/placebo after 20-minute resting interval. Cardiovascular and metabolic assessments were taken at predefined infusion time points. Cardiac telemetry recording was measured continuously throughout the cardiac measurements, blood pressure (BP) and heart rate (HR) were taken at baseline and every 30 minutes into the infusion. Point of care study. Electrocardiogram recording (ECG) was taken at baseline and after infusion completion. Bioreactance-based and gas rebreathing method (POC) glucose and venous blood samples for glucose, insulin and C peptide were taken at baseline and every 15 minutes in the first hour and every 30 minutes in the second hour of the infusion.

3.5 Data Analysis

This was a pilot study in healthy volunteers with sample size previously explained in Chapter 2 (2.7.1.1).

Demographic and baseline cardiovascular and metabolic participants' data are given as means±SD and analysed using Excel software (Microsoft Office). Data were normally distributed. N values are the number of participants who underwent study visits.

As this was an open label study, primary endpoint data for evaluating safety and tolerability (section 3.2.3) were clinically monitored throughout each dosing visit and descriptively noted without formal statistical analyses. Data for reporting changes in markers of glucose homeostasis and parameters of cardiovascular haemodynamic reported as secondary endpoints (section 3.2.3) are given as means±SE. Analyses were performed by two-way repeated measures ANOVA (SPSS version 26; IBM, New York, USA). Custom hypothesis testing (simple) of within-subject contrasts was performed for the [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in each dose *versus* normal saline comparison. Statistical significance was taken at the 5 % level. Greenhouse-Geisser corrected *P*-values were used if Mauchly's test revealed a violation of sphericity.

3.6 Study 1 results

The results of interim analyses for evaluation of metabolic and cardiovascular effects were used to guide dose selection used in Study 2.

3.6.1 Subjects characteristics

Baseline demographics, clinical, metabolic and cardiovascular characteristics of participants are shown in Table 3.1. Mean age was 43±16.8 years and participants were matched by gender. Four participants were white, one black and one Asian. All of them had active lifestyle and were not taking any medications at the time of the Study.

Table 3.1 Baseline demographic, cardiovascular and metabolic characteristics of Study1 participants

Study 1	Healthy participants
Sample size (n)	6
Age (years)	43.8±16.8 [22–67]
Gender, M/F	3 M, 3 F
Ethnicity W/B/A	4 W, 1 B, 1 A
BMI (kg/m²)	23±2.4 [19.7–26.5]
Waist circumference (cm)	77±5.7 [71–85]
Body fat mass (%)	21.4±9.4 [8.6–33.5]
Ex-smokers, n	0
Medication, n	0
Baseline	
HR, bpm	63±13.7 [45–85]
MAP, mm Hg	80.3±3.9 [75–85.7]
PVR, dynes/sec/cm⁻⁵	1262.3±324.7 [925.7–1837.1]
CI, L/min/m ²	3.1±0.5 [2.1–3.5]
HbA1c (mmol/mol)	36±2.1 [34–39]

Gender; M – Male, F – Female. Ethnicity; W – White, B – Black, A – Asian. BMI – Body Mass Index. HR – Heart Rate. MAP – Mean Arterial Pressure. PVR – Peripheral Vascular Resistance. CI – Cardiac Index. HbA1c – Glycated Haemoglobin. HOMA_{IR –} Homeostatic Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance. Values are represented as means \pm standard deviation and [range].

3.6.2 Safety and tolerability study results

All participants completed four dosing visits in full. All three [Pyr¹]apelin-13 doses infusions were found to be well tolerated without serious adverse events (Table 3.2) and participants remained haemodynamically stable without clinically significant ECG changes (Table 3.3).

3.6.2.1 Tolerability of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusions in increasing doses

Throughout the Study 1 there were altogether four mild adverse events (AE) as shown in Table 3.2. Three AE described as mild subjective feeling of nasal congestion occurred on second and third dosing visit when 90 nmol/min and 135 nmol/min [Pyr¹]apelin-13 doses were infused respectively. AEs were in probable relation to the study as they lasted until the end of infusion completion and spontaneously resolved within minutes afterwards.

Table 3.2 Reported adverse events (AEs) in Study 1

AE severity	[Pyr ¹]apelin-13 dose	Side effect	Causality	Events, n
	30 nmol/min	common cold	not related	1
Mild	90 nmol/min	nasal congestion	probably related	1
	135 nmol/min	nasal congestion	probably related	2

3.6.2.2 Safety of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusions in increasing doses.

None of the participants met study dosing visits stopping criteria (see Section 2.1.4) and Table 3.3.

3.6.3 Cardiovascular and metabolic measurements results

The effects of two-hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusions (V2-V4) compared to normal saline (V5) on cardiovascular and metabolic parameters are shown in Table 3.6. Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion in three escalating doses (30, 90, 135 nmol/min) does not cause overall significant change in cardiovascular and metabolic parameters. Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05. Cardiovascular and metabolic data are given in Table 3.4 and 3.5.

Table 3.3 Study 1 dosing visit safety evaluation parameters (V2–5)

Treatment	variable (mean±SD)				time (min)			
		0	15	30	45	60	06	120
	HR (beats/min)	63.8±16		59.6±11.9		59.5±11.2	60.3±10	61.3±11.3
	MAP (mmHg)	80.6±10.3	1	82.9±9.9	1	82.2±9.9	85.7±10.3	86±13
	SBP (mmHg)	107.2±16.4		110.17±15	•	109.9±13.3	115.7±16.2	115±16.4
v z-apelin 30 nmol/min	DBP (mmHg)	67.3±8.3	•	69.3±7.8	•	68.3±9.1	70.7±8	71.5±12.1
	glucose (mmol/L)	4.7±0.8	4.7±0.7	4.6±0.6	4.6±0.8	4.6±0.9	4.5±0.8	4.5±0.7
	ECG	normal	no change	no change	no change	no change	no change	no change
	telemetry	normal	no change	no change	no change	no change	no change	no change
	HR (beats/min)	62.5±13.1		57.3±9.8		59.3±11.4	59.5±11.6	60±12
	MAP (mmHg)	78.1±8.2		81.5±10.9		81.9±9.2	83.4±9.5	84.1±9.4
	SBP (mmHg)	105±12.3		109.5±15.1		111.5±13.3	113.8±16.5	114.5±15.3
v 3-apeiln 90 nmol/min	DBP (mmHg)	64.7±6.8		67.5±9.2		67.2±8.3	68.2±7.1	68.8±7.3
	glucose (mmol/L)	4.1±0.5	4.2±0.4	4.3±0.4	4.3±0.4	4.3±0.3	4.2±0.3	4.4±0.3
	ECG	normal	no change	no change	no change	no change	no change	no change
	telemetry	normal	no change	no change	no change	no change	no change	no change

Troatmont	variablo (moan+SD)				time (min)			
		0	15	30	45	60	06	120
	HR (beats/min)	61.7±8.2	1	57±9.9		59.7±9.9	59.2±9.8	59.5±8.2
	MAP (mmHg)	79.8±7.9		81.2±8.9	ı	82.7±9.3	81.3±6.9	82.6±9.6
	SBP (mmHg)	109±11	1	109.3±10.6	1	112±9.9	110.8±7.7	112.8±9.5
V4-apelin 135 nmol/min	DBP (mmHg)	65.2±7.5	1	67.2±9.3	1	68±10.1	66.5±8	67.5±10.6
	glucose (mmol/L)	4.2±0.7	4.2±0.7	4.2±0.6	4.3±0.3	4.4±0.2	4.3±0.4	4.5±0.2
	ECG	normal	no change	no change	no change	no change	no change	no change
	telemetry	normal	no change	no change	no change	no change	no change	no change
	HR (beats/min)	61.8±13.5	ı	62±13.1	ı	64±10.7	64.7±13.1	64.7±11.4
	MAP (mmHg)	80.3±3.9	1	84.5±7.8	1	82.3±12.4	85.8±8.6	87.3±11.8
V5	SBP (mmHg)	107.8±9.9		116.2±10.1		116.8±12.8	115.3±13.3	119.2±16.6
Normal	DBP (mmHg)	66.5±4.2	1	68.7±7.5	1	65±13.2	71±6.8	71.3±9.9
saline	glucose (mmol/L)	4.6±0.4	4.5±0.3	4.4±0.3	4.4±0.3	4.4±0.3	4.4±0.4	4.5±0.4
	ECG	normal	no change	no change	no change	no change	no change	no change
	telemetry	normal	no change	no change	no change	no change	no change	no change

Mean data for each participant from the four visits is presented. HR; heart rate. MAP; mean arterial pressure. SBP; systolic blood pressure. DBP; At each dosing visit the participant received an infusion of one of the following; [Pyr¹]apelin-13 at 30, 90 or 135 nmol/min or normal saline (control). diastolic blood pressure. ECG; electrocardiogram.

Table 3.4 Study 1 dosing visit (V2-V5) cardiovascular parameters

Treatment V2-apelin 30 nmol/min V3-apelin 90 nmol/min	variable (mean±SD) Cl (L/min/m²) SVI (ml/m²/beat) PVR (dynes/sec/cm ⁻⁵) Cl (L/min/m²) SVI (ml/m²/beat)	0 3.2±0.75 50.5±10.55 1277±393 3.35±0.51 54.6±12.9	φ	30 3.2±0.46 52.66±8.47 1237±194 3.5±0.46 46.4±19.8	time (min) 45 	60 2.95±0.48 48.83±9.36 1348±279 3.23±0.57 55.2±11.6	90 3.1±0.43 50.66±8.40 1317±232 3.23±0.5 53.8±11.4	120 3.15±0.6 49.5±10 1334±34 3.31±0.5 55.5±12
	PVR (dynes/sec/cm ⁻⁵) CI (L/min/m ²)	1117±181 3.78±0.36		1112±155 3.6±0.68		1233±249 3.28±0.67	1242±250 3.1±0.6	3.03
V4-apelin 135 nmol/min	SVI (ml/m ^{2/} beat) PVR (dynes/sec/cm ⁻⁵)	63.2±9.5 1012±227		61.7±10.3 1098±241		57.2±11.2 1240±338	52.8±9.7 1292±374	51.5 1321
V5	CI (L/min/m ²)	3.08±0.51		3.05±0.55		3.03±0.62	3.08±0.58	3.08
Normal	SVI (ml/m ^{2/} beat)	52.2±15.2		48.8±12.1		48±15.2	49.3±15	47.7
saline	PVR (dynes/sec/cm ⁻⁵)	1262±324		1348±394		1343±481	1370±438	1378

At each dosing visit (V2-V5) participant received a 2 hour infusion in consecutive order; [Pyr¹]apelin-13 at 30, 90 or 135 nmol/min and normal saline (control). Mean data for each participant from the four visits is presented. Mean HR, MBP, DBP and SBP are presented in Table 3.3. Cl; cardiac index. SVI; stroke volume index. PVR; peripheral vascular resistance.

Table 3.5 Study 1 dosing visit (V2-V5) metabolic parameters

Tarata and the second	variable				time (min)			
	(median, [IQR])	0	15	30	45	60	06	120
	incutio (mod/1)	28	24	23.5	45	18.5	18.5	14
V2-apelin		[21-58]	[20-50]	[17-37]	[22-66]	[13-51]	[16-46]	[14-27]
30 nmol/min	C nontido (nmol/l)	735	651.5	582	525	471	424.5	384.5
		[478-992]	[455-954]	[440-853]	[369-832]	[382-807]	[348-749]	[381.5-755]
	incutio (nmol/L)	22.5	28.5	29	26	19.5	17	15.5
V3-apelin		[11.3-36]	[15.7-37.5]	[8-29]	[10-31]	[14.2-31.5]	[10.5-23.5]	[10.7-18.7]
90 nmol/min	C sontido (sonol/)	501.5	496	441.5	427.5	432.5	387	339
	⊖ peptide (prinoi/∟)	[475-609]	[480-566]	[398-528]	[368-473]	[399-456]	[336-410]	[301-360]
	incutio (nmol/L)	37	22	31	33	24.5	22	20.5
V 4-apelln 135		[29-93]	[18-32]	[19-45]	[20-38]	[18.5-32]	[14.7-30.7]	[15.2-25.7]
n 30 nmol/min	C nontido (nmol/l)	596.5	514	506.5	504	475.5	473.5	422
		[504-962]	[477-754]	[470-754]	[454-715]	[442-648]	[411-551]	[413-547]
	ineulin (nmol/l)	23.2	21.7	18.5	17.9	17.9	18.7	19.3
V5-normal		[14-64]	[14-38]	[14-33]	[13.7-32.2]	[13.9-35.7]	[15.9-27.6]	[17.9-27.9]
saline	C nentide (nmol/l)	476	430	417	393	390	394	376
		[422-767]	[408-620]	[403-582]	[388-548]	[374-553]	[376-514]	[365-470]

At each dosing visit (V2-V5) participant received 2 hour infusions in consecutive order; [Pyr1]apelin-13 at 30, 90 or 135 nmol/min and normal saline (control). Insulin and C peptide data were not normally distributed and are presented as median and interquartile range [IQR].

Table 3.6 Cardiovascular and metabolic effects of two-hour [Pyr1]apelin-13 infusions inStudy 1 participants

Visit	Treatment	Dose	Variable	P value
			CI	0.64
			SVI	0.60
			HR	0.48
\/ 2	[Dyr1]apolin 12	20 pmol/min	PVR	0.39
٧Z	[Fyr]apenn-13	30 1110/1111	MAP	0.95
			glucose	0.79
			Insulin	0.51
			C peptide	0.73
			CI	0.63
			SVI	0.35
		90 nmol/min	HR	0.07
V3 [Pyr	[Pyr1]anelin-13		PVR	0.70
			MAP	0.93
			glucose	0.10
			Insulin	0.29
			C peptide	0.28
			CI	0.10
			SVI	0.3
			HR	0.8
V/	[Pyr1]appelin_13	135 nmol/min	PVR	0.12
V -+			MAP	0.56
			glucose	0.42
			Insulin	0.48
			C peptide	0.9

Bioreactance cardiovascular (CI, SVI, HR, PVR, MAP) and metabolic (glucose, insulin, C peptide) effects are recorded on four dosing visits (V2–V4) following systemic two hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion at increasing doses; 30, 90 and 135 nmol/min. Effects in each dose (V2-V4) are compared with the normal saline control (V5) by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures. There was no omnibus significance noted for any of the variables. HR – Heart Rate. MAP – Mean Arterial Pressure. PVR – Peripheral Vascular Resistance. CI – Cardiac Index. SVI – Stroke Volume Index. Data are presented as mean \pm SE n=6. *gas rebreathing data are not presented

3.7 Study limitations

Throughout the study it was not possible to collect all of the gas rebreathing readings because of the technical reasons. On several occasions, the machine failed to produce readings and some of the participants found it challenging to produce technically good breaths which limited further formal statistical analyses.

In addition, formal calculation of HOMA_{IR} could not have been performed as some of the insulin samples were partially haemolysed which affected the credibility of the result.

In this Study, we tried measuring apelin serum concentrations in collaboration with Core Biochemical Assay Laboratory (CBAL). Despite tested apelin kit was run according to the manufacturer's instructions (Section 2.4.3.2), its performance failed both in terms of sensitivity and precision. Issue has been raised with the manufacturer but has never been followed up with the response (explanation with courtesy of Peter Barker, senior scientist at CBAL).

3.8 Discussion

These pilot, open label studies were designed to assess *in vivo* safety, tolerability and cardiometabolic effects of apelin receptor agonism with [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in three increasing doses. We demonstrated all three [Pyr¹]apelin-13 doses (30, 90 and 135 nmol/min) to be safe and well tolerable. However, results regarding apelin cardiovascular and metabolic actions have not been fully conclusive, mainly due to the choice of CO measurement methods tested in these pilot studies.

Apelin has a good safety profile and is suitable for human *in vivo* experimental studies for two reasons. Firstly, apelin is a naturally occurring human body peptide and secondly, it is inducing effects which are short lived due to the quick proteolytic degradation (Japp *et al.*, 2010; Barnes *et al.*, 2013). Discoveries described by others (Japp *et al.*, 2010; Barnes *et al.*, 2013) did not raise concerns regarding tolerability and safety of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and our findings have been in agreement with previously published works. Although the doses used in this Study were 4-fold higher than the ones previously used in published cardiovascular research, there were no major subjective or objective recorded adverse events. Three volunteers who were receiving [Pyr¹]apelin-13 at medium and high doses (90 nmol/min and 135 nmol/min respectively) reported a subjective feeling of mild, nasal congestion, which promptly resolved within minutes upon [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion completion. In my opinion, such congestive feeling was most likely due to the vasodilating effects of apelin (Japp *et al.*, 2008; Japp *et al.*, 2010; Barnes *et al.*, 2013). In addition to the satisfying tolerability results, there were no safety concerns for any of the doses as all participants remained

haemodynamically stable with vital parameters fluctuating on average less than 5 percent off baseline, and without pathological changes of heart rhythm in ECG or cardiac telemetry.

Our selection of initial dose of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose at 30 nmol/min was mainly guided by Barnes *et al.* (2013) who reported sustained cardiovascular [Pyr¹]apelin-13 effects in prolonged 6 hours infusions in patients with chronic stable HF (Barnes *et al.*, 2013). However, this Study has not proven similar cardiovascular effects in respect to any of the tested doses. Two non-invasive cardiac output measurement methods were used; gas rebreathing method (Innocor) and bioreactance method (Cheetah). Those techniques were tested as methods for measurement of cardiovascular parameters and the discrepancy in our results with previously published work (Japp *et al.*, 2008; Japp *et al.*, 2010; Barnes *et al.*, 2013) can likely be attributed to several potential reasons, discussed below.

Prior to the start of the Study, it was predicted that there could be a potential impact of deep breaths, which are essential for gas rebreathing technique on cardiac preload. Therefore, Innocor measurements were taken at predefined time points, immediately following Cheetah measurements so that the effects of the expected interference in-between breathing and cardiac preload would be avoided. However, it remains possible that throughout the Study there was prolonged interference of deep breaths with cardiac preload, which may have after all affected the accuracy of bioreactance recordings set at 30 minutes intervals.

Despite the fact that the gas rebreathing method was fully explained and practised with all participants, outcomes remained dependant to the technique of the tested individual. Therefore, as some Innocor readings were reported incorrectly due to the suboptimal performance of the individual, this negatively affected the gas rebreathing data analysis.

Although other researchers have shown that the gas rebreathing method is not inferior to the bioreactance method in detecting changes in cardiovascular parameters (Middlemiss *et al.,* 2019), we decided to exclude it from further studies and to continue solely with the bioreactance method. The bioreactance method was easier to conduct and appeared more convenient for participants, hence it seemed to be a more suitable choice as the selected method for the detection of changes in CV parameters for further studies. In contrast to the gas rebreathing method, the bioreactance method can also detect rapid apelin effects appearing within minutes of the start of the infusion as it is producing measurements every minute.

As a result of the decision to use the bioreactance method over Innocor as a cardiovascular measurement technique, the protocols for Studies 2 and 3 had to be amended. The number of cardiovascular time points was increased with the intention of better understanding rapid

acting intravenous apelin actions in humans, which appear within minutes of the start of the infusion (Japp *et al.*, 2008; Japp *et al.*, 2010; Barnes *et al.*, 2013)

We have not recorded any decrease in glucose indicative of hypoglycaemia, which was among the safety objectives of this pilot study. Unsurprisingly, in ANOVA statistical analyses we did not record results indicative of changes in insulin sensitivity as this was a group of fit and healthy participants without concomitant metabolic abnormalities and presumed to be insulin sensitive. This pilot study showed all tested doses were safe from a metabolic perspective and any dose could have been selected for further testing in the upcoming Studies 2 and 3. In addition, this Study has given us valuable insight that insulin measurements were severely influenced by even the slightest haemolysis, unlike C peptide measurements which were more stable and more reliable to process by the laboratory.

We acknowledge that this Study included small number of tested participants and has not given substantial amount of cardiovascular data especially due to technical issues caused by the use of two different cardiac output assessment methods.

In conclusion, [Pyr¹]apelin-13, at all three doses tested, was shown to be safe and tolerable and therefore can be tested in further studies. The cardiovascular effects of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 remain inconclusive following this pilot study, due to the small sample size and methodological issues. We have made changes to the protocol for Studies 2 and 3 and are going ahead using only the bioreactance method for the assessment of CO. We have also increased the frequency of time points in the protocol to achieve more reliable cardiovascular results in the upcoming studies. Based on our safety and tolerability data, we decided to use [Pyr¹]apelin-13 at dose 30 and 135 mol/min in the subsequent Study 2.

Chapter 4:

Study 2 – *In vivo* cardiovascular and metabolic assessment of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 prolonged infusions in participants with increased BMI

4.1 Background

Pre-clinical studies in isolated human tissue have shown apelin to be a potent endotheliumdependant arterial vasodilator and inotropic agent (Maguire *et al.*, 2009). In agreement, clinical studies conducted in Edinburgh showed a beneficial effect of systemically infused [Pyr¹]apelin-13 acting as a nitric oxide (NO) dependant arterial vasodilator, lowering mean arterial pressure (MAP), peripheral vascular resistance (PVR) as well as increasing cardiac output (CO) in both healthy subjects and in patients with heart disease (Barnes *et al.*, 2013; Japp *et al.*, 2008; Japp *et al.*, 2010). These actions of apelin were relatively short lived as the plasma half-life in humans is less than five minutes (Japp *et al.*, 2010). A recent study has demonstrated that [Pyr¹]apelin-13 improves insulin-stimulated endothelium-dependent and independent vasodilatation responses whilst reducing both Ang II and ET-1 induced vasoconstriction. This suggests that [Pyr¹]apelin-13 could improve haemodynamics in insulin resistant patients (Schinzari *et al.*, 2017).

In addition to beneficial cardiovascular actions, there is increasing evidence to demonstrate that apelin has a role in glucose metabolism. In a murine model, apelin-13 injection decreased glycemia (Dray *et al.*, 2008) and both [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and apelin-36 inhibited insulin secretion (Guo *et al.*, 2009; Sörhede Winzell *et al.*, 2005). Apelin-13 and [Pyr¹]apelin-13 directly increased insulin sensitivity by increasing glucose uptake of skeletal muscles and adipose tissue, determined during euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp testing in mice (Dray *et al.*, 2008) and in overweight humans (Gourdy *et al.*, 2018). In addition, insulin resistance in apelin-deficient mice was reversed by exogenous [Pyr¹]apelin-13 treatment (Yue *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, chronic apelin-13 treatment in mice contributed to improved insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in muscle and overall increased insulin sensitivity (Attané *et al.*, 2012).

These results suggest a significant role of apelin in the regulation of cardiovascular physiology and glucose homeostasis and are highlighting its therapeutic potential in obesity and other insulin resistance (IR) related diseases such as T2DM and diabetic cardiomyopathy. The apelin/APJ system is clearly of interest for therapeutic modulation as an agent with dual actions combining positive cardiovascular (positive inotropic effects and vasodilatation) and metabolic effects (modulation of insulin sensitivity). *In vivo* human studies are crucial to clarify cardiometabolic actions of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and to establish a range of doses having measurable actions of apelin over two hours in a model population, before proceeding to targeted T2DM patients.

This is a first-in human study investigating the pharmacological properties of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 during systemic infusions in overweight/obese but otherwise healthy participants, serving as a model of IR. [Pyr¹]apelin-13 doses 30 and 135 nmol/min were selected based on safety and tolerability results of Study 1 (Section 3.6.2).

4.2 Study aims, objectives and endpoints

4.2.1 Study aims

Study 2 aims were to estimate the safety and tolerability of 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion at dose 30 and 135 nmol/min in participants with increased BMI and to determine the [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose likely to produce cardiometabolic effects in T2DM participants in Study 3.

4.2.2 Study objectives

The Study 2 objective was to define a range of safe and tolerable doses of intravenous [Pyr¹]apelin-13 which may have an effect on glucose homeostasis and cardiovascular physiology.

4.2.3 Study endpoints

Study endpoints after the infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 at dose 30 and 135 nmol/min were to detect:

- 1. Changes in parameters evaluating the safety and tolerability including BP, HR, POC glucose, ECG, cardiac telemetry
- 2. Changes in markers of glucose homeostasis including glucose, C-peptide, insulin
- 3. Changes in parameters of cardiovascular haemodynamics including cardiac index measured by the bioreactance method

4.3 Study hypothesis

We tested for the first time the systemic cardiovascular effects and effect on insulin sensitivity of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in participants with increased BMI in two [Pyr¹]apelin-13 doses (30 and 135 nmol/min respectively) with the following hypothesis:

- 1. intravenously infused [Pyr1]apelin-13 will be safe and tolerable
- 2. intravenously infused [Pyr¹]apelin-13 will increase cardiac index (CI)
- 3. intravenously infused [Pyr1]apelin-13 will increase insulin sensitivity

These hypotheses were tested with systemic intravenous infusions of the [Pyr¹]apelin-13, venous blood sampling and cardiovascular measurements (non-invasive cardiac output technology measurements, cardiac telemetry, ECG, vital signs measurements).

4.4 Methods

Study 2 was a randomized, double-blind study in participants with increased BMI. In total twenty-six participants underwent screening and eighteen met the study inclusion criteria (listed below). The choice of participants served as a model of insulin resistance, although this was not explicitly required for inclusion.

Participants study inclusion criteria:

- BMI measured 25–34.9 kg/m² (WHO overweight/class I obese category) with either one of the criteria below
 - Waist circumference higher than 88cm (35 inches) for women or 102 cm (40 inches) for men
 - $\circ~$ and/or body fat levels in excess of 32 % for women and 25 % for men
- Current non-smoker (not smoked within last 12 months)
- Age range 18–70 years

Exclusion criteria were previously listed in Section 2.2.2.2. The participants attended study visits as is shown in Figure 4.1 and outlined in Section 2.4.2.2. Each individual attended all dosing visits at the same time of the day. Adverse events (AE) were noted (Section 2.5) and cardiovascular and metabolic variables were measured at predefined times during infusion as was outlined in Chapter 2 (Sections 2.4.3.7 and 2.4.3.2) and is shown in Figure 4.2.

Figure 4.1 Protocol for Study 2.



Eighteen increased BMI participants were randomly allocated in two groups A and B of nine participants. Group A was infused with [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in dose 30 nmol/min infusion and Group B received [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in dose 135 nmol/min. Each participant was used as their own control, attending four double blind dosing visits with [Pyr¹]apelin-13 or normal saline placebo administered in random order. Visit 2 and 3 were conducted without mixed meal (for measurement of cardiovascular parameters) and Visit 4 and 5 with mixed meal challenge (for measurement of post-prandial metabolic parameters). Mixed meal challenge is described in Section 2.4.3.5

Figure 4.2 Schedule of assessments in dosing visits for Studies 2 and 3.

				-	20 minute:	s [Pyr¹]ape	elin-13 or r	iormal salir	le infusion				
Timepoint / min	0	5, 10	15	20, 25	30	35, 40	45	50, 55	60	75	06	105	120
Cardiac telemetry	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
ECG	×												×
ВР	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
H	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
POC glucose	×		×		×		×		×	* ×	×	*×	×
Bioreactance measurement	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Venous samples	×		×		×		×		×	* ×	×	* ×	×
Mixed meal**	×												

assessments (bioreactance-based non-invasive cardiac measurements, blood pressure (BP) and heart rate (HR) were taken at baseline and in 5 minute intervals during the first hour of the infusion, followed by 15 minute intervals during the second hour. Cardiac telemetry was measured continuously throughout the study. An electrocardiogram recording (ECG) was taken at baseline and after infusion completion. Metabolic On each dosing visit participants underwent a 120-minute infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 after a 20-minute resting interval (baseline). Cardiovascular assessments (point of care [POC] glucose and venous blood samples for glucose, insulin and C peptide) were taken at time points 0, 15, 30, 45, 5) * venous blood samples and POC glucose testing in Study 3 has been done every 15 minutes in the second hour of the infusion; at additional 60, 90 and 120 minutes throughout the infusion. Mixed meal challenge was given on V4 and V5 in the first 5 minutes of infusion (Section 2. 4. 3. time points 75 and 105 minutes.

4.5 Data analysis

The sample size calculation for each group (A and B) of participants was described in Chapter 2 (Section 2.7.1.2). Data distribution was tested using Q-Q plots and Shapiro-Wilk test.

Demographic and baseline cardiovascular and metabolic participants' data are given as means \pm SD and analysed using Excel software (Microsoft office, IBM). Unpaired 2-tailed Student's *t*-tests were used to compare differences between two groups (A and B) of participants. A probability of *P*<0.05 was deemed significant.

N values are the number of participants who underwent study dosing visits. Cardiovascular and metabolic variables were reported for analyses of study endpoints in assessing the effects of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusions. Cardiovascular variables; CI, SVI, HR, MAP and PVR were analyzed in the first two dosing visits without mixed meal challenge (V2 and V3). Metabolic variables; glucose, insulin and C peptide were reported and analyzed in dosing visits with preceded mixed meal challenge (V4 and V5). Data are given as means±SE. For the skewed variables (insulin and C peptide) log-transformed values were used for the analyses. The significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures (SPSS version 26; IBM, New York, USA), with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's adjustments. Data are graphically presented with Graphpad Prism (GraphPad Software Inc, USA) with help of Dr Janet Maguire. Greenhouse-Geisser corrected *P*-values were used if Mauchly's test revealed a violation of sphericity.

4.6 Study 2 results

4.6.1 Subjects characteristics

Data from nine participants in each group were obtained and baseline demographics, clinical, metabolic and cardiovascular characteristics of participants are shown in Table 4.1.

Participants in both groups were predominantly white and female. Although mean age of participants in the two dose groups was different, with Group A being on average younger $(29.3\pm10.6 \text{ versus } 44.6\pm17.4 \text{ years}; P<0.03)$, BMI, cardiovascular variables, waist circumference and body fat percentage were not dissimilar between the groups. Both group participants had previous minimal smoking exposure with only one participant in each group having a smoking history of 0.05 and 0.25 pack-years respectively. Besides having increased BMI, participants were otherwise healthy and free of study relevant co-morbidities and medications as is shown in Table 4.2.

	Participants wit	h increased BMI	
Study 2	Group A	Group B	D
	N=9	N=9	Ρ
Age (years)	29.3±10.6 [19–56]	44.6±17.4 [23–67]	0.03
Gender, M/F	3M, 6 F	2 M, 7 F	
Ethnicity, W/B/H	7 W, 1 B, 1 H	9 W	
BMI (kg/m²)	29.8±2.1 [26.6–32.7]	29.1±3.3 [25.6–34.6]	0.6
Waist circumference (cm)	89.3±11 [68–103]	93.4±14 [78–117]	0.49
Body fat mass (%)	35.7±6 [29–44.3]	36.8±5.8 [23.3–43.2]	0.71
Ex-smokers, n	1	1	
Smoking (pack-years)	0.05	0.25	
Medications*	-	-	
Baseline cardiovascular			
HR, bpm	63.4±8.7 [50–77]	66.6±5.3 [58–74]	0.86
MAP, mm Hg	87.8±8.7 [77–105.3]	91.2±16.2 [72.7–114]	0.58
PVR_dvnes/sec/cm ⁻⁵	958.3±151.1	1054.4±409.7	0.51
	[768.2–1186.7]	[575.6–1900]	0.01
CI, L/min/m ²	3.8±0.3 [3.4–4.1]	3.9±0.6 [3–4.4]	0.69
HbA1c (mmol/mol)	34±3.1 [29–38]	34.9±4.9 [29–41]	0.65

Table 4.1 Inter-group comparison of demographic, biochemical and baselinecardiovascular variables in group A and B participants with increased BMI

Group A and B participants received [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion at dose 30 and 135 nmol/min respectively. Gender: M – Male, F – Female; Ethnicity: W – White, B – Black, H – Hispanic; BMI – Body Mass Index; HR – Heart Rate; MAP – Mean Arterial Pressure; PVR – Peripheral Vascular Resistance; CI – Cardiac Index; HbA1c – Glycated Haemoglobin; HOMA_{IR} – Homeostatic Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance. * participants were not on regular medications relevant to the study.

Values are represented as means±SD and [range]. Unpaired 2-tailed Student's *t*-tests to evaluate for mean differences between groups. *P*-value <0.05 was deemed significant.

Table 4.2 Co-morbidities and concomitant medications in both groups of Study 2 participants

Medical condition	Ν	Medications
Arthritis	1	naproxen*
Depression	2	venlafaxine
Atopic dermatitis	1	topical steroid cream
Asthma	1	salbutamol inhaler
Dyslipidaemia	1	simvastatin
Gastric reflux	1	omeprazole

* regular treatments with anti-inflammatory medicines was part of exclusion study protocol criteria. As specified by study protocol naproxen was not taken 24 hours prior to the study visit

4.6.2 Cardiovascular and metabolic study results

Seventeen participants completed four study dosing visits in full. One of the participants in group B had to be excluded mid-study after completing the first two dosing visits. That event reduced N to 8 in Group B for Visits 4 and 5. The participant's exclusion was due to a Study unrelated adverse-event (Section 4.6.3).

4.6.2.1 Cardiovascular effects of 2-hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion in participants with increased BMI.

4.6.2.1.1 Changes in cardiovascular parameters after two hours of 30 nmol/min [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion in participants with increased BMI (group A).

Figures 4.3–4.9 represent changes in cardiovascular variables (SVI, CI, HR, MAP, SBP, DBP, PVR) in nine Study 2 participants (N=9) with increased BMI following systemic two hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min). Variables were measured on the first two dosing visits (V2 and V3) without mixed meal ingestion.

Continuous infusion of intravenous [Pyr¹]apelin-13 increased SVI over 2 hours, with most noticeable changes within the first 40 minutes, before their gradual return to baseline (ANOVA, omnibus P=0.002; Bonferroni post-test peak P=0.001 at 10 min; Figure 4.3). Cardiac index was overall significantly increased with post-hoc significant changes noted within first 15 mins (ANOVA, omnibus P<0.02; Bonferroni post-test peak P<0.001 at 10 min; Figure 4.4). Heart rate increase reached borderline significant rise (ANOVA omnibus significance P=0.047; Figure 4.5) without showing significance in post-test Bonferroni analyses. MAP was overall reduced after 2 hours of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion completion (ANOVA, omnibus significance P=0.032; Bonferroni post-test P<0.001 at 10 minutes, before a gradual return to baseline (ANOVA omnibus significance P=0.032; Bonferroni post-test P<0.001 at 10 mns time point; Figure 4.9). There were no overall significant changes in separate systolic and diastolic blood pressure measurements over the infusion period (Figure 4.7 and 4.8 respectively).

In summary, compared with a saline placebo control which had no effect on hemodynamic variables, systemic 2-hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 administration caused significant rises in SVI (ANOVA *P*=0.002; Figure 4.3), CI (ANOVA *P*=0.02; Figure 4.4) and HR (ANOVA *P*=0.047; Figure 4.5) whilst reducing MAP (ANOVA *P*=0.002; Figure 4.6) and PVR (ANOVA *P*=0.032; Figure 4.9). *Post-hoc* testing with Bonferroni adjustments revealed [Pyr¹]apelin-13 CV effects were most notable after 10 minutes. Following the observed initial peak, CI and SVI declined back to baseline after 30 minutes, whilst MAP and PVR increased back to baseline after 20 minutes.

Figure 4.3 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on stroke volume index (SVI) in participants with increased BMI



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals during the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

The prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) causes significant rise in SVI (omnibus significance P=0.002). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

In *post-hoc* testing the change is most noticeable within the first 40 minutes at 10, 15, 25, 40 mins timepoints (peaking at the 10 mins timepoint P=0.001), before a gradual return to baseline. * denotes Bonferroni corrected P<0.003

Figure 4.4 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on cardiac index (CI) in participants with increased BMI.



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals during the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

The prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) causes significant rise in CI (omnibus significance P<0.02). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

In *post-hoc* testing the change is most noticeable within first 15 minutes (peak at 10 mins timepoint P<0.001), before a gradual return to baseline. * denotes Bonferroni corrected P<0.003

Figure 4.5 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on heart rate (HR) in participants with increased BMI



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals during the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) causes significant rise in HR (omnibus significance P=0.047) when compared to the saline control. P≤0.05 was deemed significant.

No significance was found in post-hoc Bonferroni analyses.
Figure 4.6 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on mean arterial pressure (MAP) in participants with increased BMI.



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals during the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) causes a significant drop in MAP (omnibus significance P=0.002). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

Figure 4.7 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on systolic blood pressure (SBP) in participants with increased BMI.



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals during the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) does not cause overall significance in SBP (omnibus P=0.104). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

Figure 4.8 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on diastolic blood pressure (DBP) in participants with increased BMI.



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals during the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) does not cause overall significance in DBP (omnibus P=0.074). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

Figure 4.9 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on peripheral vascular resistance (PVR) in participants with increased BMI



Measurements were taken at baseline and ar 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals during the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) causes significant decline in PVR (omnibus significance P=0.032). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

In *post hoc* analyses the change is most noticeable within the first 15 minutes (maximum effect at 10 mins timepoint P<0.001), before a gradual return to baseline. * denotes Bonferroni corrected P<0.003

4.6.2.1.2 Changes in cardiovascular parameters after two hours of 135 nmol/min [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion in participants with increased BMI (Group B).

Figures 4.10–4.16 represent changes in cardiovascular variables (SVI, CI, HR, MAP, SBP, DBP, PVR) in nine Study 2 participants (N=9) with increased BMI, following systemic two hours [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (135 nmol/min). Variables were measured on the first two dosing visits (V2 and V3) without mixed meal.

There were no recorded overall significant changes in cardiovascular variables (SVI, CI, HR, MAP, SBP, DBP, PVR), tested in ANOVA measurements over the whole infusion period. However, *post hoc* analyses with Bonferroni adjustments showed significant sharp decline at the 5-minute timepoint in PVR (Bonferroni post-test *P*<0.003; Figure 4.16) together with rapid 5-minute increase in both HR and CI (Bonferroni post-test *P*<0.002 and *P*<0.001 respectively; Figure 4.12 and 4.11) with no further change after return to baseline to the end of the study period (120 min).

Figure 4.10 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on stroke volume index (SVI) in participants with increased BMI



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals during the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (135 nmol/min) does not cause overall significance in SVI (omnibus P=0.958). Significantly different from saline control $P\leq 0.05$.

Figure 4.11 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on cardiac index (CI) in participants with increased BMI



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals during the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (135nmol/min) does not cause significant overall change (omnibus P<0.286). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

In *post-hoc* Bonferroni analysis a significant rise is noticeable within first 5 mins of infusion (peak at 5 mins timepoint P<0.001) before a gradual return to baseline. * denotes Bonferroni corrected P<0.003.

Figure 4.12 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on heart rate (HR) in participants with increased BMI



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals during the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (135 nmol/min) does not cause overall significant change in HR (omnibus P=0.211). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

In *post-hoc* Bonferroni analysis a significant rise is noticeable within the first 5 mins of infusion (peak at 5 mins timepoint P<0.002) before a gradual return to baseline * denotes Bonferroni corrected P<0.003.





Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals during the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (135 nmol/min) does not cause significant change in MAP (omnibus P=0.901). Significantly different from saline control $P \le 0.05$.

Figure 4.14 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on systolic blood pressure (SBP) in participants with increased BMI



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals during the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (135 nmol/min) does not cause significant change in SBP (omnibus P=0.694). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

Figure 4.15 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on diastolic blood pressure (DBP) in participants with increased BMI



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals during the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (135 nmol/min) does not cause significant change in DBP (omnibus P=0.897). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

Figure 4.16 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on peripheral vascular resistance (PVR) in participants with increased BMI



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals during the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (135 nmol/min) does not cause significant overall change in PVR (omnibus P=0.394). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

In *post-hoc* Bonferroni analysis a significant drop is noticeable within first 5 mins of infusion (maximum effects at 5 mins timepoint P<0.003) before a gradual return to baseline * denotes Bonferroni corrected P<0.003.

4.6.2.2 Metabolic effects of 2-hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion in increased BMI participants

4.6.2.2.1 Changes in metabolic parameters after two hours of 30 nmol/min [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion in participants with increased BMI (group A).

Figures 4.17–4.19 represent metabolic changes (glucose, insulin and C peptide) in nine Study 2 participants with increased BMI (N=9) following systemic two hours [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion in dose 30 nmol/min. Variables are measured during two dosing visits with mixed meal (V4 and V5). Log transformed values of the skewed variables (C peptide and insulin) were used for the 2-way repeated measures ANOVA analyses. Median and interquartile range [IQR] of insulin and C peptide are presented in Table 4.3 to complete data presentation.

[Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion caused significant reduction in log C peptide values (ANOVA, omnibus P=0.027; Figure 4.19) after infusion completion at 120 mins without noted significance in *post*test Bonferroni's adjustments. There were no overall statistically significant changes in glucose and insulin values (ANOVA, omnibus P=0.225 and P=0.463 respectively) nor in posttest Bonferroni corrections as shown in Figures 4.17 and 4.18 respectively. Figure 4.17 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on glucose in participants with increased BMI



Measurements were taken at baseline followed by 15 minute intervals throughout the first hour and every 30 minutes in the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) does not cause overall significant change in blood glucose (omnibus P=0.225). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

Figure 4.18 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on insulin in participants with increased BMI



Measurements were taken at baseline followed by 15 minute intervals throughout the first hour and every 30 minutes in the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. Log transformed insulin values were used as variables were skewed. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2-hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) does not cause significant change in insulin (omnibus P=0.463). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

Figure 4.19 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on C peptide in participants with increased BMI



Measurements were taken at baseline followed by 15 minute intervals throughout the first hour and every 30 minutes in the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. Log transformed C peptide values were used as variables were skewed. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) causes significant decline in C peptide (omnibus P=0.027). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

Table 4.3 Study 4 dosing visit (V4–5) metabolic parameters at [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose 30 nmol/min and normal saline

Treatment	Apelin 3	0 nmol/L	Norma	l saline
Variable (median, [IQR]) Time/min	Insulin (pmol/L)	C peptide (pmol/L)	Insulin (pmol/L)	C peptide (pmol/L)
0	43	545	34	534
	[35-53]	[446-696]	[25-46]	[477-742]
15	64	867	61	787
	[49-114]	[530-949]	[48-111]	[579-908]
30	90	996	177	1220
	[75-221]	[698-1200]	[96-263]	[923-1560]
45	180	1420	272	1770
	[133-290]	[1040-1560]	[220-331]	[1500-2310]
60	322	1950	260	2000
	[180-350]	[1700-2200]	[227-322]	[1830-2400]
75	-	-	-	-
90	263	2300	193	1930
	[176-313]	[1730-2440]	[144-271]	[1840-2620]
105	-	-	-	-
120	207	2490	223	2200
	[147-270]	[1520-2610]	[214-300]	[1970-2680]

At dosing visit V4-V5 each participant received a 2 hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 at 30 nmol/min or normal saline (control). Insulin and C peptide data are not normally distributed and are presented as median and interquartile range [IQR].

4.6.2.2.2 Changes in metabolic parameters after two hours of 135 nmol/min [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion in participants with increased BMI (Group B).

Figures 4.20–4.22 represent metabolic changes (glucose, insulin and C peptide) in eight Study 2 participants with increased BMI (N=8) following systemic two hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion in dose 135 nmol/min. Variables were measured on dosing visits with mixed meal. Log transformed values of the skewed variables (C peptide and insulin) were used for the 2-way repeated measures ANOVA analyses. Median and interquartile range [IQR] of insulin and C peptide are presented in Table 4.4 to complete data presentation.

There were no overall statistically significant changes for any of the tested metabolic variables; glucose, log insulin and log C peptide (ANOVA, omnibus P=0.648; P=0.170; P=0.190 respectively) nor in post-test Bonferroni corrections as shown in Figures 4.20 to 4.22 respectively.

Figure 4.20 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on glucose in participants with increased BMI



Measurements were taken at baseline followed by 15 minute intervals throughout the 2 hour infusion. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=8.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (135 nmol/min) does not cause significant change in blood glucose (omnibus P=0.648). Significantly different from saline control P≤ 0.05.





Measurements were taken at baseline followed by 15 minute intervals throughout the 2 hour infusion. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. Log transformed insulin values were used as variables were skewed. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=8.

Prolonged 2-hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (135 nmol/min) does not cause significant change in insulin (omnibus P=0.170). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

Figure 4.22 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (135 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on C peptide in participants with increased BMI



Measurements were taken at baseline followed by 15 minute intervals throughout the 2 hour infusion. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. Log transformed C peptide values were used as variables were skewed. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=8.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (135 nmol/min) does not cause significant changes in C peptide values (omnibus P=0.190). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

Table 4.4 Study 4 dosing visit (V4-5) metabolic parameters at [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose 135 nmol/min and normal saline

Treatment	Apelin	30 nmol/L	Norma	l saline
Variable (median,	Insulin	C peptide	Insulin	C peptide
[IQR])	(pmol/L)	(pmol/L)	(pmol/L)	(pmol/L)
Time/min				
0	51	849	50	842
	[25-116]	[685-1370]	[38-89]	[665-1277]
15	108	1105	107	1235
15	[68-206]	[874-1685]	[58-210]	[941-1375]
20	291	1965	414	2290
	[182-420]	[1347-2720]	[226-448]	[1665-2562]
45	346	2615	489	2755
45	[271-453]	[2042-2932]	[318-599]	[2217-3532]
60	407	3025	435	3245
	[307-468]	[2442-3260]	[328-516]	[2505-3557]
75	448	3270	356	2955
15	[377-490]	[2977-3380]	[233-443]	[2410-3457]
90	389	3410	323	2895
50	[346-464]	[2795-3717]	[223-409]	[2457-3407]
105	353	3335	306	2785
105	[235-403]	[2712-3565]	[250-406]	[2527-4132]
120	285	3195	253	2570
120	[181-355]	[2422-3437]	[184-373]	[2305-3462]

At dosing visit V4-V5 each participant received a 2 hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 at 135 nmol/min or normal saline (control). Insulin and C peptide data are not normally distributed and are presented as median and interquartile range [IQR].

4.6.3 Safety and tolerability study results

All participants during [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion remained haemodynamically stable without pathological ECG or cardiac telemetry changes. Adverse events (AEs) participants experienced during study involvement are shown in Table 4.5.

Table 4.5 Tolerability of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusions at doses 30 and 135 nmol/min in participants with increased BMI

Adverse event severity	Apelin dose	Adverse event	Causality	Events N=9
Severe	135 nmol/min	hepatitis A	not related	1
Moderate	135 nmol/min	migraine	not related	1
		bruise on cannulation site	definitely related	2
	30 nmol/min	skin efflorescence	not related	1
		common cold	not related	1
Mild		nasal congestion	probably related	1
	135 nmol/min	facial flushing	probably related	1
		large bowel movement day after visit	unlikely related	1

One serologically confirmed case of viral hepatitis A with full medical recovery was reported as a serious adverse event (SAE) at [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose 135 nmol/min. Although not being related to the [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion, the event led to participant mid-study exclusion after completing V2 and V3. Two mild AEs presented as nasal congestion and facial flushing were possibly related to a higher 135 nmol/min [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose, and have fully resolved within minutes of infusion discontinuation.

4.7 Discussion

Study 2 was a "proof of concept" study which provided for the first-time demonstration of beneficial cardiovascular and metabolic effects of apelin, infused in isolation to participants with increased body mass index (BMI) who served as a clinical model of insulin resistance.

This Study has been designed to detect and to compare clinical effects of two [Pyr¹]apelin-13 doses (Participants Group A and B receiving 30 and 135 nmol/min respectively) on insulin sensitivity and cardiovascular actions. Study results were aimed to guide [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose selection tested in Study 3, rather than to illuminate underlying cardiovascular and metabolic molecular mechanisms.

4.7.1 Safety and tolerability at [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose 30 and 135 nmol/min

This Study continued testing safety and tolerability at a lower (30 nmol/min) but also higher apelin dose (135nm/min) than acutely administered in previous clinical studies (Barnes *et al.*, 2013, Gourdy *et al.*, 2018). We monitored symptoms, vital parameters (HR, BP) and cardiac telemetry recordings and have not found any concerns related to [Pyr¹]apelin-13 safety and tolerability over continuous 2-hour systemic infusion. Except for twice reported subjective feeling of nasal congestion and facial flushing, likely underlined with [Pyr¹]apelin-13 induced vasodilation effect as addressed in Chapter 3 discussion (Section 3.8), participants have not reported AEs in causal relation to [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion.

4.7.2 Cardiovascular and metabolic effects of [Pyr¹]apelin at dose 30 nmol/min

A short-term increase in CVI and SVI, and a reduction in PVR and MAP was recorded with the lower dose of 30 nmol/min [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in participants with increased BMI (Group A), who were otherwise healthy and have not been taking any relevant concomitant medication.

Although pre-clinical research confirmed apelin to be a potent inotrope (Szokodi *et al.*, 2002; Berry *et al.*, 2004; Ashley *et al.*, 2005; Maguire *et al.*, 2009), our study has not been designed to determine whether a noted increase in CI (magnitude around 0.5 L/min/m²) can be partially attributed to known positive *in vitro* and *in-vivo* inotropic actions or is it simply a secondary response to peripheral vasodilation (Lee *et al.*, 2000; Tatemoto *et al.*, 2001; Cheng *et al.*, 2003; Maguire *et al.*, 2009).

Heart rate transiently increased within the first five minutes of the infusion, as would be typical for a vasodilating agent and has previously been demonstrated in healthy participants and HF patients (Cheng *et al.*, 2003; Japp *et al*, 2010; Barnes *et al.*, 2013).

A short-term reduction in MAP (magnitude around 5–7 mmHg) has been noted and [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) caused a small but significant vasodilation within the first 15 minutes, in agreement with previously reported studies in both healthy volunteers and HF patients (Japp *et al.*, 2010). In addition, these CV results are in agreement with those reported by Barnes *et al* (2013) where [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in systemic prolonged 6-hours infusion at dose 30 nmol/min increased CI, lowered MAP and PVR in HF patients (New York Heart Association; NYHA class II to III). Those patients were on concurrent treatment with β -blockers, ACE inhibitors or AT₁ antagonists, which is indicating that [Pyr¹]apelin-13 mediated these actions even under angiotensin and adrenergic receptor blockade.

The molecular mechanism is thought to occur via binding of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 to receptors expressed on vascular endothelium resulting in the release of vasodilators. Although the magnitude of the response is comparatively small, [Pyr¹]apelin-13 induced vasodilation may be beneficial in the states of insulin resistance. The fact that insulin has a role not only as a hormone essential in maintaining euglycemia, but also in maintaining blood flow and tissue perfusion (Lalande et Romero, 2019) has become well recognised. Apelin, by increasing insulin sensitivity in insulin resistant subjects (Gourdy *et al.*, 2018), could therefore be enhancing the role of insulin in stimulating micro-vascular perfusion, blood flow of skeletal muscle and subcutaneous adipose tissue. Others have shown that apelin improves insulin-stimulated, endothelium-dependent and independent vasodilatory responsiveness whilst reducing both Ang II and ET-1 induced vasoconstriction, suggesting that apelin agonists could beneficially improve haemodynamic abnormalities in obesity-associated IR (Schinzari *et al.*, 2017).

During the course of the present study, Gourdy and colleagues (2018) reported key data from a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, cross-over study in eight healthy overweight men who underwent hyperinsulinaemic-euglycaemic clamping procedure. They showed that [Pyr¹]apelin-13 at a systemic dose of 30 nmol/kg (administered at constant rate of 250 pmol/kg/min) significantly improved insulin sensitivity during two hours of peptide administration. These results provided first evidence in humans for the beneficial insulin-sensitising action of [Pyr¹]apelin-13, previously observed only pre-clinically in insulin clamping experiments in mice (Dray *et al.,* 2008).

Although clinical study by Gourdy *et al.* provided proof of concept of apelin being an insulinsensitizer in overweight participants with increased insulin resistance, the effect of acute intravenous apelin perfusion during a clamp was tested alongside insulin. In contrast, the present study was designed to detect the actions of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in isolation in our selected groups of participants, and to mimic normal eating behaviour with a meal tolerance test.

We compared the postprandial metabolic effects of continuous two hour [Pyr¹]apelin infusion and placebo in participants with increased BMI. Our objective in measuring changes over this length of time was to maximise the ability to measure any modulatory action of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 on the postprandial peaks of insulin and blood glucose after the meal challenge. C-peptide and insulin are released from the pancreas at the same time and in about equal amounts but C-peptide has a longer half-life than insulin and is more stable and reliable for laboratory assessment.

In the increased BMI participants receiving [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose 30 nmol/min, we recorded a significant drop in C peptide over the time of infusion during the mixed meal challenge. The significant reduction in C peptide measured in our participants with increased BMI was in agreement with findings made by Gourdy and colleagues (Gourdy *et al.*, 2018) indicating apelin infusion increased insulin sensitivity. However, these data more closely represents usual physiological processes since we measured the effects of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 after a mixed meal.

4.7.3 Cardiovascular and metabolic effects of [Pyr¹]apelin at dose 135 nmol/min

While [Pyr¹]apelin at dose 135 nmol/min was well tolerated, as indicated previously, we did not find overall significant metabolic nor cardiovascular change over 2 hours infusion period. However, interestingly *post hoc* analyses revealed significant sharp PVR decline and rapid HR and CI increase at the 5-minute time point, before coming back to the baseline.

As both A and B participant groups receiving [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose 30 and 135 nmol/min respectively, were similar in clinical characteristics it is unlikely that a lack of response could be explained by the inter-group clinical differences (Table 4.1). In addition, biological [Pyr¹]apelin-13 activity was confirmed in β -arrestin functional assays (Nyimanu *et al.*, 2019a) and we have previously shown using mass spectrometry that infusion achieved the predicted concentration of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in the plasma (Nyimanu *et al.*, 2019b).

Therefore, the lack of observed effect is unlikely to be caused by metabolic degradation of the peptide and we propose that the most likely explanation for lack of a dose response is the agonist induced internalisation and desensitization of the receptor at the higher dose (Pope. *et al.*, 2016).

This receptor desensitisation effects should be overcome by the use of biased agonists in the chronic therapeutic setting (Yang *et al.*, 2015; Brame *et al.*, 2015; Read *et al.*, 2021)

4.8 Study limitations

We acknowledge some limitations with our approach. In the absence of any previous metabolic studies, power calculations were based on published data for the detection of significant changes in cardiovascular parameters.

Study participants were selected as they presented the model of insulin resistance. However, some of HOMA_{IR} calculations could not have been performed as some of the insulin samples were partially haemolysed which affected the credibility of the result. Despite that, based on their clinical phenotype participants were presumed to be insulin resistant (Freeman et Pennings, 2021).

4.9 Study conclusion

In conclusion, in participants with increased BMI in response to the [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min), we noted significant changes in C-peptide levels, indirectly indicating an increase in insulin sensitivity and confirmed beneficial cardiovascular effects of vasodilation and subsequent increase of cardiac index.

Based on these tolerability, cardiovascular and metabolic data we are going ahead using [Pyr¹]apelin-13 at dose 30 mol/min in the subsequent Study 3 to test [Pyr¹]apelin-13 CV and metabolic effects in T2DM patients.

Chapter 5:

Study 3 – First in man study investigating cardiovascular and metabolic effects of prolonged infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus

5.1 Background

Obesity is predisposing individuals to the development of IR and subsequently T2DM (Section 1.2). Interest in the connection of apelin and T2DM has been established ever since apelin has been identified as an adipose tissue secreted adipokine hormone (Boucher *et al.*, 2005). and has especially grown after beneficial dual metabolic and cardiovascular effects of apelin have been confirmed in animals and more importantly non-diabetic humans (Section 1.3.2.2.1 and 1.3.2.2.2.1). In addition to apelin being a potential insulin sensitizer exerting positive inotropic and vasodilating actions, several human observational studies have highlighted apelin as a promising biomarker for detection of heart failure (Goidescu *et al.*, 2021) and impaired glucose homeostasis (Section 1.3.2.2.2.2)

Metabolic and cardiovascular diseases present major health challenges of the modern world, alone and in combination, resulting in a heightened interest in the development of drugs with dual cardiovascular and metabolic actions. The incidence of HF is higher in diabetic patients compared to the non-diabetic population (Jia *et al.*, 2018) and CV disease contribute significantly to T2DM associated mortality and morbidity (Gaede *et al.*, 2003). Despite existing therapies, there remains scope for the development of new therapeutic approaches via novel pathways distinct from the current standard of care, that could be either used alone or in combination with current drugs. Already in clinical use some diabetes targeting agents such as glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) agonists and gliflozins (sodium-glucose transport protein 2 - SGLT2) inhibitors have been additionally proven to have concomitant beneficial cardiovascular effects. Targeting apelin/APJ signalling pathways presents an interesting therapeutic approach as [Pyr¹]apelin-13 showed insulin sensitising properties in animals and overweight humans (Dray *et al.*, 2008; Gourdy *et al.*, 2018) and ameliorated diabetic cardiomyopathy in animals (Section 1.3.3.1).

Despite a great body of encouraging cardiometabolic preclinical and clinical data, the effects of the apelin/APJ system on diabetes complications remain unclear. In animal models, apelin seems to improve diabetes induced kidney hypertrophia and normalises obesity-associated cardiac hypertrophy, but negatively promotes retinal angiogenesis in diabetic retinopathy (Section 1.3.3).

However, as human *in vivo* studies testing effects of apelin have not yet been conducted in T2DM patients, definitive conclusions regarding cardiometabolic effects and impact on diabetes complications remain elusive.

In Study 2 conducted in participants with increased BMI systemic prolonged [Pyr¹]apelin-13 administration at dose 30 nmol/min decreased C peptide (P=0.027), increased CI (P<0.02) and lowered MAP (P=0.002) and PVR (P=0.032) without serious adverse events. Based on the Study 2 findings we progressed into research involving T2DM patients, and now are presenting a first in human study investigating the cardiovascular and metabolic pharmacological properties of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 during systemic infusions in T2DM patients.

[Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose 30 nmol/min was guided by results in participants with increased BMI serving as a model of insulin resistance, which made them similar to T2DM patients. This dose was also consistent with the effective dose used in previously published work (Japp *et al.*, 2010; Barnes *et al.*, 2013)

5.2 Study aims, objectives and endpoints

5.2.1 Study aims

Study 3 aims were to estimate safety and tolerability, cardiovascular and metabolic effects of 2-hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion at dose 30 nmol/min in patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus

5.2.2 Study objectives

Study objective was to define a range of safe doses of intravenous [Pyr¹]apelin-13 which may have an effect on glucose homeostasis and cardiovascular physiology.

5.2.3 Study endpoints

Study endpoints after infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 were to detect:

- 1. Changes in parameters evaluating safety and tolerability including BP, HR, POC glucose, ECG, cardiac telemetry
- 2. Changes in markers of glucose homeostasis including glucose, C-peptide, insulin
- 3. Changes in parameters of cardiovascular haemodynamics including cardiac index measured by bioreactance method

5.3 Study hypothesis

We tested for the first time systemic cardiovascular effects and effect on insulin sensitivity of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 at dose 30 nmol/min in patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus with the following hypothesis:

- 1. intravenously infused [Pyr¹]apelin-13 will be safe and tolerable
- 2. intravenously infused [Pyr¹]apelin-13 will increase cardiac index (CI)
- 3. intravenously infused [Pyr1]apelin-13 will increase insulin sensitivity

These hypotheses were tested with systemic intravenous infusions of the [Pyr¹]apelin-13 inducing cardiac and metabolic effects monitored as described in Section 4.3.

5.4 Methods

Study 3 was a randomized double-blind study in patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus. In total thirteen patients with T2DM underwent screening and nine patients met the study inclusion criteria to complete four study dosing visits.

Patients study inclusion criteria:

- Documented diagnosis of T2DM
- Treated with oral antihyperglycemic therapy
- BMI measured 18–34.9 kg/m²
- Current non-smoker
- Age range 18–75 years

Exclusion criteria were previously listed in Section 2.2.2.2.

Participants attended study visits as is shown in Figure 5.1. All participants attended dosing visits at morning time, whilst previously fasted for 12 hours and withdrew their diabetes medications until the dosing study visit was completed. Each participant was given lunch after the infusion. Measurements at predefined times during infusion were shown in Figure 4.2 and outlined in Sections 2.4.3.7 and 2.4.3.2.

Figure 5.1 Protocol for Study 3



Nine Type 2 diabetes mellitus patients were infused with [Pyr¹]apelin-13 at dose 30 nmol/min. Each participant was used as their own control, attending four double blind dosing visits with [Pyr¹]apelin-13 or normal saline placebo administered in random order. Visit 2 and 3 were conducted without mixed meal (for measurement of cardiovascular parameters) and Visit 4 and 5 with mixed meal challenge (for measurement of post-prandial metabolic parameters). Mixed meal challenge is described in Section 2.4.3.5

5.5 Data analyses

The sample size calculation was described in Section 2.7.1.3. Data distribution was tested using Q-Q plots and Shapiro-Wilk test.

Demographic and baseline cardiovascular and metabolic participants' data are given as means±SD and analysed using Excel software (Microsoft office, IBM). Unpaired 2-tailed Student's *t*-tests were used to compare differences between the Study 3 and Study 2

participants, as both groups received same [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion dose 30 nmol/min. A probability of *P*<0.05 was considered significant.

N values are the number of participants who underwent study dosing visits. Cardiovascular and metabolic variables were reported for analyses of study endpoints in assessing the effects of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusions. Cardiovascular variables; CI, SVI, HR, MAP and PVR were analyzed in the first two dosing visits without mixed meal challenge (V2 and V3). Metabolic variables; glucose, insulin and C peptide were reported and analyzed in dosing visits with preceded mixed meal challenge (V4 and V5). Data are given as means±SE. For the skewed variables (insulin and C peptide) log-transformed values were used for the analyses. The significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures (SPSS version 26; IBM, New York, USA), with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's adjustments. Data are graphically presented with Graphpad Prism (GraphPad Software Inc, USA) with help of Dr Janet Maguire. Greenhouse-Geisser corrected *P*-values were used if Mauchly's test revealed a violation of sphericity.

5.6 Study 3 results

5.6.1 Subjects characteristics

Table 5.1 displays baseline demographic, biochemical, cardiovascular and clinical characteristics of nine T2DM patients and comparisons to Study 2 Group A participants. A comparison is displayed as Study 2 Group A participants served as a model of IR and received the same [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose at 30 nmol/min.

Data were collected in altogether nine T2DM patients. Patients have been predominantly white (N=7) in both compared groups, however T2DM patients were significantly older in mean age ($60.3\pm7.8 \text{ versus } 29.3\pm10.6 \text{ years}$; *P*<0.001). There was no significant difference in mean BMI which is ranging in overweight and class I obese category for both groups. However, despite comparable BMI, T2DM participants showed more trend toward abdominal fat distribution based on mean waist circumference measurements ($102.7\pm14.2 \text{ versus } 89.3\pm11 \text{ cm}$; *P*=0.04), with significantly less mean body fat percentage ($27.4\pm7.9 \text{ versus } 35.7\pm6 \%$; *P*=0.02).

Eight T2DM patients had previous smoking history with median smoking exposure of 10.1 pack-years. Mean diabetes disease duration was 10.1 ± 8.1 years and diabetes control was suboptimal with average Hba1c of 58.3 ± 14 mmol/mol. The group has been shown to be insulin resistant by mean HOMA_{IR} ranging 3.1 ± 1.8 .

One patient was solely treated with a diabetes diet. Eight other patients were treated with oral diabetes medications which included: metformin therapy (N=7, daily dose range 500–2000 mg), gliclazide (N=2, daily dose range 40–160 mg), dapagliflozin (N=1, dose 10 mg) and sitagliptin (N=1, dose 100 mg). Most patients were treated with monotherapy (five taking metformin and one gliclazide), one with dual therapy (metformin and sitagliptin combination) and one with triple therapy (metformin, gliclazide, dapagliflozin combination).

Three patients were diagnosed with diabetic neuropathy, one with diabetic neuropathy and nephropathy, one with diabetic neuropathy and coronary artery disease and one with diabetic retinopathy. Three patients were free of diabetes complications.

Four patients were treated for hypertension. One patient (N=1) was on dual treatment with combination of calcium channel blocker amlodipine and AT_1 – receptor blocker candesartan. Others were on monotreatment with AT_1 – receptor blocker losartan (N=1) and ACE-inhibitor lisinopril (N=2) with average suboptimal control of arterial hypertension.

One T2DM patient had no lipid blood disorder whilst others had raised blood lipids, with (N=5) or without treatment (N=3). Out of five patients treated for dyslipidaemia; one patient (N=1) was on dual statin and fibrate treatment (pravastatin and fenofibrate) whilst others (N=4) were on statin treatment (atorvastatin). Only two out of five treated patients were well controlled with lipids in aimed reference range.

The results of haemodynamic measurements show there was no significant difference in HR between groups. T2DM patients had lower mean CI, with borderline significance between groups (3.4 ± 0.4 *versus* 3.8 ± 0.3 L/min/m²; *P*=0.05). Mean MAP and PVR were significantly higher in T2DM than in Group A Study 2 participants (98.6 ± 9.7 *versus* 87.8 ± 8.7 mmHg; *P*=0.02 and 1133.2 ± 205.5 *versus* 958.3 ± 151.1 dynes/sec/cm⁵; *P*=0.05 respectively). All baseline cardiovascular measurements in both groups remained within normal reference range.

Patients had no other relevant comorbidities to the study.

Study 3	Study 3 – T2DM patients N=9	Study 2 – Group A N=9	٩
Age (years)	60.3±7.8 [50–73]	29.3±10.6 [19–56]	<0.001
Gender, M/F	8 M, 1 F	3M, 6 F	
Ethnicity, W/B/H	7 W, 1 B, 1 H	7 W, 1 B, 1 H	
BMI (kg/m²)	29.7±2.9 [26–34.6]	29.8±2.1 [26.6–32.7]	0.94
Waist circumference (cm)	102.7±14.2 [86–125]	89.3±11 [68–103]	0.04
Body fat mass (%)	27.4±7.9 [9.4–38]	35.7±6 [29−44.3]	0.02
Ex-smokers, n	ω	£	
Smoking (pack-years)	10.1±5.5	0.05	
Baseline biochemistry			
Hba _{1c} (mmol/mol)	58.3±14 [33–87]	34±3.1 [29–38]	<0.001
fasting glucose (mmol/L)	7.1±1.7 [4−8.8]	I	
fasting insulin (pmol/L)	61.8±34.9 [14–123]	I	
HOMA _{IR}	3.1±1.8 [0.9−5.9]	I	
T2DM duration (years)	10.1±8.1 [2–25]	I	
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	3.9±0.6 [2.8–4.6]	I	
HDL cholesterol (mmol/L)	1.2±0.3 [0.68−1.53]	I	
LDL cholesterol (mmol/L)	2.1±0.5 [1.3–2.9]	I	
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	1.3±0.6 [0.7–2.5]	•	

Table 5.1 Inter-group comparison of demographic, biochemical and baseline cardiovascular variables in T2DM patients and Group A Study 2 participants infused with 30 nmol/min [Pvr¹]apelin-13 dose 123

Study 3	Study 3 – T2DM patients N=9	Study 2 – Group A N=9	ط
Medication, n			
ACE/ARB	m	1	
ß-blocker	1	1	
Ca channel blocker	-	I	
statins	ω	~	
diabetes diet	σ	I	
metformin	7	I	
sitagliptin	F	I	
gliclazide	7	I	
dapagliflozin	F	I	
Baseline cardiovascular			
heart rate (bpm)	62.4±8.6 [50-78]	63.4±8.7 [50-77]	0.8
MAP (mm Hg)	98.6±9.7 [80.66−112]	87.8±8.7 [77–105.3]	0.02
PVR (dynes/sec/cm ⁻⁵)	1133.2±205.5 [896.3–1539.62]	958.3±151.1 [768.2–1186.7]	0.05
CI (L/min/m²)	3.4±0.4 [2.7–3.9]	3.8±0.3 [3.4–4.1]	0.05

Gender; M – Male, F – Female. Ethnicity; W – White, B – Black, A – Asian, H – Hispanic. ACE – Angiotensin – Converting Enzyme Inhibitors. ARB – Angiotensin II Receptor Blockers. BMI – Body Mass Index. HR – Heart Rate. MAP – Mean Arterial Pressure. PVR – Peripheral Vascular Resistance. CI – Cardiac Index. Hba1c – Glycated Haemoglobin. HOMA_{IR} – Homeostatic Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance. Values are represented as means±SD and [range]. Significance was determined by unpaired 2-tailed Student's t-tests. P-value <0.05 was deemed significant. 124
5.6.2 Cardiovascular effects of 2-hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion in T2DM patients

Figures 5.2–5.8 represent cardiovascular changes (SVI, CI, HR, MAP, SBP, DBP, PVR) in nine (N=9) T2DM patients following systemic two hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) measured on first two dosing visits (V2 and V3) without mixed meal.

Continuous infusion of intravenous [Pyr¹]apelin-13 increased SVI over 2 hours, with most noticeable changes within the first 25 minutes, before their gradual return to baseline (ANOVA, omnibus P=0.05; Bonferroni post-test peak P=0.002 at 10 min; Figure 5.2). Cardiac index was overall significantly increased with post-hoc significant changes noted within first 10 mins (ANOVA omnibus P<0.001; Bonferroni post-test peak P<0.001 at 10 mins; Figure 5.3).

[Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion caused overall significant decline in PVR (ANOVA omnibus significance P=0.01; Figure 5.8) with most notable changes within first 15 minutes, but not reaching significance in post-test analyses. There were no overall or Bonferroni post-test significant changes in HR (ANOVA omnibus P=0.082; Figure 5.4) and MAP measurements (ANOVA omnibus P=0.541; Figure 5.5). There were no overall significant changes in systolic and diastolic blood pressure measurement as shown in Figures 5.6 and 5.7 respectively.

In summary, saline infusion placebo had no effect on cardiovascular variables. [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion overall significantly increased CI (ANOVA, P<0.001; Figure 5.3) and SVI (ANOVA, P=0.05; Figure 5.2). Also, it caused a decline in PVR (ANOVA, P=0.01; Figure 5.8), without effect on MAP (ANOVA, P=0.541; Figure 5.5) and HR (ANOVA, P=0.082; Figure 5.4). *Posthoc* testing with Bonferroni adjustments revealed CV changes in CI and SVI were most noticeable after 10 minutes before a gradual return to baseline after 25 min as shown in Figures 5.2–5.8.

Figure 5.2 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on stroke volume index (SVI) in T2DM patients



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals during the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) causes significant rise in SVI (omnibus significance P=0.05). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

In post-hoc testing the change is most noticeable within the first 25 minutes at 10 and 25 minute timepoints (peak at 10 minutes timepoint P=0.002), before a gradual return to baseline. * denotes Bonferroni corrected P<0.003

Figure 5.3 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on cardiac index (CI) in T2DM patients



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals in the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) causes significant rise in CI (omnibus significance P<0.001). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

In *post-hoc* analyses the change is most noticeable within the first 10 minutes at 5 and 10 minute timepoints (peak at 10 mins timepoint P<0.001), before gradual return to baseline. * denotes Bonferroni corrected P<0.003

Figure 5.4 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on heart rate (HR) in T2DM patients



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals during the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) does not cause significant change in HR (omnibus significance P=0.082). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

No significance was found in post-hoc Bonferroni analyses.

Figure 5.5 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on mean arterial pressure (MAP) in T2DM patients



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals in the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) does not cause significant change in MAP (omnibus significance P=0.541). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

No significance was noted in post-hoc analyses with Bonferroni adjustments.

Figure 5.6 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on systolic blood pressure (SBP) in T2DM patients



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals in the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) does not cause significant change in SBP (omnibus significance P=0.442). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

No significance was noted in post-hoc analyses with Bonferroni adjustments.

Figure 5.7 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on diastolic blood pressure (DBP) in T2DM patients



Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals in the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) does not cause significant change in SBP (omnibus significance P=0.201). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

No significance was noted in post-hoc analyses with Bonferroni adjustments.





Measurements were taken at baseline and at 5 minute intervals during the first hour, followed by 15-minute intervals in the second hour. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) causes significant decline in PVR (omnibus significance P=0.01). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

No significance is noted in Bonferroni adjustments.

5.6.3 Metabolic effects of 2-hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion in T2DM patients

Figures 5.9–5.11 represent metabolic changes (glucose, insulin and C peptide) in nine (N=9) T2DM patients following systemic two hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) measured on dosing visits with mixed meal; V4 and V5. Log transformed values of the skewed variables (C peptide and insulin) were used for the 2-way repeated measure ANOVA analyses. Median and interquartile range [IQR] of insulin and C peptide are presented in Table 5.2 to complete data presentation.

A prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) does not cause significant overall change in blood glucose value (ANOVA, omnibus significance P=0.403; Figure 5.9), log transformed insulin (ANOVA omnibus significance P=0.07; Figure 5.10) nor log transformed C peptide value (ANOVA, omnibus significance P=0.076; Figure 5.11). There is no significance noted in *post-hoc* Bonferroni adjustments for any of the tested variables (glucose, log insulin, log C peptide).

Figure 5.9 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on glucose in T2DM patients



Measurements were taken at baseline followed by 15 minute intervals throughout the 2 hours. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) does not cause overall significant change in blood glucose (omnibus significance P=0.403). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

No significance is noted in *post-hoc* Bonferroni adjustments.

Figure 5.10 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on insulin in T2DM patients



Measurements were taken at baseline followed by 15 minute intervals throughout the 2 hours. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. Log transformed insulin values were used as variables were skewed. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2-hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) does not cause overall significant change in log insulin value (omnibus significance P=0.07). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

No significance is noted in *post-hoc* Bonferroni adjustments.

Figure 5.11 Effect of two-hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) compared with 0.9 % saline control on C peptide in T2DM patients



Measurements were taken at baseline followed by 15 minute intervals throughout the 2 hours. Significance was determined by 2-way ANOVA repeated measures, with *post hoc* testing with Bonferroni's corrections. Log transformed C peptide values were used as variables were skewed. The line chart represents MEAN±SE. The pink line represents [Pyr¹]apelin-13 and the blue line normal saline. Number of participants is N=9.

Prolonged 2 hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion (30 nmol/min) does not cause overall significant change in log C peptide value (omnibus significance P=0.076). Significantly different from saline control P≤0.05.

No significance is noted in *post-hoc* Bonferroni adjustments.

Table 5.2 Study 5 dosing visit (V4-5) metabolic parameters at [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose 30 nmol/min and normal saline

Treatment	Apelin 30 nmol/L		Normal saline	
Variable (median, [IQR]) Time/min	Insulin (pmol/L)	C peptide (pmol/L)	Insulin (pmol/L)	C peptide (pmol/L)
0	49	885	55	879
15	[25-68]	[855-994]	[35-72]	[849-1040]
	86	1060	136	1220
30	[36-123]	[826-1100]	[89-195]	[928-1340]
	178	1310	135	1480
45	[97-225]	[1100-1550]	[129-204]	[1120-1650]
	224	1670	169	1590
45	[64-370]	[1060-1970]	[138-251]	[1150-1960]
	201	1750	193	1720
60	[128-479]	[1440-2580]	[149-282]	[1290-2330]
75	[95-458]	[1460-2720]	[125-244]	[1240-2390]
90	224	2090	237	2180
	[107-438]	[1700-3020]	[119-281]	[1260-2740]
105	212	2190	159	2300
	[146-339]	[1880-3130]	[138-234]	[1480-2620]
120	233	1970	185	2330
	[137-353]	[1940-2910]	[138-278]	[1500-2570]

At dosing visit V4-V5 each participant received a 2 hour infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 at 30 nmol/min or normal saline (control). Insulin and C peptide data are not normally distributed and are presented as median and interquartile range [IQR].

5.6.4 Safety and tolerability study results

All study participants completed four dosing visits in full and remained haemodynamically stable without pathological heart rhythm changes recorded on ECG or cardiac telemetry. Blood glucose levels have not reached the hypoglycaemia threshold (Section 2.4.3.3). Adverse events (AEs) patients experienced during the Study are shown in Table 5.3 below. There was no AEs directly related to [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion. One participant one hour into the infusion experienced diarrhoea, likely caused with previous mixed meal ingestion. All AEs fully resolved.

Table 5.3 Tolerability of [Pyr1]apelin-13 infusions in participants with Type 2 diabetesmellitus

Adverse event severity	Apelin dose	Adverse event	Causality	Events N=4
Moderate	30 nmol/min	acute onset of		
		chronic	not related	1
		shoulder pain		
		diarrhoea	probably related	1
Mild	30 nmol/min	clammy skin	unlikely related	1
		common cold	not related	1

5.7 Discussion

The present "proof of concept" study has been designed to demonstrate for the first time the apelin cardiovascular and insulin sensitising effects in T2DM patients, which has not been studied before. The Study 3 results showing an increase in CI and reduction in PVR are in agreement with previously published cardiovascular research in HF patients (Barnes *et al.,* 2013) and the results from Study 2. However, unlike in Study 2, the results in T2DM patients do not show significant changes in insulin sensitivity.

5.7.1 Safety/Tolerability of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in T2DM patients

This study showed, as expected, that systemic infusion of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 at dose 30 nmol/min remained safe and well tolerated in T2DM patients as was the case in Study 2 participants.

5.7.2 Cardiovascular effects of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 at dose 30 nmol/min in T2DM patients

The main cardiovascular finding in T2DM patients on standard of care medication was that [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) resulted in a significant short-term increase in SVI, CI and a reduction in PVR without causing significant changes in MAP or HR over a 2 hours infusion time.

Following pre-clinical research proving apelin to be a potent inotrope, as discussed in Chapter 4 discussion (Section 4.7.2), once again it can be suggested that a recorded increase in CI and SVI is not only secondary to vasodilatory changes but can partially be attributed to probable positive *in-vivo* inotropic actions (Maguire *et al.*, 2009).

Despite the fact that we noted transiently increased HR in Study 2 participants within the first five minutes of the infusion, as would be typical for a vasodilating agent, that effect has not been noted in T2DM patients. Other than possible presumption of T2DM related cardiac autonomic dysfunction, affected by suboptimal diabetes control and approximate average 10 years disease duration in this participant group, the reason for this is unclear (Tarvainen *et al.,* 2014). Notably, none of the diabetic individuals has been on HR control treatment which would be expected to contribute to alternated chronotropic response.

Based on the clinical features of T2DM participants, as summarised in Table 5.1 (history of T2DM, smoking, uncontrolled or untreated dyslipidaemia and arterial hypertension), it can be speculated for them to have a degree of endothelial dysfunction, although no formal

endothelial function assessment has been done (Poredos *et* Jezovnik, 2013). However, a small but significant vasodilatation within the first 15 minutes caused by [Pyr¹]apelin-13 (30 nmol/min) has been recorded. That discovery is again in agreement with both Study 2 and previously published studies conducted in healthy volunteers and HF patients (Brame *et al.*, 2015; Japp *et al.*, 2010; Barnes *et al.*, 2013). The preservation of the vasodilatory response in T2DM patients is somewhat surprising as it is well established in experimental models and in T2DM patients that there is impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation (mediated for example by nitric oxide-NO) in this condition (De Vriese *et al.*, 2000). These Study 3 results could therefore be explained by preclinical data showing that in conditions of endothelial dysfunction where vasoconstrictor tone to, eg, ET-1, is enhanced and NO production is attenuated, apelins have the potential to contribute to beneficial vasodilatation in an NO-independent manner (Maguire *et al.*, 2009).

Although apelin decreased MAP in Study 2 participants, there was no equivalent significant decrease in T2DM patients. The reason for this is unclear, especially as we noted anticipated increases in CO and PVR reduction in this group of participants. None of the former Study 2 participant group were on concomitant medications and only three of the T2DM patients were on anti-hypertensive therapy, suggesting drug interferences would not be a factor contributing to this difference.

5.7.3 Metabolic effects of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 at dose 30 nmol/min in T2DM patients

This Study compared the postprandial metabolic effects of continuous two hour [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion and placebo in T2DM patients. Unlike in Study 2 participants, we were unable to demonstrate significant overall changes in metabolic control, as apelin administration resulted in slight, but not significant change of measured metabolic parameters; insulin and C peptide in T2DM patients.

It is reasonable to presume that not only diagnosis of T2DM, but also some phenotypic differences between Study 2 and Study 3 participants could result in a different degree of insulin resistance (IR), which could explain the differences in metabolic responses alongside the same dose of apelin infusion. Although both participants groups were comparable by BMI, T2DM patients on average had less body fat percentage and higher waist circumference (Table 5.1). In addition, there could be differences within the T2DM group itself where heterogeneity in both beta cell function and IR can significantly blunt the ability to demonstrate relevant differences between individual subjects with respect to an intervention.

Secondly, we measured metabolic parameters over two hours; it is possible the effects might have occurred over a much longer time period and been accentuated with repeat dosing. Unless effects of apelin infusion would be explored over the course of days or even weeks we would not know the definitive answer. Further studies are required to determine whether there are long term effects on insulin sensitivity following repeated rather than single dosing with the peptide.

Also, in the absence of any previous metabolic studies, power calculations were based on published data for the detection of significant changes in cardiovascular parameters. However, T2DM patients differ in disease duration, concomitant comorbidities and choice in used antidiabetic agents. In addition to significant variability in metabolic properties, they also may have significant variability in baseline cardiovascular properties. All that highlights the need for greater participant numbers than in our study, which may be required to detect significant changes for metabolic findings.

Lastly, it has been speculated that apelin resistance may occur because of high endogenous apelin levels noted in obese individuals with or without diabetes (Bertrand *et al.*, 2015). Nevertheless, Gourdy *et al.*, was able to show significant improvements in insulin sensitivity in insulin resistant overweight individuals following apelin infusion. However, until clarification of existence and role of apelin resistance in diabetes, we cannot dismiss that to be another potential reason for lack of metabolic responses in patients with diabetes.

Although there was no overall significant change in metabolic parameters in T2DM, intriguingly in post-hoc testing we observed there is a starting 15-minute delay in expected increase in glucose and C peptide, which could lead to a hypothesis that there is an element of delayed gastric emptying in the T2DM patient group. Experiments show apelin-13 inhibits gastric motility and delays gastric emptying in preclinical rat and mice model (Lv *et al*, 2011; Bulbul *et al.*, 2018). As observations raising from this Study are in agreement with aforementioned preclinical work, further human studies are needed to clarify this observation (Section 5.9 and 6.2).

Altogether, T2DM patients present a challenging group to study as they are variable in relation to treatment and duration of disease, which combined with a relatively small sample do not allow us to make a final conclusion regarding metabolic responses to apelin infusion in T2DM patients at this research stage.

5.8 Study limitation

As previously acknowledged, the number of T2DM participants was chosen to match Study 2 tested subjects with increased BMI as at the time of the study design there were not any reported human metabolic studies data. Therefore, although this study was powered and statistical power was increased by cross-over design, data analyses should be interpreted with the acknowledgement that T2DM patients present a very heterogeneous patient group and increased sample may be needed.

5.9 Study conclusion

In conclusion, our results show acute systemic [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion caused an increase in CI in T2DM patients, which together with an observation of possible delayed gastric emptying represents new data in this population.

The Study cardiovascular results show acute systemic [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion caused an increase in CI and peripheral vasodilatation without affecting HR in T2DM patients. These new data identify a potential new therapeutic role of apelin in causing a beneficial hemodynamic profile in diabetic patients. Although these cardiovascular findings were obtained in T2DM patients with healthy hearts, they can be applied in the future to guide further studies in diabetics with cardiomyopathy. Based on our data and previous apelin research under heart failure conditions (Barnes *et al.*, 2013) we hypothesise apelin in T2DM patients with or without HF could be used alone or added on existing treatments without concerns of severe hypotension or reflex tachycardia. Inotropes in failing hearts are known to cause pro-arrhythmogenic effects with an increased mortality risk (Mebazaa *et al.*, 2010; Mebazaa *et al.*, 2018; Maack *et al.*, 2019; Ahmad *et al.*, 2019). We did not note any arrhythmias following acute infusion of high apelin doses although further safety evaluation is needed for long-term apelin receptor agonism.

In addition, we observed a potential delay in gastric emptying in T2DM patients. Repeat dosing, insulin clamping experiments, intravenous apelin and glucose tolerance tests alongside measurements of incretins in larger patient cohort (Section 6.2) are required to further explore the role of apelin in T2DM and to elucidate the overall clinical effect of apelin on metabolic status.

Chapter 6:

Thesis conclusions and future directions

6.1 Thesis conclusions

In addition to having a potential role of T2DM and HF biomarker, the apelin/APLNR system has a major potential therapeutic strength. Worldwide growing obesity and insulin resistance are increasing the risk of T2DM and cardiovascular diseases, both separately and in combination. Since apelin and apelin agonists act on the metabolic and the CV system, they could be considered as an interesting future pharmacological option in T2DM patients. Apelin has been thoroughly investigated in preclinical models, but to date has not yet been clinically evaluated in T2DM patients. Results of previously reported clinical research in overweight insulin resistant men describe apelin as a potential insulin sensitiser (Gourdy *et al*, 2018) and as an agent which is inducing vasodilation in healthy volunteers and HF patients (Japp *et al.*, 2010; Barnes *et al.*, 2013).

This is the first proof of concept study that has been designed to examine *in vivo* cardiovascular and insulin sensitising effects of 2 hour systemic [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion in patients with T2DM to help improve our understanding of the potential use of apelin as a novel therapeutic agent in T2DM.

This thesis describes a series of experiments designed to establish the dose of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 that is likely to produce cardiovascular and metabolic effects in a cohort of patients with T2DM (Study 3). Studies were at first undertaken in healthy volunteers (Study 1) and in the group of increased BMI (overweight/obese) participants (Study 2) who served as a model of insulin resistance. The aim of those studies was to establish safety and tolerability, alongside determining cardiovascular and metabolic dose responses at increasing [Pyr¹]apelin-13 doses, prior to further testing in T2DM patients.

In the first (Study 1) pilot study, a cohort of healthy participants was studied in order to establish the safety and tolerability of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infused in three escalating doses (30, 90 and 135 nmol/min respectively). Safety and tolerability were assessed by recording subjective symptoms, measurements of CV vital parameters (BP and HR), ECG monitoring, cardiac telemetry and by taking glucose measurements for early detection of hypoglycaemia. To the best of my knowledge Study 1 tested the highest literature reported doses of infused [Pyr¹]apelin-13, and has not shown any safety or tolerability concerns within that dose range, which presents the main finding of this study. Unfortunately, due to not frequent enough CV measurements I have not collected the data which would have been used for more detailed analyses of CV variables changes. Therefore, the frequency of CV time points has been corrected in the later Studies 2 and 3. Based on the main study finding of good tolerability and safety in Study 1, lowest (30 nmol/min) and highest (135 nmol/min) [Pyr¹]apelin-13 doses were selected to be further used in Study 2. These Study participants were metabolically healthy,

hence metabolic measurements were made for safety monitoring rather than for the anticipated changes in insulin sensitivity.

Study 2 was an important study to undertake as it was designed for [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose selection to be further tested in Study 3 T2DM patient experiments. Study 2 was to detect metabolic and CV effects of lower (30 nmol/min) and higher (135 nmol/min) [Pyr1]apelin-13 doses in two groups of overweight/class I obese but otherwise healthy participants. In addition to CV and metabolic measurements, it provided more [Pyr¹]apelin-13 safety and tolerability data for that dose range. Despite study limitations that formal IR measurements could not have been done due to missing laboratory data, participants were clinically presumed to be insulin resistant on the basis of their phenotype with combination of increased weight, body fat and waist circumference. Following systemic infusion, [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in dose 30 nmol/min increased CI, reduced PVR and MAP were recorded. HR was noted to be transiently increased, as part of the physiological reaction to vasodilation. Those CV findings were in keeping with research data reported by Barnes et al., in prolonged [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusions (Barnes et al., 2013). After mixed meal challenge, [Pyr¹]apelin-13 significantly reduced plasma C peptide in these participants indicating reduction in IR. That discovery was in agreement with previously conducted work by the other group (Gourdy et al., 2018) however this study conducted a different type of research experiment. Metabolic findings in this study were tested alongside MMTT to mimic physiological process in the body, whilst Gourdy et al have reported their data in hyperinsulinaemic-euglycaemic experiments. [Pyr1]apelin-13 dose 135 nmol/min has not induced sustained CV nor metabolic effects, most likely due to APLNR desensitisation and therefore was not further used in the upcoming studies.

In the final Study 3, [Pyr¹]apelin-13 dose 30 nmol/min was tested in main, T2DM study cohort. This cohort consisted of insulin resistant T2DM patients, treated with per oral anti-diabetic treatment. Following systemic infusion, [Pyr¹]apelin-13 increased CI and reduced PVR due to the vasodilation effect, but other than the reasons of presumed cardiac autonomic dysfunction and an anticipated element of endothelial dysfunction, [Pyr¹]apelin-13 had no effect on HR nor MAP. After mixed meal challenge, [Pyr¹]apelin-13 did not quite reach significance (P=0.07) in changes of plasma C peptide and insulin levels. Although the study was sufficiently powered to pair the number of participants in Study 2, I acknowledge that T2DM patients in this group have been very clinically heterogeneous. Therefore, lack of reduction in C peptide may be attributed to the selected patient sample rather than to the lack of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 metabolic effects in this group. Despite the fact that C peptide reduction has not been confirmed in T2DM patients, interestingly it has been observed in the shape of the [Pyr¹]apelin-13 curve that the peptide may potentially cause a gastric emptying delay in T2DM patients. The role of apelin

peptide in gastric mobility has been previously confirmed in animal experiments, therefore, it would be interesting to investigate this hypothesis in T2DM patients.

In conclusion, the metabolic and hemodynamic effects of prolonged [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion were tested for the first time in T2DM patients. These experimental results show acute systemic [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion caused systemic vasodilation effects, with subsequent increase of SVI and CI in T2DM patients, which represents new data in this population. Although metabolic data from preclinical studies have highlighted that [Pyr¹]apelin-13 may be targeting IR in T2DM, that link based on the discoveries of this study remains unclear. Despite not proving [Pyr¹]apelin-13 insulin sensitising properties in T2DM patients, there could be an element of gastric emptying delay in that group which requires further investigations. Reassuringly, [Pyr¹]apelin-13 has not caused any concerns regarding safety and tolerability in any of the tested doses or groups of participants.

6.2 Future directions towards establishing apelin/APLNR therapeutic potential in T2DM patients

[Pyr¹]apelin-13 is safe to use and has shown a favourable hemodynamic profile in acute infusions, separately in HF (Japp *et al.*, 2010; Barnes *et al.*, 2013) and in T2DM patients. [Pyr¹]apelin-13 induced vasodilation can be of clinical use, especially as preclinical and clinical experiments showed that the effect is present even in conditions of endothelial dysfunction and impaired endothelial NO response (Maguire *et al.*, 2009, Shinzari *et al.*, 2017). These promising [Pyr¹]apelin-13 vascular effects could be beneficial in chronic HF patients with T2DM and therefore should be investigated in the cohort of T2DM patients with concomitant HF/DCM to confirm this hypothesis.

Although not proven in this study, the hypothesis of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 acting as an insulin sensitizer in T2DM cannot be dismissed. In Study 3 metabolic results although not reaching significance showed overall trend in reduction of log C peptide and log insulin values. In the context of the described challenges in T2DM clinical sample selection (Section 6.1), hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp experiments should be conducted to provide definitive answers of the [Pyr¹]apelin-13 impact on IR in T2DM patients.

In intravenous glucose tolerance test (IVGTT), body size standardised glucose bolus is injected intravenously, and glucose, insulin and C-peptide concentrations are measured (Collins *et al.*, 2021). Glucose sample is bypassing digestive system and natural incretin response stimulated by oral ingestion, and test can be used for very accurate assessment of the first phase of insulin release and insulin sensitivity. IVGTT test may be performed in order to eliminate factors related to the rate of glucose absorption. As [Pyr¹]apelin-13 is a

vasodilator, it cannot be excluded that vasodilation interferes with the orally absorbed glucose in MM and is possibly affecting results supporting IR reduction detected in Study 2. Therefore, the proposed future work of IVGTT alongside [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion compared to a placebo would more accurately assess the effect of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 on insulin sensitivity.

The effect of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 on inducing gastric emptying delay in rodents has been described (Lv *et al*, 2011; Bulbul *et al.*, 2018). This study observed that [Pyr¹]apelin-13 infusion may be delaying gastric emptying by the shape of the analyses curve. [Pyr¹]apelin-13 impact on gastric mobility should be tested by scintigraphy or alternatively stable isotope breath test to avoid radiation (Horowitz *et al.*, 2020). Measurement of incretin hormones in repeated experiments with MMT would provide additional information on glucose physiology under physiological conditions.

In this study, diabetes medications were excluded on the study visit day to avoid drug interferences. However, in the future it would be interesting to evaluate the [Pyr¹]apelin-13 effects in addition to therapeutic standard of care. Although studies described in this thesis were powered, T2DM patients present a very heterogeneous population and research investigating a greater number of participants with stricter inclusion criteria should be conducted.

Apelin can also be involved in changes in appetite and weight loss as was shown in some preclinical models. Those animal data however, are contradictory in results and the apelin effects on appetite highly depend on the apelin administration route and investigated animal species (Hu *et al.*, 2021). Due to the rapid degradation of natural apelin peptide, data describing effects of apelin on weight and appetite would be possible to collect in human subjects only alongside administration of more stable apelin analogues. Those compounds with longer half-life are under development (Castan-Laurell *et al.*, 2019). Those type of experiments may underline new therapeutic approaches in obesity treatment alongside safety and tolerability of apelin analogues under chronic use.

From a metabolic and cardiovascular point, apelin presents an intriguing therapeutic option and if proven to have antidiabetic properties combined with positive cardiovascular actions this peptide could present a novel approach in treating diabetes. Due to pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties, the development of longer acting apelin analogues without receptor desensitization should be considered if the peptide would be applied in clinical use. As apelin and APLNR are broadly distributed in the body (Section 1.3.1.1) with wide spectrum of actions, that could be taken as a disadvantage. Therefore, therapeutic modulations with organ specific distribution should be developed to avoid high systemic exposure and pleiotropic actions. Finally, ELA as a second endogenous peptide activating APLNR should not be disregarded as a future potential therapeutic option in treatment of T2DM related complications. Properties of biased signalling (Section 1.5) and longer plasma half life underline advantages in therapeutic approach. Besides ELA acting as a biomarker in DN, it is also exerting cardio- and nephro- protective properties. Hence, it should be investigated in the context of monitoring and preventing diabetes related complications. Interestingly, ELA seems to be inducing more potent vascular responses than apelin at the same dose, suggesting ELA may be more potent vasodilating agent (Murza *et al.*, 2016). However, at this research stage, it cannot be excluded that increased responses to ELA *versus* apelin are actually due to longer plasma half-life (Section 1.5). Despite that ELA plasma half-life seems to be longer than apelin, it still remains relatively short, which makes ELA unsuitable for clinical use.

So far, the role of ELA in adipose tissue and glucose homeostasis remains unclear. However, I expect that in the future that research area will be further investigated, proposing ELA to be the new focus of the apelinergic system research. Those future discoveries could be guided with extensive preclinical knowledge related to known apelin metabolic functions.

References

Ahmad, T., Miller, P. E., McCullough, M., Desai, N. R., Riello, R., Psotka, M., Böhm, M., Allen, L. A., Teerlink, J. R., Rosano, G. M. C., & Lindenfeld, J. (2019). Why has positive inotropy failed in chronic heart failure? Lessons from prior inotrope trials. European Journal of Heart Failure, 21(9), 1064–1078. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejhf.1557

Ahn, B.-H., Kim, H.-S., Song, S., Lee, I. H., Liu, J., Vassilopoulos, A., Deng, C.-X., & Finkel, T. (2008). A role for the mitochondrial deacetylase Sirt3 in regulating energy homeostasis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 105(38), 14447–14452. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0803790105

Akcılar, R., Turgut, S., Caner, V., Akcılar, A., Ayada, C., Elmas, L., & Özcan, T. O. (2015). The effects of apelin treatment on a rat model of type 2 diabetes. Advances in Medical Sciences, 60(1), 94–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.advms.2014.11.001

Alexiadou, K., Kokkinos, A., Liatis, S., Perrea, D., Katsilambros, N., & Tentolouris, N. (2012). Differences in plasma apelin and visfatin levels between patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus and healthy subjects and response after acute hyperglycemia and insulin administration. Hormones (Athens, Greece), 11(4), 444–450. https://doi.org/10.14310/horm.2002.1376

Al-Kuraishy, H. M., Al-Gareeb, A. I., Waheed, H. J., & Al-Maiahy, T. J. (2018). Differential effect of metformin and/or glyburide on apelin serum levels in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: Concepts and clinical practice. Journal of Advanced Pharmaceutical Technology & Research, 9(3), 80–86. https://doi.org/10.4103/japtr.JAPTR_273_18

An, S., Wang, X., Shi, H., Zhang, X., Meng, H., Li, W., Chen, D., & Ge, J. (2020). Apelin protects against ischemia-reperfusion injury in diabetic myocardium via inhibiting apoptosis and oxidative stress through PI3K and p38-MAPK signaling pathways. Aging, 12(24), 25120–25137. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.104106

Arica, P. C., Aydin, S., Zengin, U., Kocael, A., Orhan, A., Zengin, K., Gelisgen, R., Taskin, M., & Uzun, H. (2018). The Effects on Obesity Related Peptides of Laparoscopic Gastric Band Applications in Morbidly Obese Patients. Journal of Investigative Surgery, 31(2), 89–95. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941939.2017.1280564 Ashley, E. A., Powers, J., Chen, M., Kundu, R., Finsterbach, T., Caffarelli, A., Deng, A., Eichhorn, J., Mahajan, R., Agrawal, R., Greve, J., Robbins, R., Patterson, A. J., Bernstein, D., & Quertermous, T. (2005). The endogenous peptide apelin potently improves cardiac contractility and reduces cardiac loading in vivo. Cardiovascular Research, 65(1), 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cardiores.2004.08.018

Asmar, A., Asmar, M., Simonsen, L., Madsbad, S., Holst, J. J., Hartmann, B., Sorensen, C. M., & Bülow, J. (2017). Glucagon-like peptide-1 elicits vasodilation in adipose tissue and skeletal muscle in healthy men. Physiological Reports, 5(3), e13073. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.13073

Attané, C., Foussal, C., Le Gonidec, S., Benani, A., Daviaud, D., Wanecq, E., Guzmán-Ruiz, R., Dray, C., Bezaire, V., Rancoule, C., Kuba, K., Ruiz-Gayo, M., Levade, T., Penninger, J., Burcelin, R., Pénicaud, L., Valet, P., & Castan-Laurell, I. (2012). Apelin treatment increases complete Fatty Acid oxidation, mitochondrial oxidative capacity, and biogenesis in muscle of insulin-resistant mice. Diabetes, 61(2), 310–320. https://doi.org/10.2337/db11-0100

Azizi, M., Iturrioz, X., Blanchard, A., Peyrard, S., De Mota, N., Chartrel, N., Vaudry, H., Corvol, P., & Llorens-Cortes, C. (2008). Reciprocal regulation of plasma apelin and vasopressin by osmotic stimuli. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology: JASN, 19(5), 1015–1024. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2007070816

Balkau, B., & Eschwège, E. (1999). Insulin resistance: An independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease? Diabetes, Obesity & Metabolism, 1(Suppl 1), S23–S31. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1463-1326.1999.0010s1023.x

Barnes, G. D., Alam, S., Carter, G., Pedersen, C. M., Lee, K. M., Hubbard, T. J., Veitch, S., Jeong, H., White, A., Cruden, N. L., Huson, L., Japp, A. G., & Newby, D. E. (2013). Sustained cardiovascular actions of APJ agonism during renin-angiotensin system activation and in patients with heart failure. *Circulation. Heart failure*, *6*(3), 482–491. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.111.000077

Bellou, V., Belbasis, L., Tzoulaki, I., & Evangelou, E. (2018). Risk factors for type 2 diabetes mellitus: An exposure-wide umbrella review of meta-analyses. PloS One, 13(3), e0194127. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0194127

Beltramo, E., & Porta, M. (2013). Pericyte loss in diabetic retinopathy: Mechanisms and consequences. Current Medicinal Chemistry, 20(26), 3218–3225. https://doi.org/10.2174/09298673113209990022

150

Berry, M. F., Pirolli, T. J., Jayasankar, V., Burdick, J., Morine, K. J., Gardner, T. J., & Woo, Y. J. (2004). Apelin has in vivo inotropic effects on normal and failing hearts. Circulation, 110(11, Suppl 1), II187–II193. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000138382.57325.5c

Bertrand, C., Valet, P., & Castan-Laurell, I. (2015). Apelin and energy metabolism. Frontiers in Physiology, 6, 115. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2015.00115

Bhattamisra, S. K., Koh, H. M., Lim, S. Y., Choudhury, H., & Pandey, M. (2021). Molecular and Biochemical Pathways of Catalpol in Alleviating Diabetes Mellitus and Its Complications. Biomolecules, 11(2), 323. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom11020323

Bilir, B., Ekiz Bilir, B., Yilmaz, I., Soysal Atile, N., Yildirim, T., Kara, S. P., Gumustas, S. A., Orhan, A. E., & Aydin, M. (2016). Association of apelin, endoglin and endocan with diabetic peripheral neuropathy in type 2 diabetic patients. European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences, 20(5), 892–898., http://www.europeanreview.org/wp/wpcontent/uploads/892-898.pdf

Boal, F., Timotin, A., Roumegoux, J., Alfarano, C., Calise, D., Anesia, R., Parini, A., Valet, P., Tronchere, H., & Kunduzova, O. (2016). Apelin-13 administration protects against ischaemia/reperfusion-mediated apoptosis through the FoxO1 pathway in high-fat diet-induced obesity. British Journal of Pharmacology, 173(11), 1850–1863. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.13485

Borghetti, G., von Lewinski, D., Eaton, D. M., Sourij, H., Houser, S. R., & Wallner, M. (2018). Diabetic Cardiomyopathy: Current and Future Therapies. Beyond Glycemic Control. Frontiers in Physiology, 9, 1514. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.01514

Boucher, J., Masri, B., Daviaud, D., Gesta, S., Guigné, C., Mazzucotelli, A., Castan-Laurell, I., Tack, I., Knibiehler, B., Carpéné, C., Audigier, Y., Saulnier-Blache, J.-S., & Valet, P. (2005). Apelin, a newly identified adipokine up-regulated by insulin and obesity. Endocrinology, 146(4), 1764–1771. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2004-1427

Brame A. L. & Davenport, A. P. (2015). ALPHA Clinical Study, unpublished study, University of Cambridge

Brame, A. L. (2015). Novel Apelin Receptor Ligands in Cardiopulmonary Disease. University of Cambridge (PhD thesis)

Brame, A. L., Maguire, J. J., Yang, P., Dyson, A., Torella, R., Cheriyan, J., Singer, M., Glen, R. C., Wilkinson, I. B., & Davenport, A. P. (2015). Design, characterization, and first-in-human study of the vascular actions of a novel biased apelin receptor agonist. Hypertension, 65(4), 834–840. https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.114.05099

Bruno, G., Merletti, F., Biggeri, A., Bargero, G., Ferrero, S., Pagano, G., Cavallo Perin, P., & Casale Monferrato Study. (2003). Progression to overt nephropathy in type 2 diabetes: The Casale Monferrato Study. Diabetes Care, 26(7), 2150–2155. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.26.7.2150

Bülbül, M., Sinen, O., Gök, M., & Travagli, R. A. (2018). Apelin-13 inhibits gastric motility through vagal cholinergic pathway in rats. *American journal of physiology. Gastrointestinal and liver physiology*, *314*(2), G201–G210. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00223.2017

Castan-Laurell, I., Dray, C., & Valet, P. (2021). The therapeutic potentials of apelin in obesityassociated diseases. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology, 529, 111278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2021.111278

Castan-Laurell, I., Dray, C., Attané, C., Duparc, T., Knauf, C., & Valet, P. (2011). Apelin, diabetes, and obesity. Endocrine, 40(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-011-9507-9

Castan-Laurell, I., Dray, C., Knauf, C., Kunduzova, O., & Valet, P. (2012). Apelin, a promising target for type 2 diabetes treatment?. *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM*, *23*(5), 234–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2012.02.005

Castan-Laurell, I., El Boustany, R., Pereira, O., Potier, L., Marre, M., Fumeron, F., Valet, P., Gourdy, P., Velho, G., & Roussel, R. (2020). Plasma Apelin and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in a Cohort from the Community. Diabetes Care, 43(2), e15–e16. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc19-1865

Castan-Laurell, I., Masri, B., & Valet, P. (2019). The apelin/APJ system as a therapeutic target in metabolic diseases. Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets, 23(3), 215–225. https://doi.org/10.1080/14728222.2019.1561871

Castan-Laurell, I., Vítkova, M., Daviaud, D., Dray, C., Kováciková, M., Kovacova, Z., Hejnova, J., Stich, V., & Valet, P. (2008). Effect of hypocaloric diet-induced weight loss in obese women on plasma apelin and adipose tissue expression of apelin and APJ. European Journal of Endocrinology, 158(6), 905–910. https://doi.org/10.1530/EJE-08-0039

Cavallo, M. G., Sentinelli, F., Barchetta, I., Costantino, C., Incani, M., Perra, L., Capoccia, D., Romeo, S., Cossu, E., Leonetti, F., Agati, L., & Baroni, M. G. (2012). Altered glucose homeostasis is associated with increased serum apelin levels in type 2 diabetes mellitus. PloS One, 7(12), e51236. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051236

Chapman, F. A., Nyimanu, D., Maguire, J. J., Davenport, A. P., Newby, D. E., & Dhaun, N. (2021). The therapeutic potential of apelin in kidney disease. Nature Reviews. Nephrology, 17(12), 840–853. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41581-021-00461-z

Chapman, N. A., Dupré, D. J., & Rainey, J. K. (2014). The apelin receptor: Physiology, pathology, cell signalling, and ligand modulation of a peptide-activated class A GPCR. Biochemistry and Cell Biology, 92(6), 431–440. https://doi.org/10.1139/bcb-2014-0072

Chen, H., Li, J., Jiao, L., Petersen, R. B., Li, J., Peng, A., Zheng, L., & Huang, K. (2014). Apelin inhibits the development of diabetic nephropathy by regulating histone acetylation in Akita mouse. The Journal of Physiology, 592(3), 505–521. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2013.266411

Cheng, X., Cheng, X. S., & Pang, C. C. Y. (2003). Venous dilator effect of apelin, an endogenous peptide ligand for the orphan APJ receptor, in conscious rats. European Journal of Pharmacology, 470(3), 171–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-2999(03)01821-1

Chng, S. C., Ho, L., Tian, J., & Reversade, B. (2013). ELABELA: A hormone essential for heart development signals via the apelin receptor. Developmental Cell, 27(6), 672–680. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2013.11.002

Collins, B. H. (2021). Transplantation, Bioengineering, and Regeneration of the Endocrine Pancreas Eds: GiuseppeOrlando, LorenzoPiemonti, CamilloRicordi, Robert J.Stratta and Rainer W.G.GruessnerCambridge, MA: Academic Press, 2020; Vol. 1, 865 pages, Vol. 2, 546 pages. American Journal of Transplantation, 21(1), 426–427. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.16317

Coquerel, D., Chagnon, F., Sainsily, X., Dumont, L., Murza, A., Côté, J., Dumaine, R., Sarret, P., Marsault, É., Salvail, D., Auger-Messier, M., & Lesur, O. (2017). ELABELA Improves Cardio-Renal Outcome in Fatal Experimental Septic Shock. *Critical care medicine*, *45*(11), e1139–e1148. https://doi.org/10.1097/CCM.00000000002639

Coskun Yavuz, Y., Sevinc, C., Deniz, M. S., Yavuz, S., Altunoren, O., Sayarlioglu, H., & Dogan, E. (2015). The Role of Apelin 13 in Progression of Chronic Kidney Disease. Iranian Journal of Kidney Diseases, 9(5), 369–373.

Day, R. T., Cavaglieri, R. C., & Feliers, D. (2013). Apelin retards the progression of diabetic nephropathy. American Journal of Physiology. Renal Physiology, 304(6), F788–F800. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajprenal.00306.2012

De Mota, N., Lenkei, Z., & Llorens-Cortès, C. (2000). Cloning, pharmacological characterization and brain distribution of the rat apelin receptor. Neuroendocrinology, 72(6), 400–407. https://doi.org/10.1159/000054609

De Mota, N., Reaux-Le Goazigo, A., El Messari, S., Chartrel, N., Roesch, D., Dujardin, C., Kordon, C., Vaudry, H., Moos, F., & Llorens-Cortes, C. (2004). Apelin, a potent diuretic neuropeptide counteracting vasopressin actions through inhibition of vasopressin neuron activity and vasopressin release. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 101(28), 10464–10469. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0403518101

De Vriese, A. S., Verbeuren, T. J., Van de Voorde, J., Lameire, N. H., & Vanhoutte, P. M. (2000). Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes. British journal of pharmacology, 130(5), 963–974. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0703393

DeFronzo, R. A., Tobin, J. D., & Andres, R. (1979). Glucose clamp technique: A method for quantifying insulin secretion and resistance. The American Journal of Physiology, 237(3), E214–E223. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.1979.237.3.E214

Deng, C., Chen, H., Yang, N., Feng, Y., & Hsueh, A. J. (2015). Apela Regulates Fluid Homeostasis by Binding to the APJ Receptor to Activate Gi Signaling. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, *290*(30), 18261–18268. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M115.648238

Diabetes UK (2022). https://www.diabetes.org.uk/guide-to-diabetes/complications/ kidneys_nephropathy

Donate-Correa, J., Martín-Núñez, E., Muros-de-Fuentes, M., Mora-Fernández, C., & Navarro-González, J. F. (2015). Inflammatory cytokines in diabetic nephropathy. Journal of Diabetes Research, 2015, 948417. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/948417

Dray, C., Debard, C., Jager, J., Disse, E., Daviaud, D., Martin, P., Attané, C., Wanecq, E., Guigné, C., Bost, F., Tanti, J.-F., Laville, M., Vidal, H., Valet, P., & Castan-Laurell, I. (2010). Apelin and APJ regulation in adipose tissue and skeletal muscle of type 2 diabetic mice and humans. American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and Metabolism, 298(6), E1161–1169. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00598.2009

Dray, C., Knauf, C., Daviaud, D., Waget, A., Boucher, J., Buléon, M., Cani, P. D., Attané, C., Guigné, C., Carpéné, C., Burcelin, R., Castan-Laurell, I., & Valet, P. (2008). Apelin Stimulates Glucose Utilization in Normal and Obese Insulin-Resistant Mice. Cell Metabolism, 8(5), 437–445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2008.10.003

Du, J.-H., Li, X., Li, R., Xu, L., Ma, R.-R., Liu, S.-F., Zhang, Z., & Sun, H.-Z. (2014). Elevation of serum apelin-13 associated with proliferative diabetic retinopathy in type 2 diabetic patients. International Journal of Ophthalmology, 7(6), 968–973. https://doi.org/10.3980/j.issn.2222-3959.2014.06.10

Edinger, A. L., Hoffman, T. L., Sharron, M., Lee, B., Yi, Y., Choe, W., Kolson, D. L., Mitrovic, B., Zhou, Y., Faulds, D., Collman, R. G., Hesselgesser, J., Horuk, R., & Doms, R. W. (1998). An orphan seven-transmembrane domain receptor expressed widely in the brain functions as a coreceptor for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and simian immunodeficiency virus. Journal of Virology, 72(10), 7934–7940. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.72.10.7934-7940.1998

Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration, Sarwar, N., Gao, P., Seshasai, S. R. K., Gobin, R., Kaptoge, S., Di Angelantonio, E., Ingelsson, E., Lawlor, D. A., Selvin, E., Stampfer, M., Stehouwer, C. D. A., Lewington, S., Pennells, L., Thompson, A., Sattar, N., White, I. R., Ray, K. K., & Danesh, J. (2010). Diabetes mellitus, fasting blood glucose concentration, and risk of vascular disease: A collaborative meta-analysis of 102 prospective studies. The Lancet 375(9733), 2215–2222. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60484-9

Erdem, G., Dogru, T., Tasci, I., Sonmez, A., & Tapan, S. (2008). Low plasma apelin levels in newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus. Experimental and Clinical Endocrinology & Diabetes, 116(5), 289–292. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-1004564

Fan, Y., Zhang, Y., Li, X., Zheng, H., Song, Y., Zhang, N., Shen, C., Fan, X., Ren, F., Shen, J., Ren, G., & Yang, J. (2015). Treatment with metformin and a dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor elevates apelin levels in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Drug Design, Development and Therapy, 9, 4679–4683. https://doi.org/10.2147/DDDT.S85740

Fischer, C., Lamer, T., Wang, W., McKinnie, S. M. K., Iturrioz, X., Llorens-Cortes, C., Oudit, G. Y., & Vederas, J. C. (2019). Plasma kallikrein cleaves and inactivates apelin-17: Palmitoyland PEG-extended apelin-17 analogs as metabolically stable blood pressure-lowering agents. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, 166, 119–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.01.040 Freeman, A. M., & Pennings, N. (2022). Insulin Resistance. In StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK507839/

Gaede, P., Vedel, P., Larsen, N., Jensen, G. V. H., Parving, H.-H., & Pedersen, O. (2003). Multifactorial intervention and cardiovascular disease in patients with type 2 diabetes. The New England Journal of Medicine, 348(5), 383–393. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa021778

Ghafarian-Alipour, F., Ziaee, S., Ashoori, M. R., Zakeri, M. S., Boroumand, M. A., Aghamohammadzadeh, N., Abbasi-Majdi, M., Shool, F., Asbaghi, N. S., Mohammadi, A., & Zarghami, N. (2018). Association between FTO gene polymorphisms and type 2 diabetes mellitus, serum levels of apelin and androgen hormones among Iranian obese women. Gene, 641, 361–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2017.10.082

Goidescu, C. M., Chiorescu, R. M., Diana, M. L., Mocan, M., Stoia, M. A., Anton, F. P., & Farcaş, A. D. (2021). ACE2 and Apelin-13: Biomarkers with a Prognostic Value in Congestive Heart Failure. *Disease markers*, *2021*, 5569410. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/5569410

Gourdy, P., Cazals, L., Thalamas, C., Sommet, A., Calvas, F., Galitzky, M., Vinel, C., Dray, C., Hanaire, H., Castan-Laurell, I., & Valet, P. (2018). Apelin administration improves insulin sensitivity in overweight men during hyperinsulinaemic-euglycaemic clamp. Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism, 20(1), 157–164. https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.13055

Guo, C., Liu, Y., Zhao, W., Wei, S., Zhang, X., Wang, W., & Zeng, X. (2015). Apelin promotes diabetic nephropathy by inducing podocyte dysfunction via inhibiting proteasome activities. Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine, 19(9), 2273–2285. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.12619

Guo, L., Li, Q., Wang, W., Yu, P., Pan, H., Li, P., Sun, Y., & Zhang, J. (2009). Apelin inhibits insulin secretion in pancreatic beta-cells by activation of PI3-kinase-phosphodiesterase 3B. Endocrine Research, 34(4), 142–154. https://doi.org/10.3109/07435800903287079

Habchi, M., Duvillard, L., Cottet, V., Brindisi, M.-C., Bouillet, B., Beacco, M., Crevisy, E., Buffier, P., Baillot-Rudoni, S., Verges, B., & Petit, J.-M. (2014). Circulating apelin is increased in patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes and is associated with better glycaemic control. Clinical Endocrinology, 81(5), 696–701. https://doi.org/10.1111/cen.12404

Han, S., Englander, E. W., Gomez, G. A., Rastellini, C., Quertermous, T., Kundu, R. K., & Greeley, G. H. (2015). Pancreatic Islet APJ Deletion Reduces Islet Density and Glucose Tolerance in Mice. Endocrinology, 156(7), 2451–2460. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2014-1631

Harris, M. I., Klein, R., Welborn, T. A., & Knuiman, M. W. (1992). Onset of NIDDM occurs at least 4–7 yr before clinical diagnosis. Diabetes Care, 15(7), 815–819. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.15.7.815

Heinonen, M. V., Laaksonen, D. E., Karhu, T., Karhunen, L., Laitinen, T., Kainulainen, S., Rissanen, A., Niskanen, L., & Herzig, K. H. (2009). Effect of diet-induced weight loss on plasma apelin and cytokine levels in individuals with the metabolic syndrome. Nutrition, Metabolism, and Cardiovascular Diseases: NMCD, 19(9), 626–633. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2008.12.008

Ho, L., Tan, S. Y., Wee, S., Wu, Y., Tan, S. J., Ramakrishna, N. B., Chng, S. C., Nama, S., Szczerbinska, I., Chan, Y. S., Avery, S., Tsuneyoshi, N., Ng, H. H., Gunaratne, J., Dunn, N. R., & Reversade, B. (2015). ELABELA Is an Endogenous Growth Factor that Sustains hESC Self-Renewal via the PI3K/AKT Pathway. *Cell stem cell*, *17*(4), 435–447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2015.08.010

Horowitz, M., Rayner, C. K., Marathe, C. S., Wu, T., & Jones, K. L. (2020). Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists and the appropriate measurement of gastric emptying. Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism, 22(12), 2504–2506. https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.14166

Hosny, S. S., Nasr, M. S., Ibrahim, R. H., & YousryHelal, Z. (2019). Relation between plasma Apelin level and peripheral neuropathy in Type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome, 13(1), 626–629. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2018.11.027

Hu, G., Wang, Z., Zhang, R., Sun, W., & Chen, X. (2021). The Role of Apelin/Apelin Receptor in Energy Metabolism and Water Homeostasis: A Comprehensive Narrative Review. Frontiers in Physiology, 12, 632886. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2021.632886

Hu, H., He, L., Li, L., & Chen, L. (2016). Apelin/APJ system as a therapeutic target in diabetes and its complications. Molecular Genetics and Metabolism, 119(1–2), 20–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymgme.2016.07.012

Huang, Z., He, L., Chen, Z., & Chen, L. (2018). Targeting drugs to APJ receptor: From signaling to pathophysiological effects. Journal of Cellular Physiology, 234(1), 61–74. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.27047

Hwang, I., Lee, J., Huh, J. Y., Park, J., Lee, H. B., Ho, Y.-S., & Ha, H. (2012). Catalase deficiency accelerates diabetic renal injury through peroxisomal dysfunction. Diabetes, 61(3), 728–738. https://doi.org/10.2337/db11-0584

Japp, A. G., Cruden, N. L., Amer, D. A., Li, V. K., Goudie, E. B., Johnston, N. R., Sharma, S., Neilson, I., Webb, D. J., Megson, I. L., Flapan, A. D., & Newby, D. E. (2008). Vascular effects of apelin in vivo in man. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *52*(11), 908–913. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2008.06.013

Japp, A. G., Cruden, N. L., Barnes, G., van Gemeren, N., Mathews, J., Adamson, J., Johnston, N. R., Denvir, M. A., Megson, I. L., Flapan, A. D., & Newby, D. E. (2010). Acute cardiovascular effects of apelin in humans: Potential role in patients with chronic heart failure. Circulation, 121(16), 1818–1827. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.911339

Jia, G., Hill, M. A., & Sowers, J. R. (2018). Diabetic Cardiomyopathy: An Update of Mechanisms Contributing to This Clinical Entity. Circulation Research, 122(4), 624–638. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.311586

Kadoglou, N. P. E., Fotiadis, G., Kapelouzou, A., Kostakis, A., Liapis, C. D., & Vrabas, I. S. (2013). The differential anti-inflammatory effects of exercise modalities and their association with early carotid atherosclerosis progression in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetic Medicine, 30(2), e41-e50. https://doi.org/10.1111/dme.12055

Kadoglou, N. P. E., Tsanikidis, H., Kapelouzou, A., Vrabas, I., Vitta, I., Karayannacos, P. E., Liapis, C. D., & Sailer, N. (2010). Effects of rosiglitazone and metformin treatment on apelin, visfatin, and ghrelin levels in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental, 59(3), 373–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2009.08.005

Kadoglou, N. P. E., Vrabas, I. S., Kapelouzou, A., & Angelopoulou, N. (2012a). The association of physical activity with novel adipokines in patients with type 2 diabetes. European Journal of Internal Medicine, 23(2), 137–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejim.2011.10.020

Kadoglou, N. P. E., Vrabas, I. S., Kapelouzou, A., Lampropoulos, S., Sailer, N., Kostakis, A., Liapis, C. D., & Angelopoulou, N. (2012b). The impact of aerobic exercise training on novel adipokines, apelin and ghrelin, in patients with type 2 diabetes. Medical Science Monitor, 18(5), CR290–295. https://doi.org/10.12659/msm.882734

Kasai, A., Ishimaru, Y., Higashino, K., Kobayashi, K., Yamamuro, A., Yoshioka, Y., & Maeda, S. (2013). Inhibition of apelin expression switches endothelial cells from proliferative to mature state in pathological retinal angiogenesis. Angiogenesis, 16(3), 723–734. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10456-013-9349-6 Kasai, A., Shintani, N., Oda, M., Kakuda, M., Hashimoto, H., Matsuda, T., Hinuma, S., & Baba, A. (2004). Apelin is a novel angiogenic factor in retinal endothelial cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 325(2), 395–400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.10.042

Kawamata, Y., Habata, Y., Fukusumi, S., Hosoya, M., Fujii, R., Hinuma, S., Nishizawa, N., Kitada, C., Onda, H., Nishimura, O., & Fujino, M. (2001). Molecular properties of apelin: Tissue distribution and receptor binding. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, 1538(2–3), 162–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-4889(00)00143-9

Keren, H., Burkhoff, D., & Squara, P. (2007). Evaluation of a noninvasive continuous cardiac output monitoring system based on thoracic bioreactance. American Journal of Physiology. Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 293(1), H583–H589. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00195.2007

Kinnunen, K., & Ylä-Herttuala, S. (2012). Vascular endothelial growth factors in retinal and choroidal neovascular diseases. Annals of Medicine, 44(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3109/07853890.2010.532150

Kleinz, M. J., & Davenport, A. P. (2005). Emerging roles of apelin in biology and medicine.Pharmacology&Therapeutics,107(2),198–211.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2005.04.001

Kleinz, M. J., Skepper, J. N., & Davenport, A. P. (2005). Immunocytochemical localisation of the apelin receptor, APJ, to human cardiomyocytes, vascular smooth muscle and endothelial cells. Regulatory Peptides, 126(3), 233–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.regpep.2004.10.019

Knopp, M., Srikantha, M., & Rajabally, Y. A. (2013). Insulin neuritis and diabetic cachectic neuropathy: A review. Current Diabetes Reviews, 9(3), 267–274. https://doi.org/10.2174/1573399811309030007

Kołodziejski, P. A., Pruszyńska-Oszmałek, E., Wojciechowicz, T., Sassek, M., Leciejewska, N., Jasaszwili, M., Billert, M., Małek, E., Szczepankiewicz, D., Misiewicz-Mielnik, M., Hertig, I., Nogowski, L., Nowak, K. W., Strowski, M. Z., & Skrzypski, M. (2021). The Role of Peptide Hormones Discovered in the 21st Century in the Regulation of Adipose Tissue Functions. *Genes*, *12*(5), 756. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes12050756

Krist, J., Wieder, K., Klöting, N., Oberbach, A., Kralisch, S., Wiesner, T., Schön, M. R., Gärtner, D., Dietrich, A., Shang, E., Lohmann, T., Dreßler, M., Fasshauer, M., Stumvoll, M., & Blüher, M. (2013). Effects of weight loss and exercise on apelin serum concentrations and adipose tissue expression in human obesity. Obesity Facts, 6(1), 57–69. https://doi.org/10.1159/000348667

Lalande, S., & Romero, S. A. (2019). The shear complexity of insulin-stimulated vasodilatation. *The Journal of physiology*, *597*(1), 11. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP277324

Lambadiari, V., Triantafyllou, K., & Dimitriadis, G. D. (2015). Insulin action in muscle and adipose tissue in type 2 diabetes: The significance of blood flow. World Journal of Diabetes, 6(4), 626–633. https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v6.i4.626

Lee, D. K., Cheng, R., Nguyen, T., Fan, T., Kariyawasam, A. P., Liu, Y., Osmond, D. H., George, S. R., & O'Dowd, B. F. (2000). Characterization of Apelin, the Ligand for the APJ Receptor. Journal of Neurochemistry, 74(1), 34–41. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.2000.0740034.x

Lee, D. K., Ferguson, S. S. G., George, S. R., & O'Dowd, B. F. (2010). The fate of the internalized apelin receptor is determined by different isoforms of apelin mediating differential interaction with beta-arrestin. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 395(2), 185–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.03.151

Li, C., Miao, X., Wang, S., Liu, Y., Sun, J., Liu, Q., Cai, L., & Wang, Y. (2021). Elabela may regulate SIRT3-mediated inhibition of oxidative stress through Foxo3a deacetylation preventing diabetic-induced myocardial injury. *Journal of cellular and molecular medicine*, *25*(1), 323–332. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.16052

Li, L., Yang, G., Li, Q., Tang, Y., Yang, M., Yang, H., & Li, K. (2006). Changes and relations of circulating visfatin, apelin, and resistin levels in normal, impaired glucose tolerance, and type 2 diabetic subjects. Experimental and Clinical Endocrinology & Diabetes, 114(10), 544–548. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2006-948309

Li, L., Zeng, H., & Chen, J.-X. (2012). Apelin-13 increases myocardial progenitor cells and improves repair postmyocardial infarction. American Journal of Physiology. Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 303(5), H605-H618. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00366.2012

Li, L., Zeng, H., Hou, X., He, X., & Chen, J.-X. (2013). Myocardial injection of apelinoverexpressing bone marrow cells improves cardiac repair via upregulation of Sirt3 after myocardial infarction. PloS One, 8(9), e71041. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0071041
Lim, D.-M., Park, K.-Y., Hwang, W.-M., Kim, J.-Y., & Kim, B.-J. (2017). Difference in protective effects of GIP and GLP-1 on endothelial cells according to cyclic adenosine monophosphate response. Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine, 13(5), 2558–2564. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2017.4279

Liu, C., Su, T., Li, F., Li, L., Qin, X., Pan, W., Feng, F., Chen, F., Liao, D., & Chen, L. (2010). PI3K/Akt signaling transduction pathway is involved in rat vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation induced by apelin-13. Acta Biochimica et Biophysica Sinica, 42(6), 396–402. https://doi.org/10.1093/abbs/gmq035

Liu, Y., Zhang, J., Wang, Y., & Zeng, X. (2017). Apelin involved in progression of diabetic nephropathy by inhibiting autophagy in podocytes. Cell Death & Disease, 8(8), e3006. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2017.414

Lotfi, H., Pirmoradi, S., Mahmoudi, R., Teshnehlab, M., Sheervalilou, R., Fekri Aval, S., & Zarghami, N. (2020). Machine learning as new promising technique for selection of significant features in obese women with type 2 diabetes. Hormone Molecular Biology and Clinical Investigation, 41(1), /j/hmbci.2020.41.issue-1/hmbci-2019-0019/hmbci-2019-0019.xml. https://doi.org/10.1515/hmbci-2019-0019

Lu, Q., Feng, J., & Jiang, Y.-R. (2013). The role of apelin in the retina of diabetic rats. PloS One, 8(7), e69703. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0069703

Lv, S. Y., Yang, Y. J., Qin, Y. J., Xiong, W., & Chen, Q. (2011). Effect of centrally administered apelin-13 on gastric emptying and gastrointestinal transit in mice. *Peptides*, *32*(5), 978–982. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2011.01.023

Lv, W., Zhang, L., Cheng, X., Wang, H., Qin, W., Zhou, X., & Tang, B. (2020). Apelin Inhibits Angiotensin II-Induced Atrial Fibrosis and Atrial Fibrillation via TGF-β1/Smad2/α-SMA Pathway. Frontiers in Physiology, 11, 583570. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.583570

Ma, W.-Y., Yu, T.-Y., Wei, J.-N., Hung, C.-S., Lin, M.-S., Liao, Y.-J., Pei, D., Su, C.-C., Lu, K.-C., Liu, P.-H., Lin, C.-H., Chuang, L.-M., Kao, H.-L., Lin, J.-W., Chuang, Y.-J., & Li, H.-Y. (2014). Plasma apelin: A novel biomarker for predicting diabetes. Clinica Chimica Acta, 435, 18–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2014.03.030

Maack, C., Eschenhagen, T., Hamdani, N., Heinzel, F. R., Lyon, A. R., Manstein, D. J., Metzger, J., Papp, Z., Tocchetti, C. G., Yilmaz, M. B., Anker, S. D., Balligand, J.-L., Bauersachs, J., Brutsaert, D., Carrier, L., Chlopicki, S., Cleland, J. G., de Boer, R. A., Dietl, A., ... Mebazaa, A. (2019). Treatments targeting inotropy. European Heart Journal, 40(44), 3626–3644. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehy600

Maezawa, Y., Takemoto, M., & Yokote, K. (2015). Cell biology of diabetic nephropathy: Roles of endothelial cells, tubulointerstitial cells and podocytes. Journal of Diabetes Investigation, 6(1), 3–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdi.12255

Maguire, J. J., Kleinz, M. J., Pitkin, S. L., & Davenport, A. P. (2009). [Pyr¹]apelin-13 identified as the predominant apelin isoform in the human heart: Vasoactive mechanisms and inotropic action in disease. Hypertension, 54(3), 598–604. https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.109.134619

Masri, B., Morin, N., Pedebernade, L., Knibiehler, B., & Audigier, Y. (2006). The apelin receptor is coupled to Gi1 or Gi2 protein and is differentially desensitized by apelin fragments. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 281(27), 18317–18326. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M600606200

McKinnie, S. M. K., Fischer, C., Tran, K. M. H., Wang, W., Mosquera, F., Oudit, G. Y., & Vederas, J. C. (2016). The Metalloprotease Neprilysin Degrades and Inactivates Apelin Peptides. Chembiochem: A European Journal of Chemical Biology, 17(16), 1495–1498. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbic.201600244

McKinnie, S. M. K., Wang, W., Fischer, C., McDonald, T., Kalin, K. R., Iturrioz, X., Llorens-Cortes, C., Oudit, G. Y., & Vederas, J. C. (2017). Synthetic Modification within the "RPRL" Region of Apelin Peptides: Impact on Cardiovascular Activity and Stability to Neprilysin and Plasma Degradation. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, 60(14), 6408–6427. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.7b00723

Mebazaa, A., Motiejunaite, J., Gayat, E., Crespo-Leiro, M. G., Lund, L. H., Maggioni, A. P., Chioncel, O., Akiyama, E., Harjola, V.-P., Seferovic, P., Laroche, C., Julve, M. S., Roig, E., Ruschitzka, F., Filippatos, G., & ESC Heart Failure Long-Term Registry Investigators. (2018). Long-term safety of intravenous cardiovascular agents in acute heart failure: Results from the European Society of Cardiology Heart Failure Long-Term Registry. European Journal of Heart Failure, 20(2), 332–341. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejhf.991 Mebazaa, A., Parissis, J., Porcher, R., Gayat, E., Nikolaou, M., Boas, F. V., Delgado, J. F., & Follath, F. (2011). Short-term survival by treatment among patients hospitalized with acute heart failure: The global ALARM-HF registry using propensity scoring methods. Intensive Care Medicine, 37(2), 290–301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00134-010-2073-4

Medhurst, A. D., Jennings, C. A., Robbins, M. J., Davis, R. P., Ellis, C., Winborn, K. Y., Lawrie, K. W. M., Hervieu, G., Riley, G., Bolaky, J. E., Herrity, N. C., Murdock, P., & Darker, J. G. (2003). Pharmacological and immunohistochemical characterization of the APJ receptor and its endogenous ligand apelin. Journal of Neurochemistry, 84(5), 1162–1172. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.2003.01587.x

Middlemiss, J. E., Cocks, A., Paapstel, K., Maki-Petaja, K. M., Sunita, null, Wilkinson, I. B., McEniery, C. M., & ACCT Study Investigators. (2019). Evaluation of inert gas rebreathing for determination of cardiac output: Influence of age, gender and body size. Hypertension Research, 42(6), 834–844. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41440-018-0179-1

Müller, T., Kalea, A. Z., Marquez, A., Hsieh, I., Haque, S., Ye, M., Wysocki, J., Bader, M., & Batlle, D. (2018). Apelinergic system in the kidney: Implications for diabetic kidney disease. Physiological Reports, 6(23), e13939. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.13939

Murza, A., Belleville, K., Longpré, J.-M., Sarret, P., & Marsault, É. (2014). Stability and degradation patterns of chemically modified analogs of apelin-13 in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid. Biopolymers, 102(4), 297–303. https://doi.org/10.1002/bip.22498

Murza, A., Sainsily, X., Coquerel, D., Côté, J., Marx, P., Besserer-Offroy, É., Longpré, J. M., Lainé, J., Reversade, B., Salvail, D., Leduc, R., Dumaine, R., Lesur, O., Auger-Messier, M., Sarret, P., & Marsault, É. (2016). Discovery and Structure-Activity Relationship of a Bioactive Fragment of ELABELA that Modulates Vascular and Cardiac Functions. *Journal of medicinal chemistry*, *59*(7), 2962–2972. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.5b01549

Nagib, A. M., El-Diasty, A., El Husseny, M. A. B., El-Gamal, E. M., Abbas, M. H., Refaie, A. F., & Foudas, M. A. (2015). Apelin and New-Onset Diabetes After Transplant in Living Kidney Allograft Recipients. Experimental and Clinical Transplantation, 13(4), 319–323. https://doi.org/10.6002/ect.2014.0276

Nakagawa, T., Kosugi, T., Haneda, M., Rivard, C. J., & Long, D. A. (2009). Abnormal angiogenesis in diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes, 58(7), 1471–1478. https://doi.org/10.2337/db09-0119 Nam, J. S., Ahn, C. W., Park, H. J., & Kim, Y. S. (2020). Semaphorin 3 C is a Novel Adipokine Representing Exercise-Induced Improvements of Metabolism in Metabolically Healthy Obese Young Males. Scientific Reports, 10(1), 10005. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-67004-7

Nazari, A., & Chehelcheraghi, F. (2020). Using Apelin and exercise to protect the cardiac cells: Synergic effect in ischemia reperfusion injuries treatment in rats. Bratislavske Lekarske Listy, 121(1), 14–21. https://doi.org/10.4149/BLL_2020_003

Noori-Zadeh, A., Bakhtiyari, S., Khanjari, S., Haghani, K., & Darabi, S. (2019). Elevated blood apelin levels in type 2 diabetes mellitus: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice, 148, 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2018.12.012

Nyimanu, D., Kay, R. G., Kuc, R. E., Brown, A., Gribble, F. M., Maguire, J. J., & Davenport, A. P. (2021). In vitro metabolism of synthetic Elabela/Toddler (ELA-32) peptide in human plasma and kidney homogenates analyzed with mass spectrometry and validation of endogenous peptide quantification in tissues by ELISA. *Peptides*, *145*, 170642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2021.170642

Nyimanu, D., Kay, R. G., Sulentic, P., Kuc, R. E., Ambery, P., Jermutus, L., Reimann, F., Gribble, F. M., Cheriyan, J., Maguire, J. J., & Davenport, A. P. (2019b). Development and validation of an LC-MS/MS method for detection and quantification of in vivo derived metabolites of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 in humans. Scientific Reports, 9(1), 19934. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-56157-9

Nyimanu, D., Kuc, R. E., Williams, T. L., Bednarek, M., Ambery, P., Jermutus, L., Maguire, J. J., & Davenport, A. P. (2019a). Apelin-36-[L28A] and Apelin-36-[L28C(30kDa-PEG)] peptides that improve diet induced obesity are G protein biased ligands at the apelin receptor. Peptides, 121, 170139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2019.170139

O'Carroll, A. M., Selby, T. L., Palkovits, M., & Lolait, S. J. (2000). Distribution of mRNA encoding B78/apj, the rat homologue of the human APJ receptor, and its endogenous ligand apelin in brain and peripheral tissues. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta, 1492(1), 72–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-4781(00)00072-5

O'Carroll, A.-M., Lolait, S. J., Harris, L. E., & Pope, G. R. (2013). The apelin receptor APJ: Journey from an orphan to a multifaceted regulator of homeostasis. The Journal of Endocrinology, 219(1), R13–R35. https://doi.org/10.1530/JOE-13-0227

O'Dowd, B. F., Heiber, M., Chan, A., Heng, H. H., Tsui, L. C., Kennedy, J. L., Shi, X., Petronis, A., George, S. R., & Nguyen, T. (1993). A human gene that shows identity with the gene encoding the angiotensin receptor is located on chromosome 11. Gene, 136(1–2), 355–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1119(93)90495-0

O'Harte, F. P. M., Parthsarathy, V., Hogg, C., & Flatt, P. R. (2018a). Long-term treatment with acylated analogues of apelin-13 amide ameliorates diabetes and improves lipid profile of high-fat fed mice. PloS One, 13(8), e0202350. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0202350

O'Harte, F. P. M., Parthsarathy, V., Hogg, C., & Flatt, P. R. (2018b). Apelin-13 analogues show potent in vitro and in vivo insulinotropic and glucose lowering actions. Peptides, 100, 219–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2017.12.004

Onalan, E., Yakar, B., Barım, A. O., & Gursu, M. F. (2020). Serum apelin and resistin levels in patients with impaired fasting glucose, impaired glucose tolerance, type 2 diabetes, and metabolic syndrome. Endokrynologia Polska, 71(4), 319–324. https://doi.org/10.5603/EP.a2020.0024

Ostrowska, Z., Ziora, K., Oświęcimska, J., Świętochowska, E., Marek, B., Kajdaniuk, D., Wołkowska-Pokrywa, K., & Kos-Kudła, B. (2014). Bone metabolism, osteoprotegerin, receptor activator of nuclear factor-κB ligand and selected adipose tissue hormones in girls with anorexia nervosa. Endokrynologia Polska, 65(1), 33–39. https://doi.org/10.5603/EP.2014.0005

Parikh, V. N., Liu, J., Shang, C., Woods, C., Chang, A. C., Zhao, M., Charo, D. N., Grunwald,
Z., Huang, Y., Seo, K., Tsao, P. S., Bernstein, D., Ruiz-Lozano, P., Quertermous, T., & Ashley,
E. A. (2018). Apelin and APJ orchestrate complex tissue-specific control of cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and contractility in the hypertrophy-heart failure transition. American Journal of Physiology. Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 315(2), H348–H356. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00693.2017

Patel, T. P., Rawal, K., Bagchi, A. K., Akolkar, G., Bernardes, N., Dias, D. da S., Gupta, S., & Singal, P. K. (2016). Insulin resistance: An additional risk factor in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes. Heart Failure Reviews, 21(1), 11–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10741-015-9515-6 Pauli, A., Norris, M. L., Valen, E., Chew, G.-L., Gagnon, J. A., Zimmerman, S., Mitchell, A.,
Ma, J., Dubrulle, J., Reyon, D., Tsai, S. Q., Joung, J. K., Saghatelian, A., & Schier, A. F.
(2014). Toddler: An embryonic signal that promotes cell movement via Apelin receptors.
Science, 343(6172), 1248636. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1248636

Pchejetski, D., Foussal, C., Alfarano, C., Lairez, O., Calise, D., Guilbeau-Frugier, C., Schaak, S., Seguelas, M.-H., Wanecq, E., Valet, P., Parini, A., & Kunduzova, O. (2012). Apelin prevents cardiac fibroblast activation and collagen production through inhibition of sphingosine kinase 1. European Heart Journal, 33(18), 2360–2369. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehr389

Perjés, Á., Kilpiö, T., Ulvila, J., Magga, J., Alakoski, T., Szabó, Z., Vainio, L., Halmetoja, E., Vuolteenaho, O., Petäjä-Repo, U., Szokodi, I., & Kerkelä, R. (2016). Characterization of apela, a novel endogenous ligand of apelin receptor, in the adult heart. *Basic research in cardiology*, *111*(1), 2. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00395-015-0521-6

Pitkin, S. L., Maguire, J. J., Bonner, T. I., & Davenport, A. P. (2010). International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. LXXIV. Apelin receptor nomenclature, distribution, pharmacology, and function. Pharmacological Reviews, 62(3), 331–342. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.110.002949

Pope, G. R., Tilve, S., McArdle, C. A., Lolait, S. J., & O'Carroll, A.-M. (2016). Agonist-induced internalization and desensitization of the apelin receptor. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology, 437, 108–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2016.07.040

Poredos, P., & Jezovnik, M. K. (2013). Testing Endothelial Function and its Clinical Relevance. Journal of Atherosclerosis and Thrombosis, 20(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.5551/jat.14340

Qian, J., Lu, Q., Tao, Y., & Jiang, Y.-R. (2011). Vitreous and plasma concentrations of apelin and vascular endothelial growth factor after intravitreal bevacizumab in eyes with proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Retina, 31(1), 161–168.

Qin, D., Zheng, X., & Jiang, Y. (2013). Apelin-13 induces proliferation, migration, and collagen I mRNA expression in human RPE cells via PI3K/Akt and MEK/Erk signaling pathways. Molecular Vision, 19, 2227–2236.

Read, C., Fitzpatrick, C. M., Yang, P., Kuc, R. E., Maguire, J. J., Glen, R. C., Foster, R. E., & Davenport, A. P. (2016). Cardiac action of the first G protein biased small molecule apelin agonist. Biochemical Pharmacology, 116, 63–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2016.07.018

Read, C., Nyimanu, D., Williams, T. L., Huggins, D. J., Sulentic, P., Macrae, R. G. C., Yang, P., Glen, R. C., Maguire, J. J., & Davenport, A. P. (2019). International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. CVII. Structure and Pharmacology of the Apelin Receptor with a Recommendation that Elabela/Toddler Is a Second Endogenous Peptide Ligand. Pharmacological Reviews, 71(4), 467–502. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.119.017533

Read, C., Nyimanu, D., Yang, P., Kuc, R. E., Williams, T. L., Fitzpatrick, C. M., Foster, R., Glen, R. C., Maguire, J. J., & Davenport, A. P. (2021). The G Protein Biased Small Molecule Apelin Agonist CMF-019 is Disease Modifying in Endothelial Cell Apoptosis In Vitro and Induces Vasodilatation Without Desensitisation In Vivo. Frontiers in Pharmacology, 11, 588669. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2020.588669

Ringström, C., Nitert, M. D., Bennet, H., Fex, M., Valet, P., Rehfeld, J. F., Friis-Hansen, L., & Wierup, N. (2010). Apelin is a novel islet peptide. Regulatory Peptides, 162(1–3), 44–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.regpep.2010.03.005

Ronkainen, V.-P., Ronkainen, J. J., Hänninen, S. L., Leskinen, H., Ruas, J. L., Pereira, T., Poellinger, L., Vuolteenaho, O., & Tavi, P. (2007). Hypoxia inducible factor regulates the cardiac expression and secretion of apelin. FASEB Journal, 21(8), 1821–1830. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.06-7294com

Rosenbaum, D. M., Rasmussen, S. G. F., & Kobilka, B. K. (2009). The structure and function of G-protein-coupled receptors. Nature, 459(7245), 356–363. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08144

Sabanayagam, C., Banu, R., Chee, M. L., Lee, R., Wang, Y. X., Tan, G., Jonas, J. B., Lamoureux, E. L., Cheng, C.-Y., Klein, B. E. K., Mitchell, P., Klein, R., Cheung, C. M. G., & Wong, T. Y. (2019). Incidence and progression of diabetic retinopathy: A systematic review. The Lancet. Diabetes & Endocrinology, 7(2), 140–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(18)30128-1

Sato, T., Sato, C., Kadowaki, A., Watanabe, H., Ho, L., Ishida, J., Yamaguchi, T., Kimura, A., Fukamizu, A., Penninger, J. M., Reversade, B., Ito, H., Imai, Y., & Kuba, K. (2017). ELABELA-APJ axis protects from pressure overload heart failure and angiotensin II-induced cardiac damage. *Cardiovascular research*, *113*(7), 760–769. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvx06

Schinzari, F., Veneziani, A., Mores, N., Barini, A., Di Daniele, N., Cardillo, C., & Tesauro, M. (2017). Beneficial Effects of Apelin on Vascular Function in Patients with Central Obesity. Hypertension, 69(5), 942–949. https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.116.08916

Scimia, M. C., Hurtado, C., Ray, S., Metzler, S., Wei, K., Wang, J., Woods, C. E., Purcell, N. H., Catalucci, D., Akasaka, T., Bueno, O. F., Vlasuk, G. P., Kaliman, P., Bodmer, R., Smith, L. H., Ashley, E., Mercola, M., Brown, J. H., & Ruiz-Lozano, P. (2012). APJ acts as a dual receptor in cardiac hypertrophy. Nature, 488(7411), 394–398. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11263

Sentinelli, F., Capoccia, D., Bertoccini, L., Barchetta, I., Incani, M., Coccia, F., Manconi, E., Lenzi, A., Cossu, E., Leonetti, F., Cavallo, M. G., & Baroni, M. G. (2016). Search for Genetic Variant in the Apelin Gene by Resequencing and Association Study in European Subjects. Genetic Testing and Molecular Biomarkers, 20(2), 98–102. https://doi.org/10.1089/gtmb.2015.0260

Shin, K., Pandey, A., Liu, X.-Q., Anini, Y., & Rainey, J. K. (2013). Preferential apelin-13 production by the proprotein convertase PCSK3 is implicated in obesity. FEBS Open Bio, 3(1), 328–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fob.2013.08.001

Siddiquee, K., Hampton, J., Khan, S., Zadory, D., Gleaves, L., Vaughan, D. E., & Smith, L. H. (2011). Apelin protects against angiotensin II-induced cardiovascular fibrosis and decreases plasminogen activator inhibitor type-1 production. Journal of Hypertension, 29(4), 724–731. https://doi.org/10.1097/HJH.0b013e32834347de

Silva, A. P., Fragoso, A., Silva, C., Viegas, C., Tavares, N., Guilherme, P., Santos, N., Rato, F., Camacho, A., Cavaco, C., Pereira, V., Faísca, M., Ataíde, J., Jesus, I., & Neves, P. (2013). What is the role of apelin regarding cardiovascular risk and progression of renal disease in type 2 diabetic patients with diabetic nephropathy? BioMed Research International, 2013, 247649. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/247649

Solis-Herrera, C., Triplitt, C., Cersosimo, E., & DeFronzo, R. A. (2000). Pathogenesis of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. In K. R. Feingold, B. Anawalt, A. Boyce, G. Chrousos, W. W. de Herder, K. Dhatariya, K. Dungan, J. M. Hershman, J. Hofland, S. Kalra, G. Kaltsas, C. Koch, P. Kopp, M. Korbonits, C. S. Kovacs, W. Kuohung, B. Laferrère, M. Levy, E. A. McGee, ... D. P. Wilson (Eds.), Endotext. MDText.com, Inc. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK279115/

Sörhede Winzell, M., Magnusson, C., & Ahrén, B. (2005). The apj receptor is expressed in pancreatic islets and its ligand, apelin, inhibits insulin secretion in mice. Regulatory Peptides, 131(1–3), 12–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.regpep.2005.05.004

Soriguer, F., Garrido-Sanchez, L., Garcia-Serrano, S., Garcia-Almeida, J. M., Garcia-Arnes, J., Tinahones, F. J., & Garcia-Fuentes, E. (2009). Apelin levels are increased in morbidly obese subjects with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Obesity Surgery, 19(11), 1574–1580. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-009-9955-y

Stolar, M. (2010). Glycemic control and complications in type 2 diabetes mellitus. The American Journal of Medicine, 123(3, Suppl), S3–S11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2009.12.004

Stumvoll, M., Goldstein, B. J., & van Haeften, T. W. (2005). Type 2 diabetes: Principles of pathogenesis and therapy. The Lancet, 365(9467), 1333–1346. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)61032-X

Szokodi, I., Tavi, P., Földes, G., Voutilainen-Myllylä, S., Ilves, M., Tokola, H., Pikkarainen, S., Piuhola, J., Rysä, J., Tóth, M., & Ruskoaho, H. (2002). Apelin, the novel endogenous ligand of the orphan receptor APJ, regulates cardiac contractility. Circulation Research, 91(5), 434–440. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.res.0000033522.37861.69

Tao, Y., Lu, Q., Jiang, Y.-R., Qian, J., Wang, J.-Y., Gao, L., & Jonas, J. B. (2010). Apelin in plasma and vitreous and in fibrovascular retinal membranes of patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science, 51(8), 4237–4242. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.09-4466

Tarvainen, M. P., Laitinen, T. P., Lipponen, J. A., Cornforth, D. J., & Jelinek, H. F. (2014). Cardiac autonomic dysfunction in type 2 diabetes – effect of hyperglycemia and disease duration. *Frontiers in endocrinology*, *5*, 130. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2014.00130

Tatemoto, K., Hosoya, M., Habata, Y., Fujii, R., Kakegawa, T., Zou, M. X., Kawamata, Y., Fukusumi, S., Hinuma, S., Kitada, C., Kurokawa, T., Onda, H., & Fujino, M. (1998). Isolation and characterization of a novel endogenous peptide ligand for the human APJ receptor. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 251(2), 471–476. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1998.9489

Tatemoto, K., Takayama, K., Zou, M. X., Kumaki, I., Zhang, W., Kumano, K., & Fujimiya, M. (2001). The novel peptide apelin lowers blood pressure via a nitric oxide-dependent mechanism. Regulatory Peptides, 99(2–3), 87–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-0115(01)00236-1

Teo, Z. L., Tham, Y.-C., Yu, M., Chee, M. L., Rim, T. H., Cheung, N., Bikbov, M. M., Wang, Y. X., Tang, Y., Lu, Y., Wong, I. Y., Ting, D. S. W., Tan, G. S. W., Jonas, J. B., Sabanayagam, C., Wong, T. Y., & Cheng, C.-Y. (2021). Global Prevalence of Diabetic Retinopathy and Projection of Burden through 2045: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Ophthalmology, 128(11), 1580–1591. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ophtha.2021.04.027

Vickers, C., Hales, P., Kaushik, V., Dick, L., Gavin, J., Tang, J., Godbout, K., Parsons, T., Baronas, E., Hsieh, F., Acton, S., Patane, M., Nichols, A., & Tummino, P. (2002). Hydrolysis of biological peptides by human angiotensin-converting enzyme-related carboxypeptidase. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 277(17), 14838–14843. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M200581200

Vinel, C., Lukjanenko, L., Batut, A., Deleruyelle, S., Pradère, J.-P., Le Gonidec, S., Dortignac, A., Geoffre, N., Pereira, O., Karaz, S., Lee, U., Camus, M., Chaoui, K., Mouisel, E., Bigot, A., Mouly, V., Vigneau, M., Pagano, A. F., Chopard, A., ... Dray, C. (2018). The exerkine apelin reverses age-associated sarcopenia. Nature Medicine, 24(9), 1360–1371. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0131-6

Wang, W., McKinnie, S. M. K., Farhan, M., Paul, M., McDonald, T., McLean, B., Llorens-Cortes, C., Hazra, S., Murray, A. G., Vederas, J. C., & Oudit, G. Y. (2016). Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2 Metabolizes and Partially Inactivates Pyr-Apelin-13 and Apelin-17: Physiological Effects in the Cardiovascular System. Hypertension, 68(2), 365–377. https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.115.06892

Wang, Z., Yu, D., Wang, M., Wang, Q., Kouznetsova, J., Yang, R., Qian, K., Wu, W., Shuldiner, A., Sztalryd, C., Zou, M., Zheng, W., & Gong, D. W. (2015). Elabela-apelin receptor signaling pathway is functional in mammalian systems. *Scientific reports*, *5*, 8170. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep08170

Weyer, C., Bogardus, C., Mott, D. M., & Pratley, R. E. (1999). The natural history of insulin secretory dysfunction and insulin resistance in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 104(6), 787–794. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI7231

WHO (2022) https://www.who.int/health-topics/diabetes#tab=tab_1

Wilcox, G. (2005). Insulin and insulin resistance. The Clinical Biochemist. Reviews, 26(2), 19– 39. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1204764/pdf/cbr26_2pg019.pdf Xu, H., Wang, Q., Wang, Q., Che, X. Q., Liu, X., Zhao, S., & Wang, S. (2021). Clinical significance of apelin in the treatment of type 2 diabetic peripheral neuropathy. Medicine, 100(17), e25710. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.000000000025710

Xu, S., Han, P., Huang, M., Wu, J. C., Chang, C., Tsao, P. S., & Yue, P. (2012). In vivo, ex vivo, and in vitro studies on apelin's effect on myocardial glucose uptake. Peptides, 37(2), 320–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2012.08.004

Yang, P., Kuc, R. E., Brame, A. L., Dyson, A., Singer, M., Glen, R. C., Cheriyan, J., Wilkinson, I. B., Davenport, A. P., & Maguire, J. J. (2017a). [Pyr¹]Apelin-13₍₁₋₁₂₎ Is a Biologically Active ACE2 Metabolite of the Endogenous Cardiovascular Peptide [Pyr¹]Apelin-13. Frontiers in Neuroscience, 11, 92. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2017.00092

Yang, P., Maguire, J. J., & Davenport, A. P. (2015). Apelin, Elabela/Toddler, and biased agonists as novel therapeutic agents in the cardiovascular system. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 36(9), 560–567. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2015.06.002

Yang, P., Read, C., Kuc, R. E., Buonincontri, G., Southwood, M., Torella, R., Upton, P. D., Crosby, A., Sawiak, S. J., Carpenter, T. A., Glen, R. C., Morrell, N. W., Maguire, J. J., & Davenport, A. P. (2017b). Elabela/Toddler Is an Endogenous Agonist of the Apelin APJ Receptor in the Adult Cardiovascular System, and Exogenous Administration of the Peptide Compensates for the Downregulation of Its Expression in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. *Circulation*, *135*(12), 1160–1173. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116.023218

Yonem, A., Duran, C., Unal, M., Ipcioglu, O. M., & Ozcan, O. (2009). Plasma apelin and asymmetric dimethylarginine levels in type 2 diabetic patients with diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice, 84(3), 219–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2009.03.001

Yu, S., Zhang, Y., Li, M.-Z., Xu, H., Wang, Q., Song, J., Lin, P., Zhang, L., Liu, Q., Huang, Q.-X., Wang, K., & Hou, W.-K. (2012). Chemerin and apelin are positively correlated with inflammation in obese type 2 diabetic patients. Chinese Medical Journal, 125(19), 3440–3444.

Yue, P., Jin, H., Aillaud, M., Deng, A. C., Azuma, J., Asagami, T., Kundu, R. K., Reaven, G. M., Quertermous, T., & Tsao, P. S. (2010). Apelin is necessary for the maintenance of insulin sensitivity. American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and Metabolism, 298(1), E59–67. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00385.2009 Zhang, B., Wang, W., Wang, H., Yin, J., & Zeng, X. (2013). Promoting effects of the adipokine, apelin, on diabetic nephropathy. PloS One, 8(4), e60457. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0060457

Zhang, H., Chen, J., Shi, M., Xu, F., Zhang, X., & Gong, D. W. (2022). Comparative Study of Elabela and Apelin on Apelin Receptor Activation Through β-Arrestin Recruitment. *Molecular biotechnology*, 10.1007/s12033-022-00529-6. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12033-022-00529-6

Zhang, H., Gong, D., Ni, L., Shi, L., Xu, W., Shi, M., Chen, J., Ai, Y., & Zhang, X. (2018a). Serum Elabela/Toddler Levels Are Associated with Albuminuria in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry : linternational Journal of Experimental Cellular Physiology, Biochemistry, and Pharmacology, 48*(3), 1347–1354. https://doi.org/10.1159/000492093

Zhang, R., Hu, C., Wang, C., Ma, X., Bao, Y., Xu, J., Lu, J., Qin, W., Xiang, K., & Jia, W. (2009a). Association of apelin genetic variants with type 2 diabetes and related clinical features in Chinese Hans. Chinese Medical Journal, 122(11), 1273–1276.

Zhang, Y., Maitra, R., Harris, D. L., Dhungana, S., Snyder, R., & Runyon, S. P. (2014). Identifying structural determinants of potency for analogs of apelin-13: Integration of Cterminal truncation with structure-activity. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry, 22(11), 2992– 2997. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2014.04.001

Zhang, Y., Wang, Y., Lou, Y., Luo, M., Lu, Y., Li, Z., Wang, Y., & Miao, L. (2018b). Elabela, a newly discovered APJ ligand: Similarities and differences with Apelin. *Peptides*, *109*, 23–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2018.09.006

Zhang, Y., Wang, Y., Luo, M., Xu, F., Lu, Y., Zhou, X., Cui, W., & Miao, L. (2019). Elabela protects against podocyte injury in mice with streptozocin-induced diabetes by associating with the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway. *Peptides*, *114*, 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2019.04.005

Zhang, Z., Yu, B., & Tao, G. (2009b). Apelin protects against cardiomyocyte apoptosis induced by glucose deprivation. Chinese Medical Journal, 122(19), 2360–2365.

Zhen, E. Y., Higgs, R. E., & Gutierrez, J. A. (2013). Pyroglutamyl apelin-13 identified as the major apelin isoform in human plasma. Analytical Biochemistry, 442(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ab.2013.07.006

Zheng, Q., Tian, G., Xu, F., Ci, X., Luan, R., Wu, L., & Lu, X. (2021). The role of Elabela in kidney disease. *International urology and nephrology*, *53*(9), 1851–1857. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11255-021-02790-1

Zheng, Y., Ley, S. H., & Hu, F. B. (2018). Global aetiology and epidemiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus and its complications. Nature Reviews. Endocrinology, 14(2), 88–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2017.151

Zhong, S., Guo, H., Wang, H., Xing, D., Lu, T., Yang, J., & Wang, C. (2020). Apelin-13 alleviated cardiac fibrosis via inhibiting the PI3K/Akt pathway to attenuate oxidative stress in rats with myocardial infarction-induced heart failure. Bioscience Reports, 40(4), BSR20200040. https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20200040

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Abstracts

Identification of [Pyr¹]apelin-12 by LC-MS/MS as the main metabolite of [Pyr¹]apelin-13 *in vivo* in human plasma. British Pharmacology Society (BPS) 2019

Duuamene Nyimanu, Petra Sulentic, Rhoda Kuc, Philip Ambery, Lutz Jermutus, Richard Kay, Janet Maguire and Anthony Davenport

Appendix 2 – Meetings attended

Medicine Research Day	November 2016
Annual Clinical Academic Symposium	January 2017
EMIT training event	April 2017
Research day, University of Cambridge	July 2017
EMIT/MPhil research day	July 2017
Experimental medicine training day (BPS)	October 2017
EMIT training event	November 2017
EMIT training event	March 2018
MPhil and EMIT Research day	July 2018
Pharmacology day	July 2018
Cambridge-MedImmune PhD Programme in Biomedical Research	July 2018
EMIT training event	October 2018
EMIT training event	March/2019
EMIT training event	Jan 2020
AstraZeneca & University of Cambridge	November 2020
Building bridges in medical science	March 2021
ADIT conference	March 2021
Cambridge Medical Seminars	April 2021
BHF CRE Cambridge Annual Research Symposium	March 2021

Appendix 3 – Posters

EMIT/MPhil Research day, University of Cambridge	July 2017
Research day, University of Cambridge	November 2017
EMIT/MPhil Research day, University of Cambridge	July 2018
MPhil and EMIT Research day	July 2018
MedImmune PhD Colloquium	November 2018

Appendix 4 – Courses attended

Anti-Bribery course		2016
Health and safety	2016,	2020
Fire safety	2016,	2020
GSLS courses – Core skills Training program (Research Development program)		
Skills analysis survey		2016
Time management		2016
Presentation and performance		2016
Presentation and performance workshop		2016
Introduction to scientific writing lecture		2016
Introduction to scientific writing workshop		2017
First year report workshop		2017
How to be an effective researcher		2017
Core statistics training course		2020
Writing a scientific paper		2021
Personal development program		
Bioinformatics		2016
Statistics		2017
Project management		2017
Research data management	2017,	2021
Bioinformatics training course – Introduction to statistical analyses		2019

Medical library courses	2016, 2021
Database searching	
Systematic literature review	
Managing bibliography	
Critical appraisal – Randomised controlled drug trials	
Good clinical practice (GCP) training	2017, 2020
GCP protocol and associated documents	
GCP Safety reporting	
GCP Conducting the trial	
GCP Trial Master Files	
GCP Applications, Agreements, Approvals	
Clinical courses	
EDGE – Research database training	2018
Advanced life support (ALS)	2018
Laboratory training competency	2018
Pump training	2018
Research bloods training	2018